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1420Basil Read is active in civil engineering, road construction, building, mixed- 
use integrated housing developments, property development and surface contract 
mining. For more than 60 years, Basil Read has played its part in building the 
foundations of South Africa for all its citizens. 
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Basis of report preparation and presentation

Basil Read’s integrated report for the 12 months 

to 31 December 2014 combines our economic, 

social and environmental results for a company-

wide understanding. It also sets out the challenges 

and opportunities ahead, and follows a similar 

report for the year to 31 December 2013. 

Although this report is primarily prepared for 

providers of capital, detailing our progress against 

strategic objectives, we trust it will be useful for 

all stakeholders.

The integrated report and summarised financial 

statements should be read in conjunction with the 

supplementary information and complete annual financial 

statements on our website (www.basilread.co.za).

Integrated reporting remains a cornerstone of our 

commitment to entrench global best practices in all 

operations. Basil Read therefore reports on all managed 

operations against the principles of the International 

Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) framework, and the 

guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative (G3). We are 

preparing to report in accordance with the new G4 core 

reporting guidelines from our new financial year. This 

report also complies with the disclosure requirements 

of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the 

King report on governance for South Africa (King III) and 

the listings requirements of the JSE.

Although Basil Read is now over 60 years old, corporate 

activity in recent years makes data comparability 

challenging in certain areas. Where practical, we are 

implementing common data standards.  

Once a company-wide reporting platform is more 

mature, this report may be externally assured for 

non-financial disclosure. 

For further details about our reporting, contact:

Jenny von Ehrenberg

Investor relations officer

jvonehrenberg@basilread.co.za

Tel: +27 11 418 6466

Board responsibility
The board acknowledges its responsibility for the integrity 

of Basil Read’s integrated report. The audit committee 

reviewed the report and recommended its approval to 

the board. Although the process of integrated reporting 

is still evolving, Basil Read has integrated its sustainability 

and financial reporting. Continuous efforts are made to 

incorporate best practice and improve our level 

of reporting. 

The board reviews and finally approves the content 

of the integrated report prior to publication.

Paul Baloyi Neville Nicolau
Chairman CEO

8 May 2015
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Overview

6 426
Employees

R10 million
Training spend 

57 sites
Current projects

6   
Countries of operation

Overview

Salient features

Financial

Basil Read order book of R10,5 billion at year-end was strengthened by 
R1,3 billion in awards in the new financial year.

Social

Two fatalities recorded for the year (2013: one).

Environmental

Maintained OHSAS 18001 and ISO 14001 certifications for health and 
safety, and environment respectively.
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Financial highlights

R6,5 billion
Revenue from continuing operations  
(2013: R6,2 billion)

(51,9%)
Return on equity 
(2013: 16,8%)

362,08 cents
Headline loss per share (2013: headline 
earnings of 86,99 cents per share)

R820,9 million
Loss after tax  
(2013: profit of R281,5 million)

R10,5 billion
Order book  
(2013: R12,5 billion)

2 fatalities
Safety  
(2013: 1 fatality)
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Our structure

79 % 
contribution to turnover 21 % 

contribution to turnover
Construction Construction Mining

Roads Civils and plant
Building and 
developments

 

Pipelines
St Helena airport  
project Mining

The roads division offers clients  
exceptional capabilities and specialised 
services to ensure each project  
is a world-class achievement. 

Key operations

➜➜ Earthworks
➜➜ Bridges
➜➜ Roads and highways
➜➜ Airports
➜➜ Supply and spraying of bitumen  
and related products
➜➜ Township infrastructure.

The civils division serves a multiple and 
diverse client base in both the government 
and private sectors with the best in civil 
engineering and construction.

Key operations

➜➜ Airports
➜➜ Bridges
➜➜ Harbour and marine works
➜➜ Stadiums
➜➜ Industrial plants
➜➜ Sliding
➜➜ Plant acquisition, disposal  
and maintenance.

Basil Read is reshaping the construction 
sector in South Africa, packaging its 
expertise, innovation and quality in one 
integrated construction solution.

Key operations

➜➜ Retail and office complexes
➜➜ Residential housing
➜➜ Apartment blocks
➜➜ Educational facilities
➜➜ Hospitals
➜➜ Correctional facilities
➜➜ Property development
➜➜ Housing schemes for low and  
middle-income earners
➜➜ Public-private partnerships (PPPs).

Strong teams with decades of specialist 
skills in bulk pipeline construction and 
related activities.

Key operations

➜➜ Infrastructural pipelines
➜➜ Specialised associated activities.

Basil Read is proving that effective risk 
management is critical in providing a turnkey 
service in the engineering, procurement  
and construction environment.

Key operations

➜➜ St Helena is a prime example  
of company-wide disciplines  
on a single project.

Specialist skills and experience set  
Basil Read mining apart in a competitive 
industry. 

Key operations

➜➜ Surface contract mining
➜➜ Mine spoils rehabilitation
➜➜ Bulk earthmoving
➜➜ Thin, thick and multiple seam mining
➜➜ Hard-rock selective mining
➜➜ Materials handling
➜➜ Specialised drill and blast services
➜➜ Mine design and planning 
➜➜ Infrastructure development.

Our structure

Basil Read Holdings Limited is listed under heavy construction in the industrial sector 
of the JSE Limited (JSE). Through its core divisions of construction and mining, the 
company is active in civil engineering projects, road construction, building, mixed-use 
integrated housing developments, property development, opencast mining and related 
services. Basil Read operates primarily in South Africa and selected African markets.

Support services Support services

Business development and commercial Corporate services

➜➜ Design and construct
➜➜ International contracts
➜➜ Tendering quality
➜➜ Special projects 
➜➜ Public-private partnerships (PPPs)
➜➜ Turnkey projects.

➜➜ Finance
➜➜ Human resources 
➜➜ IT 
➜➜ Stakeholder relations
➜➜ Supply chain management.
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St Helena airport  
project Mining

The roads division offers clients  
exceptional capabilities and specialised 
services to ensure each project  
is a world-class achievement. 
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➜➜ Bridges
➜➜ Roads and highways
➜➜ Airports
➜➜ Supply and spraying of bitumen  
and related products
➜➜ Township infrastructure.

The civils division serves a multiple and 
diverse client base in both the government 
and private sectors with the best in civil 
engineering and construction.

Key operations

➜➜ Airports
➜➜ Bridges
➜➜ Harbour and marine works
➜➜ Stadiums
➜➜ Industrial plants
➜➜ Sliding
➜➜ Plant acquisition, disposal  
and maintenance.

Basil Read is reshaping the construction 
sector in South Africa, packaging its 
expertise, innovation and quality in one 
integrated construction solution.

Key operations

➜➜ Retail and office complexes
➜➜ Residential housing
➜➜ Apartment blocks
➜➜ Educational facilities
➜➜ Hospitals
➜➜ Correctional facilities
➜➜ Property development
➜➜ Housing schemes for low and  
middle-income earners
➜➜ Public-private partnerships (PPPs).

Strong teams with decades of specialist 
skills in bulk pipeline construction and 
related activities.

Key operations

➜➜ Infrastructural pipelines
➜➜ Specialised associated activities.

Basil Read is proving that effective risk 
management is critical in providing a turnkey 
service in the engineering, procurement  
and construction environment.

Key operations

➜➜ St Helena is a prime example  
of company-wide disciplines  
on a single project.

Specialist skills and experience set  
Basil Read mining apart in a competitive 
industry. 

Key operations

➜➜ Surface contract mining
➜➜ Mine spoils rehabilitation
➜➜ Bulk earthmoving
➜➜ Thin, thick and multiple seam mining
➜➜ Hard-rock selective mining
➜➜ Materials handling
➜➜ Specialised drill and blast services
➜➜ Mine design and planning 
➜➜ Infrastructure development.

Backed by over six decades of construction expertise, Basil Read has become 
synonymous with quality, service excellence and professional integrity – playing its part 
in building the foundations of South Africa for all its citizens. The consolidated structure 
shown below is aligned to the critical strategic review discussed on page 13.

Support services

Governance

➜➜ Internal audit
➜➜ Risk
➜➜ Secretarial.
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Geographical footprint

Our entrenched presence in South Africa supports our ability to replicate this business 
model in similar markets that meet our stringent criteria.

Mining
➜➜ Tschudi copper mine 
➜➜ Jwaneng Cut 8 diamond mine

Construction 
➜➜ St Helena airport project
➜➜  Olifants River water resource 
development project
➜➜ Cosmo City
➜➜ Savanna City

Flagship projects

Current  
operational areas

➜➜ South Africa
➜➜ Angola
➜➜ Botswana
➜➜ Namibia
➜➜ St Helena island
➜➜ Zambia

South Africa

Lesotho

Zambia

Zimbabwe

Swaziland

St Helena  
island

Angola

Namibia
Botswana

Mozam
biq

ue

Malawi
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Business model

Basil Read’s business is to build the roads, bridges and power stations on which our 
economy and society depend. Our impact, however, goes way beyond infrastructure. 
Throughout this report, we elaborate on the achievements, challenges and 
disappointments of our social and environmental performance for the review period 
in creating value for all our stakeholders.

➜➜ Core – project execution 
across construction, 
earthworks, drilling and 
blasting, opencast mining, 
pipeline development
➜➜ Supporting – managing 
finance and capital, business 
processes, strategic 
planning, human resources 
and SHEQ, suppliers and 
subcontractors, stakeholder 
relations.

➜➜ Services – turnkey 
approach from design 
to handover across 
construction and 
engineering fields
➜➜ Impacts – waste water, 
solid and hazardous 
materials, noise, dust, 
carbon emissions and land 
disturbance.

➜➜ Intellectual – achieving 
client objectives, managing 
subcontractors 
➜➜ Financial – honouring 
funder expectations, 
rewarding shareholders
➜➜ Human – effective 
leadership of well-trained, 
disciplined workforce
➜➜ Manufactured – managing 
raw materials, parts, 
products, plant and 
equipment
➜➜ Social – building solid 
relationships with all 
stakeholders
➜➜ Natural – managing our 
impact effectively.

➜➜ Intellectual – proprietary 
knowledge, brand, 
systems and processes
➜➜ Financial – equity funding, 
debt funding
➜➜ Human – ethical values, 
effective leadership, 
specialised skills
➜➜ Manufactured – raw 
materials, parts, products, 
plant and equipment
➜➜ Social – licence to 
operate, stakeholders’ 
expectations
➜➜ Natural – energy, water, 
raw materials.
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Governing bodies – board of directors

The Basil Read board’s role is to provide the leadership necessary to promote 
application of the principles of good corporate governance throughout the company. 
The board is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance contained 
in the Code of Governance Principles for South Africa 2009 (King III). 

3 Amanda Claire Wightman (41)
Chief financial officer 
Qualifications: BCompt, BCompt (Hons) 
(Unisa), CA(SA)
Amanda has over 20 years’ financial 
experience. She spent five years in AECI 
Limited’s treasury department, progressing 
to treasury accountant. She worked for 
Standard Bank for seven years, where she 
completed her financial management (TOPP) 
articles and gained valuable experience in its 
Africa division. Amanda joined Basil Read in 
December 2005 as group financial manager 
and has been involved in the annual audited 
financial results for the past nine years. 
She was appointed chief financial officer in 
October 2014.
Committee
➜➜ Risk.

Appointed to the board in October 2014.

4 Dr Claudia Estelle Manning (48)
Independent non-executive director
Qualifications: BA (Hons) (University of 
Natal), MPhil (University of Sussex), DPhil 
(University of Sussex)
Claudia has worked in the economic 
development field for over 20 years, 
managing and financing infrastructure 
projects, sourcing and closing investment 
transactions, and related consulting. She 
worked on the Department of Trade 
and Industry’s development corridor 
programme, which originated priority 
infrastructure investment projects in 
South Africa and SADC. Claudia chairs the 
board of the small development company, 
Mandi Zimele.
Committees
➜➜ Remuneration; social, ethics and 
transformation; nominations and 
investment; audit.

Appointed to the board in August 2012.

 
1 Paul Cambo Baloyi (59)

Independent non-executive director and 
chairman
Qualifications: MBA (University of 
Manchester), senior executive programme 
(Harvard Business School), management 
development programme (University of 
Stellenbosch)
Paul has over 25 years’ banking experience 
and previously headed the Development 
Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) and DBSA 
Development Fund. Prior to 2006, he was 
managing director of Nedbank Africa and a 
divisional director of Nedbank SA. He is a 
non-executive director on various boards and 
was appointed to the board in October 2012, 
becoming chairman in January 2015.
Committee
➜➜ Nominations and investment.

Appointed to the board in October 2012.

2 Neville Francis Nicolau (55)
Chief executive officer
Qualifications: BTech Mining Engineering 
(University of Johannesburg), MBA 
(Graduate School of Business, UCT), 
Advanced Management Programme 
(Templeton College, Oxford)
Neville brings 35 years of operating, 
company leadership and corporate 
experience, gained as CEO of Anglo 
American Platinum Limited and chief 
operating officer and executive director 
of AngloGold Ashanti Limited. Neville 
was appointed to the board as CEO in 
September 2014. 
Committee
➜➜ Risk.

Appointed to the board in September 2014.

5  Andrew Conway Gaorekwe 
Molusi (53)
Non-executive director
Qualifications: MA (Notre Dame University, 
USA), BJourn (Rhodes University)
Connie is chairman of the SIOC 
Community Development Trust and chief 
executive officer of Kabo Capital. He has 
25 years’ board experience and South 
African business knowledge, and served 
as group chief executive officer of Johnnic 
Communications Limited from 2000 to 
2006. He is a director of African Media and 
Entertainment Limited (chairman), Caxton 
and CTP Publishers and Printers Limited, 
and Continental Coal Limited. 
Committees
➜➜ Risk; remuneration; social, ethics and 
transformation.

Appointed to the board in March 2013.

52

1

3 4
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6 Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba (54)
Non-executive director
Qualifications: BCom, BCompt (Hons) 
(Unisa), CA(SA), HDip tax law (University 
of Johannesburg)
Sango is a founding member of Amabubesi 
Investments (Pty) Ltd, and serves on the 
boards of listed companies and public 
sector entities. He was a founding member 
of SizweNtsalubaGobodo and Neotel. 
Committees
➜➜ Audit; risk; nominations and investment.

Appointed to the board in July 2006.

7 Thabiso Alexander Tlelai (51)
Non-executive director
Qualification: BCom (Memorial University 
Newfoundland, Canada)
Thabiso is a founding member and director 
of Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Ltd. He 
has been chief executive officer of the Don 
Group since 2000, and has been in the 
hotel industry for over 15 years. He is also 
a founding member and chairman of the 
Tourism Business Council of South Africa. 
Committees
➜➜ Remuneration; social, ethics and 
transformation.

Appointed to the board in June 2006.

8 Doris Liana Theresia Dondur (47)
Independent non-executive director
Qualifications: BAcc, BCompt (Hons), 
certificate in theory of accounting (CTA), 
CA(SA), MBA (University of Stellenbosch 
Business School), international executive 
development programme (University of the 
Witwatersrand)
Doris has over 10 years’ experience 
as a director in the public and private 
sectors. She is a fellow of the Institute of 
Directors (South Africa), member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants (South 
Africa) and a member of the Institute 
of Internal Auditors. Her experience 
includes corporate governance, financial 
management, auditing, IT, human resources, 
people management, leadership, change 
management, labour relations and 
business coaching. Doris manages her own 
independent consulting business, and serves 
as a director on various boards.
Committees
➜➜ Audit; risk.

Appointed to the board in June 2014.

9 Terence Desmond Hughes (66)
Non-executive director
Qualifications: PEng (UK) MSPE, PrCPM, 
MSE Civil, ACIOB
Des has over 40 years’ experience in the 
construction industry, the last 18 with 
Basil Read. He started his career at 
GT Hemingway Consulting Engineers – 
Cape, subsequently held various positions 
with ZMG Consulting Engineers – London 
(UK), Murray & Stewart – Cape, and 
LTA Building – Cape before joining 
Basil Read Building – Cape in 1996. Since 
2004, Des has been managing director 
of the developments division, responsible 
for developing mixed-use, integrated new 
towns throughout South Africa. He was 
appointed interim chief executive officer 
from 1 June 2014 and as non-executive 
director in January.
Appointed to the board in January 2015.

10 Mahomed Salim Ismail Gani (62)
Independent non-executive director
Qualifications: BCompt, BCompt (Hons) 
(Unisa), CA(SA)
Mahomed has over 30 years of 
experience in the accounting and audit 
profession. He was a founding partner 
of MSGM Masuku Jeena Inc, a partner 
of Saboor Gani & Co and a partner 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers until 2013. 
He served as the chief financial officer 
of Alert Steel Holdings Limited until 
April 2014.

Committee
➜➜ Audit.

Appointed to the board in April 2015.

6

7 9

Lester Peteni retired from the board on 31 December 2014.

108
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The newly appointed executive management team has taken decisive actions to 
improve the company’s performance in a challenging construction sector.

1 Neville Francis Nicolau (55)
Chief executive officer
Qualifications: BTech Mining Engineering 
(University of Johannesburg), MBA 
(Graduate School of Business, UCT), 
Advanced Management Programme 
(Templeton College, Oxford)
Neville brings 35 years of operating, 
company leadership and corporate 
experience, gained as CEO of Anglo 
American Platinum Limited and chief 
operating officer and executive director 
of AngloGold Ashanti Limited. Neville 
was appointed to the board as CEO in 
September 2014. 

2 Amanda Claire Wightman (41)
Chief financial officer 
Qualifications: BCompt, BCompt (Hons) 
(Unisa), CA(SA)
Amanda has over 20 years’ financial 
experience. She spent five years in AECI 
Limited’s treasury department, progressing 
to treasury accountant. She worked for 
Standard Bank for seven years, where she 
completed her financial management (TOPP) 
articles and gained valuable experience in its 
Africa division. Amanda joined Basil Read in 
December 2005 as group financial manager 
and has been involved in the annual audited 
financial results for the past nine years. 
She was appointed chief financial officer in 
October 2014.

3 Olivier Jean-Paul Giot (50)
Executive officer: business development
Qualification: BCom (IFG Commercial 
School, Paris)
Olivier has over 20 years of experience in 
the construction industry, with a particular 
focus on finance, human resources and 
strategy. He started his career with the 
Bouygues construction group in France 
and was seconded to Basil Read in 
2003, where he has held various roles at 
executive management level. He became 
a permanent employee in April 2014 in his 
current role.

3

Governing bodies – executive management committee

1

2
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5 6

4 James Stephen Johnston (62)
Executive officer: construction 
Qualifications: Eng, PrEng, BSc civil eng, 
MICE, MSAICE
Originating from the Isle of Bute on the 
west coast of Scotland, Jimmy attended 
Heriot-Watt University in Edinburgh where 
he obtained a BSc in civil engineering in 
1975. Like many Scots before him, he 
decided to see the world and arrived in 
South Africa in September 1975 to start 
work as a young engineer with Basil Read. 
He worked on many construction projects 
in southern and South Africa including 
Sasol 2, the initial works at Jwaneng 
diamond mine, Mmabatho Airport and 
over the years on projects in Mozambique, 
Zambia, Malawi, Botswana, Kenya, Sierra 
Leone and throughout South Africa. He 
is an executive officer of Basil Read and is 
currently responsible for the R4,5 billion 
St Helena Airport project, as well as the 
construction division.

4

5 Khathutshelo Mapasa (39)
Executive officer: mining
Qualifications: BSc chem eng (University of 
Cape Town), programme for management 
development (Harvard), management of 
mining and mineral policy (Wits)
Khathutshelo has over 15 years of 
experience in the mining sector gained 
through various senior roles with the 
De Beers group. He has also served as a 
non-executive director on various boards 
and audit committees for companies 
providing mining-related services. He was 
appointed to Basil Read in May 2014 in his 
current role.

6 Andiswa Ndoni (49)
Executive officer: corporate affairs 
and governance
Qualifications: BProc, LLB, Global Executive 
Development Programme (Gibs) certificate 
in corporate governance
Andiswa is an attorney of the High Court of 
South Africa. She was previously company 
secretary and legal counsel for Ubank 
Limited. She sits on the Judicial Services 
Commission and Competition Tribunal. 
Andiswa has over 20 years’ experience as 
an attorney, seven as company secretary. 
She was appointed to Basil Read in January 
2013 and as company secretary in March 
2013. Her role was expanded in April 2015 
to assume responsibility for all governance-
related functions, including internal audit 
and risk management.
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Strategic context

To be the leading 
construction company in 
southern Africa, 
acknowledged as the:
➜➜ Preferred constructor
➜➜ Preferred employer
➜➜ Preferred investment.

Vision Mission

To deliver safe, profitable 
projects and services.

Values

We believe our corporate 
values determine every 
interaction, in the company 
and externally. 
We also believe that, to be 
meaningful, we need to be able to 
observe these values in action – 
given that behaviour underpins 
future results. 

The consultative process of 
crystallising Basil Read’s values 
is under way, and will be finalised 
in the new reporting period.

Worldwide, construction is a cyclical industry. Understanding that Basil Read’s sustainability depends on our ability to 
manage the company at the top and bottom of economic cycles, we critically reviewed the business in 2014 to restore 
profitability and build a stable platform for sustainable growth.

In developing an 18-month turnaround strategy (detailed by the CEO on page 26), and following intense management 
debates on the construction cycle over the next five years, we identified key drivers which, in turn, meant developing a new 
vision and mission for the company based on our core strengths and aim of building legacies.
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Strategy

After a company-wide review and thorough discussion with relevant stakeholders to determine the most material issues in our sustainability, 
we are focusing on a three-pronged strategy:

Strategic thrust Objective

Growth
➜➜ Organic
➜➜ New business
➜➜ Financial performance.

Organic growth
➜➜ Doing more with what we have to improve returns
➜➜ Business development initiatives
➜➜ Vertical integration for improved business value.

Procure business
➜➜ Market intelligence
➜➜ Identify opportunities.

Improve financial performance
➜➜ Improve contract payments 
➜➜ Settle legitimate claims speedily
➜➜ Structure balance sheet appropriately
➜➜ Align supplier-subcontractor payments to our payment receivables
➜➜ Arrest further losses on distressed projects.

Making our assets sweat ➜➜ Deliver at a cheaper rate (outperform competitors and excel at winning 
tenders profitably)
➜➜ Manage scope of work (negotiate scope changes while maintaining 
positive relationships)
➜➜ Improve operational cost management
➜➜ Manage uncertainty better (flexible and responsive to change)
➜➜ Significantly improve productivity (on-site activity improvement).

Corporate culture ➜➜ Review all businesses to determine their fit in the Basil Read strategy; develop 
clear action plans based on this analysis
➜➜ Assess policies and procedures against the requirements of the restructured 
company
➜➜ Transform corporate culture to align with strategy for a better and more 
valuable business.

Specific targets have been set for the executives responsible for each element of the strategy and we will report on our progress at the half 
and full-year stages in 2015. In the interim, we are measuring progress towards our strategic targets at company level as shown below while 
our strategic material issues are detailed on page 18:

Our strategic targets

Performance measure 2015 Future

Profit R160 million An increasing margin

Turnover R5 billion Growth at more than CPI

Order book R10 billion Improve to 2,5 times turnover

HEPS 120 cents per share Growth in proportion to profit

Return on equity 14% Growth in proportion to profit

Zero fatalities Zero Zero
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Market review

Towards the end of the year, sector results 
showed that, while industry revenue was 
up 9%, net profit was down 4% and net 
operating cash flow down a concerning 
37%. More positively, the secured order 
book had risen 16%. 

The industry had its fair share of labour 
unrest, internally and on clients projects, 
which significantly delayed some major 
construction projects, most notably 
Eskom’s Medupi power station, which was 
scheduled to have its first unit (unit 6 
generator) synchronised to the national 
grid in December 2014. 

The need for better coordination and 
monitoring within the construction industry 
has also been highlighted in recent years – 
a challenge the South African government 
has addressed by rolling out its national 
infrastructure plan, although 
implementation will require significant 
construction input.

The state of the industry is evident in the 
difference in performance between the JSE 
Construction and Materials Index and the 
JSE All Share Index, which reached record 
levels in the past year.

The 2014 calendar year started well for the sector, with strong order books and 
margins recovering for the first time in five years. However, the lack of economic 
recovery made it a tough year for most construction companies. 

The combination of poor financial 
performance in the past year and the 
absence of positive economic indicators 
has put the industry on a slight downward 
trend. However, encouraging signs include 
order book growth and public 
infrastructure commitments.

A good indicator of the industry’s 
performance would normally be 
infrastructure spend by the public sector. 
The South African government’s national 
development plan and continued 
commitment to public infrastructure 
investment of R847 billion over the 
next three years are positive signals 

for industry growth. However, this 
investment – a critical driver for recovery 
in the construction industry – has yet to 
materialise in any meaningful way, 
exacerbating already depressed 
growth outlooks.

Industry-wide risks
Risk management is a vital component of 
effective management in the industry. 
However, while risks need to be 
appropriately managed, they also need to 
be appropriately priced when tendering. 
Doing so in a depressed and competitive 
market is a challenge faced by all 
construction companies.
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Common risks identified by construction and materials companies

Challenges Actions required by industry Rating

Growth and expectations
Growth in the domestic construction industry has 
slowed in recent years due to:
➜➜ The decline in business confidence and volatile 
labour market, which have decreased foreign 
investment, especially in the construction industry
➜➜ Government’s reduced spending on infrastructure 
projects
➜➜ Expanding into new markets, which has been 
hampered by volatile commodity prices and 
exchange rates.

To address risks to growth and expansion, 
companies need to:
➜➜ Focus on effective and equitable contract 
negotiation, and contract management
➜➜ Explore growth options in new and emerging 
markets
➜➜ Align capacity with planned government spend
➜➜ Strengthening relationships with relevant 
government departments.

High

Labour force and trade unions
Loss of skills and expertise affects the ability of 
companies to successfully complete contracts and 
undermines expansion.

Growth strategies place high demands on companies 
to maintain appropriate leadership capacity.

A remuneration policy focused on performance and 
retaining key talent is essential to the sustainability of 
a business.

Regular succession reviews to identify potential 
talent retention risks, supported by career planning 
strategies.

High 

Liquidity risk
Cash constraints are a risk to companies’ abilities to 
make acquisitions and meet growth targets. Several 
factors have contributed to liquidity problems:
➜➜ Decline in margins and tough trading conditions 
➜➜ Significant initial cash investments required in 
new projects
➜➜ Project delays and disruptions caused by 
industry unrest
➜➜ Final commercial close-out of projects means 
significant cash locked up in working capital.

Essential that cash flow requirements over the life 
of a contract be considered at the tendering stage.

Close monitoring and management of outstanding 
claims and project overheads is also essential to 
mitigating liquidity risk.

High

Health, safety and environmental 
sustainability
The construction industry poses an inherent risk 
to the health and safety of employees and 
subcontractors as well as the environment.

Safety is a key priority to stakeholders due to the 
impact on lives and delivery on contracts. Safety 
incidents risk loss of productivity, skills and employee 
morale.

Health, safety and environmental issues can 
ultimately affect the reputation of companies.

Health, safety and environmental statistics have 
improved, but regular monitoring and reporting 
is required across the industry.

Medium 
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Challenges Actions required by industry Rating

Project execution
A competitive market and skill shortages place 
pressure on companies to deliver on projects.

This poses a risk to their ability to start projects 
efficiently, manage changes, manage limited resources 
and complete and hand over projects.

Implementing and monitoring project management 
procedures and policies over the lifecycle of a 
project and assigning accountability is imperative 
in mitigating the risk posed to project execution.

Medium 

Transformation
In 2007, the Department of Trade and Industry 
introduced the construction sector charter on black 
economic empowerment.

Compliance is viewed not only as socially imperative 
but also economically imperative.

Non-compliance could:
➜➜ Reduce the ability to win tenders
➜➜ Increase the likelihood of client sanctions
➜➜ Increase the possibility of penalties being imposed 
on South African projects if contractual B-BBEE 
obligations are not met.

Monitoring compliance with B-BBEE codes and 
employment equity targets is imperative in the 
South African construction industry.

Medium

Legislative and regulatory requirements
The industry is highly regulated on health and safety, 
the environment, competition, contract performance, 
taxation, labour and corporate governance.

Non-compliance could result in:
➜➜ Reputational damages 
➜➜ Imposition of penalties and fines
➜➜ Loss of licences to tender for projects.

Recent Competition Commission findings in South 
Africa have created mistrust between government 
and the sector and highlighted the negative 
reputational impact of non-compliance.

Compliance with regulatory and legislative 
requirements is imperative in preventing loss 
to a business and maintaining its reputation in 
the industry.

Low

Tender risk
The tendering process needs educated and highly 
subjective views on pricing, mark up, geological 
conditions, quality and availability of materials.

The risk is bidding and winning contracts on onerous 
terms and unacceptable commercial conditions.

Extensive risk assessment procedures need to be 
undertaken at the tendering stage of each project.

Low 

Credit risk management
Challenging conditions have resulted in corporate 
distress due to competitive pricing and margins not 
covering operating risk.

This means a higher level of credit risk exposure to 
construction companies.

Companies need to implement strict credit 
management policies and procedures to minimise 
credit risk of customers.

Low

Market review continued

Common risks identified by construction and materials companies continued
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Stakeholder relations 

Basil Read remains committed to open and honest communication with all its 
stakeholder groups, defined as those groups of people who affect and/or could be 
affected by our activities and performance. A relationship of trust and mutual 
understanding between all stakeholder groups and Basil Read is vital. 

We conducted our first perception study 
in 2014, establishing a baseline against 
which future measures can be compared. 
The primary purpose of this technique is 
to track trends and shifts in perceptions of 
Basil Read over time. It is complementary 
to any further qualitative feedback and 
contributes to a holistic perception of our 
reputation in financial markets. The survey 
targeted a representative sample of key 
analysts and investors to gauge their 

perceptions of the company on 
predetermined measures. 

Performance measures and perceptions, 
especially operational performance, 
Basil Read performance indicators and skills, 
including robust risk management within the 
company, together with risk communications, 
received the lowest average measures and 
need to be prioritised in terms of investor 
relations communications. 

Disclosure, strategies, management and 
brand perceptions were all neutral or 
positive. Basil Read’s communication was 
most favourably perceived and investors 
support our initiatives in this field.

All these concerns are being addressed in 
the 2015 stakeholder engagement plan and 
feedback from this study will be used to 
inform our strategy and more detailed 
disclosure in future reports.

Our main channels of  
interaction include:
➜➜ Face-to-face – one-on-one 
meetings, roadshows, group 
meetings, public meetings, etc
➜➜ Electronic engagement – 
website, social media, intranet, 
email and SMS
➜➜ Printed engagement – press 
releases, media briefings, 
newsletters, magazines and 
integrated reports.

Each of these groupings has 
distinct types and levels of 
involvement, often with diverse 
and sometimes conflicting 
interests and concerns.
The stakeholder groups we 
regularly interact with include:
➜➜ Clients
➜➜ Employees
➜➜ Shareholders and the broad 
investment community
➜➜ Financial institutions
➜➜ Government and local 
authorities
➜➜ Suppliers
➜➜ Partners
➜➜ Media
➜➜ Local communities and 
non-governmental organisations 
(NGOs)
➜➜ Trade unions.

Some of the top concerns  
for our stakeholder groups 
identified over the past year  
by management include  
(random order):
➜➜ Management succession 
planning
➜➜ Board composition 
(construction experience)
➜➜ Financial performance 
➜➜ Loss-making contracts
➜➜ Returns on investments
➜➜ Remuneration policies
➜➜ Health and safety of our 
employees
➜➜ Productivity of operational 
teams
➜➜ Transformation
➜➜ Governance.
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Focus area: 
desired outcome Material issue Risk Opportunity 

Progress  
in 2014

Existing risks

Regulatory Increasingly complex regulatory landscape 
– meeting new regulatory requirements and 
stakeholder expectations while supporting 
performance objectives, sustaining value and 
protecting the brand.

➜➜ Financial 
penalties
➜➜ Loss of 
required 
authorisations 
and 
accreditations
➜➜ Reputational 
damage.

Setting a 
benchmark for 
industry 
compliance.

Simplifying our 
historically complex 
operating structures 
will facilitate both 
the cost and level  
of compliance.

Following the Competition Commission 
investigations, sanctions may be imposed by 
the Construction Industry Development 
Board. 

➜➜ Penalties
➜➜ Loss of 
accreditations 
required to 
procure work.

Entrenching an 
operating culture 
that exceeds ethical 
standards for our 
industry and is at all 
times above 
reproach.

Amendments to the B-BBEE scorecard for 
the construction industry.

➜➜ Non-
compliance.

Set the standard in 
the industry.

Maintained level 2 
and assessed gaps 
against revised 
codes.

Liquidity Working capital deterioration. The inability to 
resolve claims timeously on large industrial 
projects has a direct impact on liquidity.

➜➜ Ability to 
deliver on 
projects or 
fund new 
projects.

Proactively engaging 
with clients to avoid 
claims.

Instituted revised 
(cradle-to-grave) 
approach which will 
facilitate resolving 
existing claims in the 
new financial year. 

Tendering Inadequately evaluating and pricing a tender 
enquiry and then being awarded a flawed 
contract. 

➜➜ Working 
capital
➜➜ Reputational 
damage.

Developing 
innovative solutions 
to meet complex 
and costly project 
specifications.

Revised operating 
approach to 
tendering, reflected 
in significant awards 
in the new financial 
year.

Safety and health Stability of our workforce. ➜➜ Loss of 
productivity, 
skills and 
morale.

By embedding 
world-class safety 
and health practices 
across the company, 
Basil Read becomes 
a preferred employer.

Targets for 2014:
➜➜ Disabling injury  
frequency rate 
(DIFR) – 0,00: 
actual 0,17
➜➜ Fatalities – 0: 
actual 2. 

Targets for 2015:
➜➜ DIFR – 0,10
➜➜ Fatalities – 0.

Issues, risks and opportunities

Basil Read’s risk management philosophy, framework and governance are detailed on 
page 54. The table below summarises key existing and emerging risks, and our progress 
in managing these.
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Focus area: 
desired outcome Material issue Risk Opportunity 

Progress  
in 2014

Emerging risks 

Project risk 
 

Failure to implement projects within time, 
budget and appropriate standards. 

Ineffective project management resulting in 
protracted claims resolution processes. 

➜➜ Financial 
performance
➜➜ Reputational 
damage.

Consistently meeting 
project standards 
will entrench Basil 
Read as the 
preferred partner.

Potential control 
mechanisms are 
being investigated to 
mitigate this inherent 
risk to business.

Integration Resistance to change and standardisation 
across the company on policies and procedures 
stemming from the integration initiative 
under way. 

➜➜ Loss of key 
personnel 
➜➜ Staff morale.

Streamlined 
operating cost and 
consistent standards 
across company 
operations.

Moved from group 
and subsidiaries 
structure to operating 
company with 
divisions – reducing 
cost significantly.

Securitisation Creating and issuing tradable securities, such as 
bonds, backed by income generated by an asset, 
a loan, a public works project or other revenue 
source depends on a single trading partner.

➜➜ Dearth of 
available 
finance for 
broader 
sector.

Broaden the pool of 
available sources to 
include non-
traditional sources.

Establishing 
relationships with 
non-traditional 
sources.

Major projects status

Project Project value Total contract loss Claim value Progress

TCTA R1,35 billion R365 million >R500 million Discussions ongoing with 
professional engineer and client.

Venetia R175 million R38 million R68 million Discussion with client ongoing, likely 
to proceed to contractual process.

Standerton, Platrand, 
Winburg, Petrusburg

Combined project 
value of R1,4 billion

Total combined 
project losses of 
R165 million

n/a No opportunity to recover losses.

Eskom contracts – 
Medupi and Kusile 
power stations

Buildings contracts:
➜➜ Total combined 
project losses of 
R105 million

Buildings contracts:
➜➜ R220 million

Civils contracts:
➜➜ Claims submitted – discussions 
with client ongoing, commitment 
from both parties to resolve 
amicably
➜➜ Reasonable expectation of 
recovering losses.

Buildings contracts:
➜➜ Process to agree claims has 
been tedious, but renewed 
commitment to reaching 
agreement.

Key risks for management focus include: 
➜➜ Liquidity 
➜➜ Lack of skilled labour to execute projects 
➜➜ High turnover of skilled labour
➜➜ Mismatch between double-digit margin requirement for company and single-digit margins needed to secure tenders
➜➜ Difficulty of avoiding contractual disputes with clients under fiscal pressure from supply chain management out of treasury and as such have 
no appetite to settle (regardless of entitlement) and prefer third-party decisions. This requires much management time to retain relations 
and solicit for settlements. It also means we fund many claims to a project until settlement is reached, compounding cash flow issues.
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spent on training and developing skills 
across the company

R10 million

 



After a reasonable start, the 12 months to 

31 December 2014 turned out to be another 

challenging period for the construction industry, 

characterised by fierce competition in a depressed 

market and the delayed roll out of many 

infrastructural development projects. Our market 

review on page 14 provides more detail.

In the 2015 budget presentation, the minister of 

finance noted that state-owned companies would 

invest about R360 billion over the next three years, 

accounting for 20% of South Africa’s gross capital 

formation. Singling out items relevant to our 

industry, over R80 billion was allocated to 

some 220 water and sanitation projects, and local 

roads; and R105 billion for housing and associated 

bulk infrastructure requirements. The caveat to this 

good news is that, in the minister’s own words: 

“the financial position of some state enterprises 

is unsatisfactory, undermining their ability to 

contribute toward development”.

For the industry, chief among these is the state 

power utility, Eskom, which is both supplier and 

client to many construction companies. The 

security and reliability of energy supply is one of 

the primary challenges in dealing with structural 

and industry challenges that constrain production 

and investment in our economy. Eskom is a major 

client for Basil Read, with various projects under 

way at the new Medupi and Kusile power stations. 

Much management focus has been directed at 

honouring contractual agreements under difficult 

circumstances and maintaining this relationship.

Performance in 2014
Against this background, and as detailed by the 

chief executive officer, 2014 was a watershed 

period for Basil Read. Although we started the year 

with a very healthy order book, this was countered 

by the combined impact of poor margins in a 

competitive market, poor economic growth and 

the protracted resolution of distressed projects. 

Decisive management action and a very clear 

timeframe to restructure the company and return 

it to profitability have mitigated the effect on our 

disappointing results to some extent. We are 

confident that the short and longer-term strategy 

detailed on page 13 will again enable Basil Read to 

Chairman’s statement

2014 was a watershed period for Basil Read. Decisive management action and a clear 
timeframe to restructure the company and return it to profitability have mitigated 
the impact on our results to some extent.

Black economic empowerment

Level 2 

Fatalities

Two
However, company disabling injury 
frequency rate (DIFR) improved 
significantly

Order book

R10,5 billion 

(2013: R12,5 billion)
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play an important role in advancing national 

development for the benefit of all its stakeholders. 

The wholehearted commitment shown by our 

people in turning this 60-year-old company around 

underscores the ethos that permeates Basil Read.

Key issues
Basil Read’s risk management processes have been 

considerably strengthened in recent years. In 

tandem, we have focused on understanding the 

issues that underpin our sustainability as a leading 

construction sector company. By integrating these 

factors into our strategic thinking, we have 

developed a keen understanding of the challenges 

facing our company and industry, and translated 

this into an optimal plan to address issues, capitalise 

on opportunities and mitigate risks. I highlight 

below a few examples of our proactive approach 

to dealing with material issues that are likely to 

characterise our company and industry for the 

foreseeable future:

➜➜ In addressing both the cost and security of 

energy supply, we have set measurable targets 

to reduce our consumption each year

➜➜ Safety and health is not only a material issue, it 

is pivotal to our sustainability in a skills intensive 

industry. Regrettably, we recorded two fatalities 

in 2014 – both involving employees of 

subcontractors – and we have redoubled our 

efforts to raise safety awareness. The number 

of records set during the review period and the 

safety accolades received reflect the world-class 

systems in place to keep our people safe 

and healthy

➜➜ The scarcity of key skills is not unique to our 

industry. Accordingly, we have expanded our 

training and development initiatives to include 

unemployed members of the public in a range 

of programmes that will increase the national 

skills base.

Compliance and transformation
The Department of Trade and Industry (dti) issued 

revised codes of good practice in late 2013. These 

codes came into effect on 1 May 2015 and reduce 

the seven elements in the current scorecard to five 

(conditions for the three priority elements* have 

also been revised):

➜➜ Ownership*

➜➜ Management control

➜➜ Skills development* 

➜➜ Enterprise and supplier development* 

➜➜ Socio-economic development. 

Points thresholds have been adjusted: where our 

previous score classified Basil Read as level 2, we 

would now only be level 4. Similar concerns apply 

to all construction companies. 

MOCKUP  

PICTURE
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The construction sector charter council is currently 

meeting with members to reach agreement on a 

new scorecard in line with the revised dti codes. At 

the time of writing, agreement had not yet been 

reached. In the interim, Basil Read is focused on 

addressing gaps against the new codes, particularly 

enterprise and supplier development, to maintain 

its current status.

Corporate governance
Basil Read endorses the code of governance 

principles and report on governance, referred to as 

King III. Considering the size of the company, the 

board believes it substantially complies with King III 

as well as with the listings requirements of the JSE. 

The company regularly reviews its corporate 

governance policies and practices, striving for 

continuous improvement. 

Several changes to the board of directors and 

executive management team during the year have 

strengthened both the depth and breadth of skills 

and experience in the company:

➜➜ In June, Charles Davies and Nopasika Lila retired 

from the board. Doris Dondur was appointed to 

the board and succeeds Ms Lila as chairman of 

the audit committee

➜➜ In August, Neville Nicolau was appointed chief 

executive officer and executive director of the 

board. Neville brings 35 years of operating, 

company leadership and corporate experience, 

gained as chief executive officer of Anglo 

American Platinum Limited and chief operating 

officer of AngloGold Ashanti Limited. The board is 

pleased to welcome a seasoned executive of his 

calibre to Basil Read, and looks forward to working 

together to inject new energy into our efforts to 

continually improve business performance and the 

strategic transformation of the company

➜➜ In October, Amanda Wightman was appointed 

as chief financial officer and financial director of 

the company. A chartered accountant with over 

20 years’ industry experience, Amanda has been 

with the company for almost 10 years

➜➜ In January 2015, Des Hughes was appointed a 

non-executive director of the company. Des has 

over 44 years of experience in the construction 

and property development industry, including 

18 years with our company. Most recently, as 

head of our developments division, he was 

responsible for mega projects such as 

Cosmo City and Savanna City, as well as the 

Klipriver Business Park. Des also served as 

interim chief executive officer until the 

appointment of Neville Nicolau

Chairman’s statement continued
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➜➜ In April 2015, Mahomed Gani was appointed as 

an independent non-executive director of the 

company. Mahomed has over 30 years’ 

experience in the accounting and audit 

profession, which enhances the financial skills on 

the board.

After eight years as a director and five as chairman 

of the board, Lester Peteni retired in December 

2014 and I was appointed in his place. On behalf 

of my fellow directors, I thank him for his valuable 

contributions while in office.

Outlook
The year ahead is likely to be another challenging 

period for the construction industry. With an 

acceptable order book and the benefits of 

restructuring already beginning to emerge, 

Basil Read is well placed to capitalise on any 

traction in government’s infrastructure 

development plan in South Africa.

Appreciation 
Challenging conditions in recent years have 

thoroughly tested the construction industry, and 

our company is no exception. Despite this, 

Basil Read remains home to a formidable and 

committed group of people, ably led by 

Neville Nicolau and his management teams. 

Coupled with the counsel and support of my 

fellow directors, we are building a solid platform for 

Basil Read’s renewed growth and development.

Paul Baloyi

Chairman

8 May 2015
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A challenging construction sector, difficult 

contractual environment and poor operational 

performance contributed to Basil Read reporting 

disappointing results for the 2014 financial year. 

Loss-making contracts across all construction 

disciplines, coupled with a struggling engineering 

division, have overshadowed stable performances 

by our mining and developments divisions as well 

as the mega St Helena airport project. 

Basil Read reported an after-tax loss 

of R821 million on turnover of R6,5 billion 

(2013: R281,5 million profit on turnover of 

R6,2 billion). This resulted in a headline loss of 

362 cents per share compared with headline 

earnings of 87 cents in 2013.

The new executive management team took 

decisive action in the second half to improve 

Basil Read’s performance in the next financial 

year. Basil Read was restructured and streamlined; 

accordingly we moved away from a group and 

subsidiary structure to a company with divisions 

structure. Subsidiaries are either being 

incorporated into the divisions or fixed and sold.

The move from a group and subsidiary structure 

to a company with divisions allowed us the 

opportunity to reduce the overhead cost base as 

duplications were eliminated and satellite offices 

closed, resulting in significant reductions of staff and 

costs. The company has been reorganised into an 

operational structure, with an executive team and 

operational committee that focus on strategic and 

operational issues respectively.

While the extent of corporate activity in 2014 

means year-on-year results are not comparable, as a 

management team, we believe these actions have 

placed the company on a much stronger footing 

for 2015 and beyond. Most importantly, by 

understanding our core performance drivers 

(below) and assigning executive responsibility, we are 

developing disciplined plans to reach our targets and 

ensure the sustainability of our company:

➜➜ We are focused on delivering projects under 

good contractual relations to build a solid 

reputation with clients and receive more work in 

future. In practice, this means striving to deliver 

projects within agreed timeframes and quality 

standards, and doing our best to accommodate 

changes to scope of work 

Chief executive officer’s report

Stable performances by the St Helena airport project and our mining and 
developments business units were overshadowed by the results of the construction 
division, with Basil Read reporting disappointing results for the year. The company has 
been placed on a much stronger footing for 2015 and beyond.

To view the webcast of our 
results presentation, go to 

www.youtube.com/
watch?v=h8Wu–bTyOTs

Revenue

Revenue increased by 5% to 

R6,5 billion 

(2013: R6,2 billion)

Overheads reduced by

R306 million 

Headline earnings 

Loss per share 

362 cents 

(2013: earnings of 87 cents)
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➜➜ In terms of new business, we have reviewed our 

tendering strategies and centralised these 

processes under the internationally experienced 

executive head of our business development 

division, Olivier Giot. This will ensure we 

capitalise on synergies and economies, while 

improving the competitiveness of margins on 

tendering

➜➜ Quality is an important driver of performance in 

our industry. This is driven by a relentless focus 

on maintaining standards while developing 

creative solutions to manage these within budget 

constraints. To maintain our reputation for quality 

work, we are intensifying training programmes 

to improve individual skills on site. Management 

teams are also concentrating on achieving 

their targeted 95% certification rate in the 

construction division, while the mining division 

is ahead of its targeted 85% certification rate

➜➜ Cost management: under the board approved 

18-month turnaround strategy, Basil Read 

focused on reducing overheads from 9% to 5%. 

During the review period, we consolidated our 

operations into two divisions (from four), with 

business development and finance and support 

as shared services. To align with revenue 

forecasts for 2015, we reduced our overheads 

from R586 million to R280 million by 

December 2014. Costs therefore were reduced 

from 9% to 5% as a percentage of revenue. This 

was all achieved by eliminating group and 

subsidiary structures. Given that labour costs 

currently account for 60% of our overheads, we 

reduced the number of staff using a voluntary 

separation programme as opposed to forced 

retrenchment. Under an approved voluntary 

separation plan, employee numbers were 

reduced from 583 to 250. The process of 

restructuring was completed before year-end.

As part of the restructuring process, we are 

building a single Basil Read brand. This will 

transform disparate entities acquired in recent 

years into a cohesive company with a common 

vision and identity, enabling investors to appreciate 

both the breadth and depth of Basil Read in a 

competitive market. 

Our strategy in action 
The strategic steps in our restructuring are 

proceeding to plan. While painful at times, this 

process was essential to counter unintended 

inefficiencies from years of rapid expansion, the 

downturn in our industry and muted economic 

growth prospects in the short term. 
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To restore the company’s focus on its core  

business, we critically reviewed our asset portfolio 

and identified several non-core components. In 

September 2014, the board approved the 

following disposals:

➜➜ LYT Architecture (previously part of the TWP 

group that remained with Basil Read after the 

sale of TWP to Worley Parsons). 

 • In February 2015, we sold LYT Architecture 

to its management team for R42 million. 

➜➜ BR Energy (previously part of the TWP group)

 • Non-binding indicative offers were received 

in November 2014. These offers ranged from 

R70 to R80 million, and included proof of 

funding and a completed due diligence. 

 • Exco has adjudicated these offers and has 

selected a preferred bidder with whom 

negotiations are ongoing, subject to Basil Read 

board’s final approval.

➜➜ Matomo (previously part of the TWP group)

 • After exploring several options for this 

company, the board elected to initiate an 

orderly shut down of this entity. Key 

individuals have been retained to provide 

ongoing support to completed projects. 

Other relevant corporate developments during 

the year included:

➜➜ SprayPave (acquired by Basil Read in 2006)

 • An unsolicited non-binding indicative offer 

has been received for this company which 

will be presented to the Basil Read board 

for consideration. 

➜➜ BR-Tsima Construction (incorporated by 

Basil Read in 2003 and 80% sold to current 

shareholders in 2009)

 • The Tsima management team acquired 

the remaining 20% shareholding for no 

consideration. The company recognised 

a profit on disposal of R0,7 million.

Having taken the necessary action to stabilise the 

company, we set about developing a longer-term 

strategy. This can be found on page 13.

Sustainability
For over 60 years, Basil Read has operated as a 

family business. Several years ago, we aligned those 

values with the triple bottom-line approach by 

covering our economic, social (including our 

people and communities) and environmental 

performance in our integrated report 

to stakeholders.

Chief executive officer’s report continued
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We remain committed to embedding sustainability 

into every facet of our business and the 

communities where we operate, in line with our 

international peers and best practice.

This focus is evident in our operations, our conduct 

and our strategies for growth. We take our 

obligations as a corporate citizen seriously, aiming to 

enhance the quality of life of those we employ and 

those touched by our operations. Equally, we aim to 

move beyond legislative compliance in advancing 

South Africa’s transformation, and embedding global 

standards in our corporate governance. 

Outlook 
Our strategic focus in the year ahead is resolute 

and clearly defined (page 13): grow the company 

to smooth the impact of cyclical volatility, extract 

maximum value from our assets and divest of 

non-core assets, and develop the appropriate 

corporate culture for a focused, disciplined 

construction company.

With reduced overhead costs and a streamlined 

operating structure, Basil Read has been positioned 

to return to profitability in 2015. Of key 

importance is that we complete loss-making 

contracts as efficiently and quickly as possible while 

ensuring claims are systematically pursued.

At R10,5 billion, the order book is satisfactory and 

we will focus on at least maintaining it at this level. 

Construction work of over R3 billion will be 

realised as Basil Read continues its large-scale 

integrated housing developments.

Given the need for infrastructure development and 

an approved budget in place, South Africa offers 

opportunities for growth and Basil Read will seek 

to capitalise on this, while being mindful of 

opportunities across the African continent. The 

contract to construct the airport on St Helena 

island is evidence that we have the operational 

capacity and capabilities to successfully execute 

a project of this magnitude, on time and 

within budget.

Appreciation 
This has been a very difficult year for Basil Read, 

but the worst is now behind us. We deeply 

appreciate the commitment of our people at 

all levels, and the loyal support of our clients 

and suppliers. 

I particularly want to thank Des Hughes for his 

contribution as acting CEO, and look forward to 

his contribution to board deliberations.

We are confident this broad support will be 

rewarded in the year ahead as our company 

returns to profitability for the benefit of 

all stakeholders.

Neville Nicolau

CEO

8 May 2015
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The poor operating performance reported in the 

2014 financial year was largely due to a number of 

losses recorded on underperforming contracts, 

coupled with disproportionate and inefficient 

overhead costs. Goodwill impairments and a 

write-down of development land contributed 

further to the company reporting a sizeable loss 

for the year.

Trading conditions in the sector remained tight, 

with a competitive environment suppressing 

margins. Continued focus on financial discipline, 

sound internal controls, policies and procedures 

therefore remains imperative to the sustainability 

of the company. After a critical review of our 

financial systems, a key focus in the new financial 

year will be the company-wide implementation of 

improved and robust systems to provide accurate 

information more timeously. 

Financial results
Income statement

Revenue from continuing operations increased 

moderately to R6,5 billion, largely driven by 

growth in the construction division. The operating 

loss of R906,2 million was impacted by the 

following items:

➜➜ A R320 million loss on the company’s pipeline 

contract for client, Trans-Caledon Tunnel 

Authority (TCTA), in addition to a R45 million 

loss recorded in prior years. The company has 

submitted claims of over R500 million and 

discussions on these claims continue with the 

professional engineer and client. We are 

optimistic about recovering a portion of these 

losses, which will be recorded on resolution in 

the appropriate accounting period.

➜➜ A loss of R38 million on the Venetia mine civils 

contract for client, De Beers. Claims of some 

R68 million have been submitted and the client 

has indicated these will be resolved through an 

arbitration process. There is a reasonable 

expectation of recovering a portion of the 

recorded loss, which will be accounted for in 

future financial years.

➜➜ Combined project losses of R165 million on 

several roads contracts being performed by 

Roadcrete Africa, which was fully incorporated 

into the roads division in the review period. As 

these losses were incurred through aggressive 

Financial director’s report

Poorly performing contracts and inefficient overheads negatively impacted results. 
Decisive actions have been taken to improve the company’s performance for the 
ensuing year.
 

Cash on hand

R835,7 million 

(2013: R1,2 billion)

Operating loss

R906,2 million
(2013: profit of R55,2 million)

Credit rating

BBB+ (long term)

A2 (short term)
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tendering and poor execution of the contracts, 

any opportunity for recovery is likely to 

be minimal.

➜➜ Losses of R50 million in the review period from 

buildings contracts for the Medupi and Kusile 

power stations. Losses recorded to date total 

R105 million. Claims of R220 million have been 

submitted, but the claims process has proven 

tedious. There is a renewed commitment to 

reaching agreement with Eskom.

➜➜ A bad debt provision of BWP44 million due to 

Discovery Metals entering voluntary administration 

in March 2015. Based on preliminary information 

received, there is little likelihood of recovering 

this loss.

➜➜ High overhead costs of R586 million, in part due 

to the poor operating performance of Matomo, 

which recorded a total loss of R103 million. With 

no order book in place, a decision was taken to 

shut down this division, a process that started in 

the review period and will be completed in 

2015. An inefficient overhead structure has 

contributed further to costs recorded, largely 

due to duplicated support services and 

management teams in subsidiary companies. 

With the move to an organisational structure 

comprising divisions, much of this cost has been 

eliminated in a restructuring exercise that 

resulted in the company budgeting for an 

overhead cost of R280 million in the 2015 

financial year. The cost of the restructuring 

exercise was R38 million, which compares 

favourably to savings of R306 million expected 

to be realised.

➜➜ Goodwill impairments of R222 million relating to 

the acquisitions of the Gerolemou/Mvela group, 

Blasting & Excavating group and Valente group 

in prior years. The goodwill attributable to 

Hytronix (Pty) Ltd, acquired in the 2014 financial 

year, was impaired on acquisition. 

➜➜ A further write-down of development land of 

R81 million for the Rolling Hills Leisure Estate 

in Mpumalanga, where no further sales have 

been recorded.

These items overshadowed stable performances 

by the developments and mining divisions and 

St Helena airport project, which remains a 

profitable contract for the company. 

Basil Read reported net interest costs of 

R26,2 million as cash resources were pressured by 

funding loss-making contracts. To support liquidity, 

we issued two notes under the domestic medium-

term note programme for a total of R100 million, 

which added to our incurred interest costs.

The loss from discontinued operations reflects 

the disposal of LYT Architecture, which was 

concluded on 1 February 2015. Included in the 

reported loss of R79 million is an R82 million 

impairment of goodwill.
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Earnings per share decreased sharply to a loss 

of 599,87 cents with earnings per share 

from continuing operations reported at a loss of 

540,4 cents. Headline earnings per share decreased 

to a loss of 362,08 cents, with adjustments 

predominantly comprising the impairment 

of goodwill.

The company reported a negative return on equity 

of 51,9% for shareholders. Our targeted return for 

the 2015 financial year is a minimum of 14%.

The order book below reflects our revised 

organisational structure, on which we will be 

providing segment information from the 2015 

financial year.

Order book
2014

Rm

Buildings and developments 1 667
Civils and plant 1 065
Mining 3 774
Pipelines 87
Roads 2 246
St Helena airport project 1 700

Total 10 539

Statement of financial position

Capital expenditure in the 2014 financial year was 

R339 million, most of which was acquired in the 

mining division. The depreciation charge of 

R342 million and disposals of R62 million led to 

an overall reduction in the value of plant and 

equipment to R1,1 billion. With an ageing fleet, 

the focus in the 2015 financial year will be on 

developing a robust capital replacement and 

management programme. The approved capital 

expenditure budget for 2015 is R254 million, of 

which over 80% has been allocated to the mining 

division, comprising mostly replacement capex. The 

implementation of the capital expenditure budget 

will depend on the availability of asset-backed 

finance facilities and cash resources.

Cash resources declined by R367 million to 

R836 million, largely due to the funding of 

loss-making contracts and cash paid to acquire 

plant and equipment. This was offset, in part, by an 

inflow of working capital and dividends from the 

Majwe Mining joint venture. Working capital levels 

are being affected by the slow resolution of claims 

and non-payment of debtors, with legal action 

being taken where appropriate. Maintaining 

Financial director’s report continued
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adequate liquidity is a key focus for the company, 

with several initiatives under way to support 

working capital levels. These include the disposal of 

non-core assets as detailed in the CEO’s report. 

A sizeable amount of cash remains tied up in the 

company’s property portfolio, which comprises 

land held for both residential and industrial 

purposes. Further sales of stands at Klipriver 

Business Park were recorded in the year, with 

continued interest in the development into 2015. 

A lack of sales at the Rolling Hills Leisure Estate 

resulted in a sizeable write-down in the 

review period.

Debt levels increased to R489 million after issuing 

additional notes under the domestic medium-term 

note programme, partly offset by the repayment 

of instalment sale agreements. Notes BSR12 and 

BSR13 were issued on 25 July 2014 for a total of 

R100 million. BSR12 attracts interest at three-

month JIBAR plus 2,65% and matures on 

25 January 2015. BSR13’s applicable interest rate 

is three-month JIBAR plus 2,90%, maturing on 

25 July 2016. BSR11U, with a nominal value of 

R125 million, matures on 20 June 2015 and we 

are negotiating with the current bondholder on a 

possible refinancing plan. Alternative investors are 

being sought in the event that these negotiations 

are unsuccessful and the bond needs to be repaid.

Progress against 2014 financial targets
Target 

for 2014
%

Actual 
for 2014

%

Operating margin 4 – 5 (13,9)
Return on shareholders’ interests 15 (51,9)
Total debt to tangible equity <33,3 47,4
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Due to its poor results, the company did not 

achieve its stated targets for the year. These targets 

have been revised for the 2015 financial year as 

shown below:
Target for 

2015

Revenue R5 billion
Profit after tax R160 million
Headline earnings per share 120 cents
Return on shareholders’ interests 14%
Order book R10 billion

The following assumptions have been used in 

deriving 2015 financial targets:

➜➜ All loss-making contracts have been fully 

provided for in the 2014 financial year 

➜➜ Additional work totalling R700 million expected 

to be awarded and performed in the 2015 

financial year 

➜➜ Total revenue expected of at least R5 billion 

➜➜ Minimum gross margins of 9% on average 

➜➜ Overheads of 5,4% of revenue 

➜➜ Net interest costs of R45 million 

➜➜ Taxation charge of around 28% 

➜➜ No new shares to be issued in the 2015 

financial year 

➜➜ No claims and/or delay damages have been 

included in determining profit after tax.

Credit rating
The credit rating of the company is determined 

annually by Global Credit Rating Co. At the date 

of its last report, June 2014, the following credit 

ratings were issued for Basil Read:

Financial director’s report continued

Security class Rating scale Rating
Rating 

outlook

Long term National BBB+ Stable

Short term National A2 Stable

The next review date is June 2015.
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Corporate activity
On 1 April 2014, we acquired the entire issued 

share capital of Hytronix (Pty) Ltd for cash of 

R4,2 million. The core business of Hytronix is the 

construction of mining equipment. 

On 1 November 2014, we disposed of our 

20% stake in BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd for 

no consideration. The transaction resulted in 

Basil Read recognising a profit of R0,7 million.

On 1 December 2014, we disposed of our 51% 

stake in AngloAfrican Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd 

for no consideration, recognising a loss of 

R1,8 million.

During the year, we disposed of our 23% stake 

in Metrowind (Pty) Ltd, recognising a loss on 

disposal of R10,5 million. We subsequently 

acquired a 23% stake in Rubicept (Pty) Ltd, 

owner of the Metrowind Van Stadens wind farm 

in Port Elizabeth.

Dividends
Due to the difficult trading environment and need 

to retain working capital, the board of directors has 

resolved not to declare a dividend.

In closing
The 2014 financial year was a difficult period 

for the company, characterised by loss-making 

contracts and high overhead costs. To address 

this, we restructured operations and rightsized 

overheads. With the order book largely secure 

for the 2015 financial year, and results of the 

restructuring emerging, Basil Read is targeting 

a return to profitability in the coming year. The 

dedication and commitment of all employees to 

achieving these targets is a critical success factor 

and I thank every member of the Basil Read team 

for their ongoing efforts.

Amanda Wightman
CFO

8 May 2015
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Five-year review

 2014#

R’000 
2013#

R’000
2012#

R’000
2011
R’000

2010
R’000

INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue  6 584 810  6 304 580  6 834 146  6 230 456  5 389 769 
Contracting  6 255 718  6 086 729  6 608 258  6 000 764  5 196 208 
Other  329 092  217 851  225 888  229 692  193 561 
Contracting and other costs  (6 244 609)  (5 398 511)  (5 768 021)  (5 044 751)  (4 237 060)
Other admin and operating overheads*  (664 206)  (520 570)  (902 422)  (651 556)  (522 838)
Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets  (342 404)  (324 292)  (307 488)  (267 039)  (221 325)
Other (expenses)/income  (13 052)  252 342  25 230  24 621  252 
Amortisation of intangible assets  (860)  (860)  (1 990)  (10 785)  (39 303)

Operating (loss)/profit  (680 321)  312 689  (120 545)  280 946  369 495 
Impairment of goodwill  (304 370) – –  (32 403) –
Net finance (costs)/income  (25 310)  13 670  (77 133)  (36 007)  619 

(Loss)/profit before share of associates  (1 010 001)  326 359  (197 678)  212 536  370 114 
Share of profit of investments accounted for using 
the equity method  39 539  45 166  44 812  3 751  1 474 

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (970 462)  371 525  (152 866)  216 287  371 588 
Taxation  149 583  (90 055)  (16 235)  (81 580)  (119 370)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (820 879)  281 470  (169 101)  134 707  252 218 

Net (loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the company  (789 938)  310 742  (170 384)  140 979  260 753 
Non-controlling interests  (30 941)  (29 272)  1 283  (6 272)  (8 535)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (820 879)  281 470  (169 101)  134 707  252 218 

STATISTICS
(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (599,87)  235,97 (136,54)  113,88  210,63 

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (599,87)  235,97 (136,54)  113,88  210,63 

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (362,08) 86,99 (130,84)  139,65  209,25 

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (362,08) 86,99 (130,84)  139,65  209,25 

Dividend per share (cents) –  175,00 –  30,00  42,00 
Interest cover (times)  (12,33)  4,78  (1,16)  4,04  5,39 
Operating margin (%)  (10,33)  4,96  (1,76)  4,51  6,86 

*  The following non-recurring charges have been included  
in “Other admin and operating overheads” in the  
current year:

Provision for Competition Commission –  19 936  65 000 10 000 –
Share-based payment – –  60 539 – –
Write down of development land  80 565  22 572  26 607 – –

 80 565  42 508  152 146 10 000 –
#  Includes the combined results of continued and discontinued operations.

for the year ended 31 December 2014
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 2014
R’000 

2013
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2010
R’000

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ASSETS
Non-current assets  1 669 708  1 914 321  2 016 019  2 152 469  1 854 008 
Property, plant and equipment  1 080 248  1 138 147  1 272 127  1 166 213  873 390 
Intangible assets  99 938  411 829  412 689  799 995  843 183 
Other non-current assets  489 522  364 345  331 203  186 261  137 435 
Current assets  2 552 957  2 804 193  2 598 877  2 680 501  2 430 905 
Inventories  33 067  41 958  81 236  42 857  47 700 
Development land  268 022  363 120  402 375  398 686  351 938 
Contract debtors and retentions  1 169 111  974 237  883 617  1 308 188  898 323 
Other current assets  171 942  166 753  152 962  214 733  121 394 
Cash and cash equivalents  910 815  1 258 125  1 078 687  716 037  1 011 550 
Non-current assets held for sale  53 112 –  773 540  66 767  92 558 

 4 275 777  4 718 514  5 388 436  4 899 737  4 377 471 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves  1 133 544  1 909 465  1 799 554  1 814 820  1 708 885 
Non-controlling interests  (97 992)  (38 207)  24 768  22 901  6 404 
Non-current liabilities  259 965  309 768  376 266  592 847  439 156 
Interest-bearing borrowings  215 898  263 086  314 187  519 234  337 658 
Other borrowings – –  13 250  19 649  26 188 
Other non-current liabilities  44 067  46 682  48 829  53 964  75 310 
Current liabilities  2 970 241  2 537 488  2 992 185  2 469 062  2 219 938 
Trade and other payables  1 180 026  1 043 180  1 120 153  1 079 938  970 223 
Amounts due to customers  1 102 385  1 095 096  1 079 113  513 315  583 399 
Interest-bearing borrowings  273 594  163 314  562 980  508 071  339 733 
Other current liabilities  324 000  180 257  198 086  305 430  293 689 
Bank overdraft  90 236  55 641  31 853  62 308  32 894 
Liabilities directly associated with non-current 
assets classified as held for sale  10 019 –  195 663  107  3 088 

 4 275 777  4 718 514  5 388 436  4 899 737  4 377 471 
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 2014
R’000 

2013
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2010
R’000

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
continued
STATISTICS
Number of ordinary shares in issue (’000)  131 686  131 686 131 686  123 798  123 798 
Number of “A” ordinary shares in issue (’000)  33 608  33 608 33 608 – –
Net asset value per share (cents)  860,79  1 450,01 1 366,55  1 465,95  1 380,38 
Tangible net asset value per share (cents)  784,90  1 137,28 1 053,16  819,74  699,29 
Current ratio (times)  0,86  1,11  0,87  1,09  1,10 
Return on shareholders’ interests (%)  (51,92)  16,76  (9,43)  8,00  16,25 
Return on total average tangible assets (%)  (16,04)  6,74 –  7,36  11,87 
Average price per share (cents) 693 837 1 216 1 265 1 270
Debt:equity ratio (times)*  0,19  0,14  0,18  0,29  0,21 

* Debt:equity ratio is calculated using total non-current borrowings.

Five-year review continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014
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Value added statement

This measures performance in terms of value added by the company through the collective efforts of management, employees and 
providers of capital, and how that value has been distributed to those contributing to its creation.

2014
R’000 %

2013 
R’000  % 

VALUE ADDED DURING THE YEAR
Total revenue 6 584 810 6 304 580
Contract revenue 6 255 718  6 086 729 
Other revenue 329 092  217 851 
Cost of materials, subcontractors and other services (5 803 897)  (4 332 503)

Value added from trading operations 780 913 96,35 1 972 077 97,74
Interest income 29 605 3,65  45 701 2,26

Total value added 810 518 100,00 2 017 778 100,00

DISTRIBUTIONS DURING THE YEAR
Management
Salaries, retirement and other benefits 21 477 2,65 24 670 1,22
Employees
Salaries, retirement and other benefits 1 361 980 168,04 1 231 886 61,06
Providers of capital
Interest on borrowings and dividends paid 55 119 6,80  295 868 14,66
Government
Taxation (149 583) (18,46)  90 055 4,46

Total distributions 1 288 993 159,03 1 642 479 81,40
Retained for reinvestment (478 475) (59,03)  375 299 18,60
Depreciation 342 404  324 292 
Income retained in the business (820 879)  51 007 

Total distributions 810 518 100,00 2 017 778 100,00
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Divisional review – construction

This division incorporates Basil Read’s civil engineering, roads, building operations and 
property developments. Proven technical and financial engineering skills have 
reinforced our position among the leaders in this industry.

Salient features 2014 2013 
%

change

Revenue (R’000) 5 151 4 693 10
Order book (R’000) 6 765 8 265 (18)
Disabling injury frequency rate 0,20 0,17 (18)

Major works for private and public sector clients cover a broad spectrum of civil 
engineering, road and building projects, including earthworks, bridges, pipelines, 
infrastructure, harbour and marine works, industrial plants, sports facilities, roads, 
highways, airports and related industrial activities.

The division also adds value through innovative packaging: build-operate-transfer (BOT) 
contracts, design and construct, and alternative solutions tailored to meet 
client requirements.

 Roads 38%

 Civils 21%

 Buildings 17%

 Developments 3%

79%
of company  
turnover in 2014 

Basil Read 
construction  

consists of 
four pillars

Building and 
developments PipelinesCivils and plantRoads

2014
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Divisional review – mining

The mining division specialises in surface contract mining, which includes drill, blast, load, 
haul, dump, material handling and processing services to the mining, quarrying and 
construction industries. It also provides mine design, infrastructure development, 
planning, scheduling, operations management, surveying and optimisation services to 
clients across sub-Saharan Africa. 

Salient features 2014 2013 
%

change

Revenue (R’000) 1 351 1 612 (16)
Order book (R’000) 3 774 4 199 (10)
Disabling injury frequency rate 0,05 0,12 58

The division offers complete mining services with decades of experience in hard and 
soft-rock mining, selective mining and material handling in remote and challenging 
locations. It owns and maintains a fleet of mobile mining equipment that can be 
deployed to meet clients’ requirements.

 Mining 19%

 Engineering 2%

21%
of company  
turnover in 2014

St Helena 
airport project

Basil Read 
mining  

consists of 
one pillar

Mining

2014
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Basil Read construction

2014 performance 
Financial performance 
➜➜ Total turnover for the construction division is 

R5,2 billion, with R6,8 billion in work secured for 

2015 at the December 2014 reporting date

➜➜ Year-to-date operating loss is R797 million

➜➜ Distressed contracts in all divisions affected 

performance. The TCTA pipeline contract 

continued to report poor performance despite 

corrective measures, while the Venetia Civils and 

Roadcrete Africa roads contracts were below 

forecasts. In future, Basil Read will negotiate 

contracts to accommodate changes to the scope 

of work, which will avoid claims and improve 

relationships with clients. The operations 

committee will also focus on reviewing the 

progress and success of corrective measures to 

improve the performance of distressed contracts

➜➜ The St Helena airport project is on track 

and profitable.

Progress on strategy 
Commentary 
Basil Read is focused on returning to its core 

business, heavy construction. Any acceleration in 

government spending on infrastructure projects 

will support this focus and the division is actively 

positioning itself to participate in these projects.

Key contracts
➜➜ Roads – In an extremely competitive local 

market, our roads business recorded mixed 

results, with performing projects meeting or 

exceeding targets and distressed projects 

registering significant losses. While work 

opportunities increased, margins in the tender 

market were constrained by the slow pace of 

infrastructure roll-out at national, provincial and 

local government levels. Four poorly performing 

projects were finalised (Petrusburg, Etwatwa, 

Ohlanga and R70 Tzaneen) and the majority of 

distressed projects are expected to be finalised 

in 2015. The integration of Roadcrete Africa has 

improved synergies and work management, to 

some extent mitigating the impact of distressed 

projects. Product supply and quality again 

affected the performance of our bitumen 

supplier, SprayPave. 

➜➜ Civils – Poor performance for the year with a 

focus on securing new projects in targeted 

sectors. The Durban Prasa (Transnet’s passenger 

rail agency) contract is scheduled for completion 
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in 2015 once contractual agreements are 

honoured. At Medupi, contracted work has 

been completed and claims are being settled. 

Basil Read is in discussions with Eskom for 

additional work valued at R500 million.

 • The TCTA project is scheduled for completion 

in June 2015 after significant delays. 

The accumulated loss on this project is 

R365 million, excluding delay damages and 

claims. Additional people have been deployed 

on site to improve performance.

 • Basil Read and its joint venture partners on 

the Kusile project will complete the contract 

in the first half of 2015, although further work 

could be awarded. Settlement differences are 

being satisfactorily resolved with Eskom.

 • The cost to completion of the Venetia project 

is R205 million with a projected loss of 

R38 million. Basil Read management has 

discussed challenges on this contract with the 

client, De Beers.

➜➜ Buildings and developments – Turnover of 

R1,3 billion was on budget, but an operating loss 

of R304 million was recorded, including the 

impairment of goodwill for R170 million. 

Although business confidence 

remains weak, with many projects on 

hold, the division has secured most of its 

workload for 2015

 • Developments – This business focuses 

on large-scale mixed-income integrated 

housing developments that generate 

income for the division from management 

fees and profit on sale of serviced stands as 

well as construction work for the company. 

This is an integral part of our social licence 

to operate and Basil Read therefore works 

with government at all levels, parastatals 

and non-governmental organisations to 

support national imperatives focused on 

improving the quality of life of South Africa’s 

people. Key current projects include 

Savanna City (over 18 000 planned housing 

opportunities) and Malibongwe Ridge, 

as an extension to Cosmo City (about 

5 500 opportunities). Revenue is also 

generated from sale of stands in the 

Cosmo City Industrial Park and Klipriver 

Business Park, as well as managing and 

marketing the Rolling Hills lifestyle estate.
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Basil Read construction continued

 • Savanna City – Phase 1 comprises 

1 002 fully subsidised and affordable 

residential stands and six non-residential 

stands. Internal services for this phase were 

installed by the roads division. Sales of 

housing units are exceeding expectations, 

reflecting high demand for affordable 

housing. Our partner in this development 

is Old Mutual’s Housing Impact Fund of 

South Africa and we are working with the 

Gauteng department of human settlements 

and Midvaal local municipality to ensure the 

1 400 ha project sets a new benchmark in 

economic development and housing. Over 

the next 10 years, construction on this 

project will create 55 000 jobs and around 

13 000 permanent jobs post construction.

 • Malibongwe Ridge – Servicing for the first 

phase – 486 fully subsidised residential 

stands – is complete, with top structures 

due for completion in mid-2015. While 

this development is currently generating 

revenue for Basil Read divisions, it is 

running at a small loss at company level 

(albeit decreasing) until sales exceed 

development costs.

 • Klipriver Business Park – Increased sale 

of stands in the review period reflects 

rising interest in this vibrant working node 

south of Johannesburg.

St Helena airport project
Given the scale of this project, we report on it 

separately. Phase 1 of this R4,6 billion contract 

began in December 2011 and will finish in 

February 2016. Phase 2 will run to February 2026. 

Despite the significant safety hazards presented 

by earthmoving equipment, this contract reached 

1 million lost-time injury (LTI) free hours in 2014. 

The on-island workforce of around 600 comprises 

local personnel (over 50%), other nationalities and 

South Africans (27%). 

At present, the contract is on track and on budget. 

Current challenges include variations to bulk fuel 

installations which might affect the schedule, and 

disposing of hazardous waste off the island. These 

and other risks are reviewed monthly against a 

comprehensive register to contain exposure. 

Design works are in the completion phase on most 

aspects and keeping pace with construction. 

The combined building was handed over on the 

milestone date to our subcontractor for installation 

of air traffic control and navigational aids 

equipment. The terminal building is progressing 

well. Works on the sea rescue building and offices 

began in December 2014.
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Marine works on the permanent wharf, an addition 

to the contract, began in June 2014. Work is 

progressing well and will be completed by 

November 2015. Substantial construction 

equipment was required for the works, including 

two 200 t crawler cranes. 

The process of obtaining the required certification 

from the relevant authorities is currently on track 

and calibration flights for navigational flights and 

aerodrome ground lighting are scheduled for 

September 2015. Identification and preparation for 

training of phase 2 staff is under way.

Separate negotiations are under way to secure 

additional work valued at R220 million. The first of 

these, developing a new hotel on the island, was 

secured post-year-end.

Safety aspects and impacts 
Commentary 
➜➜ Civils reached 10 million LTI-free hours – with 

the civils team at Medupi ash dumps achieving 

4 million LTI-free hours in February 2015 

➜➜ Seven divisional projects exceeded 1 million 

LTI-free hours

➜➜ Safety in the building division remains a 

challenge due to the number of subcontractors 

on each site. We are training and coaching our 

subcontractors to achieve our targets in safety 

and stressing the need for site management to 

continuously drive safety to ensure individual 

projects conform to company standards

➜➜ St Helena airport project reached 1 million 

LTI-free hours.

Outlook 
New management teams introduced towards the 

end of the financial year have stabilised operations 

and the division has been awarded contracts 

exceeding R1 billion since the start of the 2015 

financial year. Tender activity remains competitive 

and the sector under pressure due to the delayed 

roll-out of government work.
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Case study: Challenging 
St Helena project earns 
Basil Read official stamp 
of approval

The task of building and delivering a new 
airport on the island of St Helena, a 
British territory 2 000 km west of 
Angola, has been uniquely and officially 
acknowledged by a series of new postage 
stamps. One of these stamps features the 
NP Glory 4 vessel with the Basil Read 
brand clearly visible on the side of the 
vessel while at anchor off the island – the 
first time a South African company has 
featured on a British postal stamp.

Importantly, after the first phase of the 
airport is completed in 2016, St Helena’s 
isolation from the rest of the world will 
become part of its history when travel 
time from Cape Town drops from seven 
days (168 hours) by ship to just five 
hours. As a result, the island whose very 
remoteness made it ideal for Napoleon’s 
banishment after his 1815 defeat at the 
battle of Waterloo, and as a “home” for 
captured Boer generals during the South 
African (Boer) War, will rapidly be 
brought into the 21st century.

For our team, the airport opening will mark 
an end to undoubtedly the most complex 
project undertaken by the company. 

Although constructing the airport runway 
presented engineering challenges, the related 
logistics made the project unusually daunting 
as all goods and equipment had to be 
transferred by ship to the island. This involved 
Basil Read chartering a 2 500 tonne vessel 
for the duration – about 70 000 tonnes of 
goods, including 22 million litres of diesel, 
25 000 tonnes of cement and 5 000 tonnes 
of explosives first had to be transported to 
our Walvis Bay bond yard, then loaded for 
shipping and unloaded on the other end. 
Sailing time to St Helena with supplies was 
a seven-day task, with each shipping cycle 
taking about 22 days.

The project required skills ranging from civil 
construction, road works and building, to 
opencast mining and marine works, 
effectively using most of our in-house 
capabilities. Subcontractors varied from 
experts on environmental impact studies 
to architecture and bulk fuel installation.

During the project over 600 people have 
been employed on St Helena, including 
over 250 local employees. Over 100 more 
personnel were involved in logistics, design 
and support functions off the island.

Basil Read is responsible on a design and 
build basis for the construction and full 
operation of the facility for 10 years. 
As such, the company will assume 
responsibility for supplying the necessary 
services, from air traffic control to training 

and deployment of rescue and firecrew, 
until the project is transferred in its entirety 
to the St Helena government. Specialists 
from South Africa assisting Basil Read with 
this phase will include teams from Lanseria 
Airport and the ATNS air traffic company 
that supplies expert personnel to all major 
South African airports.

Key activities associated with the 
permanent works on the project include: 
➜➜ Drilling, blasting and filling 8 million cubic 
metres of rock, and filling to a maximum 
height of 100 metres to provide a flat 
airstrip in a former valley in the island’s 
rugged interior
➜➜ Building bulk fuel installations to store 
6 million litres of fuel
➜➜ Constructing a 14 km access road to 
the airport site
➜➜ Constructing a concrete runway nearly 
2 km long
➜➜ Building a terminal building, air traffic 
control tower and other buildings
➜➜ Navigational aids
➜➜ Providing fire engines, ambulances, tow 
units and other airport vehicles.

Basil Read will be responsible for ensuring 
the necessary certifications are acquired 
and that the airport is operational. Initially, 
expectations are for one arrival and 
departure at the airport every week.

For St Helena, the value of the project lies 
in its ability to enable people who used to 
live on the island, and still have homes 
there, to visit more regularly. It will also 
attract tourists who are interested in 
history, and those interested in sports such 
as scuba diving who will be able to visit 
sites that have been virtually undisturbed 
for many years.

Basil Read construction continued

To watch the St Helena airport project progress video, please go to  
www.youtube.com/watch?v=ℓ1eC6W7AUC4
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Case study: 
Engineering feat 
completes Baywest N2 
bridge in record time

In July 2014, Basil Read began placing the 
first of the 70 tonne concrete beams that 
make up the bridge linking two sides of 
Port Elizabeth across the N2 freeway. 
The R300 million Baywest road network 
is the largest project of its type in the 
Nelson Mandela Bay region in over 
10 years and an integral part of the city’s 
economic growth under the municipality’s 
2020 vision.

The double bridge, part of the long 
awaited Redhouse Chelsea arterial route, 
was specifically designed to reduce 
construction time while ensuring maximum 
safety for both contractor and road users 
during the construction period. Basil Read 
completed the bridge in record time. 

The faster build meant N2 motorists were 
inconvenienced for a third of the usual time 
– four months instead of up to 12 months 
using conventional building methods. To 

reach this goal, the 12 beams  
(a total of 840 tonnes of concrete) 
making up the bridge were precast in  
a controlled area off site. They could then 
be laid six at a time, closing off each side  
of the N2 for just two months. Usually, 
the concrete is cast in place on site, with 
scaffolding under the bridge to support the 
slab while it cures, closing each side of the 
N2 for up to six months. 

The added benefit of this system is that 
beams were cast in a special yard set 
up for casting concrete in controlled 
conditions. In the past, casting all the 
concrete in-situ meant it was exposed to 
the elements, making it more difficult to 
achieve tight tolerances. The project also 
required absolute precision – each 
70 tonne beam could be out of position 
by no more than 10 mm when laid on 
the bridge bearings. 

Some 230 employees worked hard to 
complete most of the network in time for 
Baywest Mall’s opening in March 2015. The 
new network will also reduce rush hour 
traffic in the city’s western suburbs.
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Basil Read mining

of our ageing mining equipment, ramp-up of the 

Tschudi project, higher provision for bad debts 

and increased overhead costs in Matomo. 

The division reported a fatality-free year, 

maintaining its strong focus on safety through 

visibly felt leadership, while the disabling injury 

frequency rate of 0,05 showed a 58% 

improvement (2013: 0,12). For the first time, the 

division exceeded 3 million lost time-free hours. 

The division retained its international certifications 

on safety (OHSAS 18001), environment (ISO 

14000) and quality systems (ISO 9000).

 
All South African mining projects were profitable 

for the year. Our plant division is running profitably 

despite a number of plants having exceeded their 

life expectancy. The expertise of our plant teams 

will enable the company to schedule replacement 

capex more favourably. A potential dispute on a 

BWP100 million value added tax claim in Botswana 

is being assessed.

 

2014 performance
Specialist skills and experience distinguish 

Basil Read mining in a competitive industry, albeit 

currently subdued. 

The 2014 financial year was challenging for 

resource companies and the contract mining 

services sector in sub-Saharan Africa. Pressure 

on commodity prices and prolonged labour 

unrest significantly reduced the number of new 

opportunities coming to market and, in some 

cases, existing projects were scaled back, delayed 

or stopped. As a result, competition for work 

intensified dramatically and margins were 

under pressure. 

Despite these headwinds, Basil Read mining’s 

turnover was stable at R1,4 billion, reflecting 

improved productivity, a stable labour environment 

and the start of new contracts. However, operating 

profit declined to a loss of R73 million, before 

accounting for the impairment of goodwill for 

R36 million, due to increased maintenance costs 

50 Basil Read  
integrated report 2014

  



Engineering
Basil Read’s engineering division complements the 

company activities, adding specialised in-house 

expertise and experience. Within this division is 

the company’s engineering, procurement and 

construction (EPC) company, Matomo, and LYT 

Architecture, a diversified design and architectural 

practice with significant skill and experience gained 

in South Africa and abroad. LYT was sold to its 

management team post-year-end, and the orderly 

closure of Matomo is ongoing due to its poor 

operating performance in the year under review. 

Progress on strategy 
The mining division continues to pursue growth 

opportunities through tendering and negotiated 

work in sub-Saharan markets. 

Safety aspects and impacts 
➜➜ Fatality-free year, reflecting strong focus on 

safety through visibly felt leadership

➜➜ 58% improvement in disabling injury frequency 

rate to 0,05 

➜➜ Record 3 million lost time-free 

hours at divisional level with two 

operations exceeding 1 million  

LTI-free hours

➜➜ A surveillance audit during the year raised 

no safety issues.

Outlook 
Given the somewhat depressed outlook for 

commodity prices over the short to medium term, 

we believe mining majors will continue to focus on 

reducing costs while improving productivity. This in 

turn will keep pressure on margins for mining 

services companies, like ourselves. 

In 2015, mining will introduce a systematic 

continuous business improvement programme 

to protect contract margins while pursuing 

innovative ways to provide services to our clients 

and replace our ageing fleet. At the same time, the 

division will pursue growth in its current operating 

geographies and expand to new countries in 

sub-Saharan Africa.
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Corporate governance

While the key focus of the company is to create value for shareholders, the board 
ensures that in doing so the interests of all stakeholders are satisfied. 

Basil Read is run by a board of directors 
appointed by shareholders. The board is 
committed to the highest standards of 
corporate governance as set out in the 
Code of Governance Principles for South 
Africa 2009 (King III), the Companies Act 
71 of 2008, as amended (the act), the JSE 
listings requirements (listings requirements) 
and other regulations.

The board’s role is to provide the leadership 
necessary to apply the principles of good 

corporate governance throughout the 
company, appreciating that this is key to 
business sustainability. While the key focus 
of the company is to create value for 
shareholders, the board ensures that in 
doing so the interests of all stakeholders 
are satisfied. 

Basil Read’s board is responsible for the 
strategic direction of the company and 
monitoring the company’s progress against 
the business strategy. In executing its 

mandate, the board is assisted by formally 
constituted committees. The chief executive 
officer is accountable to the board for 
implementing the strategy, assisted by an 
executive committee. 

The board is led by a chairman who is an 
independent non-executive director. The 
roles of the chairman and chief executive do 
not reside with one individual to ensure that 
no individual board member has unfettered 
power in the decision-making process.
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Social, ethics and 
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King III compliance
The board is satisfied that the company 
complies in all material respects with the 
principles and recommendations of King III, 
most of which are entrenched in its internal 
controls, policies and procedures.

A detailed report on how the company 
applies all 75 principles of King III is 
available on the company’s website,  
(www.basilread.co.za).

JSE listings requirements
The board has considered amendments 
and guidance notes on listings requirements 
issued in 2014 by the JSE and is satisfied 
that the company fully complies with these. 

Corporate governance framework
Basil Read has a corporate governance 
framework governing the relationship 
between the holding company and its 
subsidiaries. Basil Read also has a 
framework outlining how various 
authorities are delegated to board 
committees, CEO and other individuals.

Responsible and ethical leadership 
Basil Read leadership focuses on effective, 
ethical leadership and good corporate 
citizenship. The board ensures the 
company’s ethics management programme 
is effectively implemented. Basil Read 
manages fraud and corruption by:
➜➜ Fostering ethical standards
➜➜ Raising awareness on ethics through 
training, reporting and advice
➜➜ Encouraging whistleblowing through 
mechanisms such as our fraud and 
corruption hotline on 080 021 2524.

In 2014, the results of an ethics survey 
were discussed at all management levels 
and by the board. Areas of improvement 
were identified and are being addressed 
by management. 

Focus areas for the board 
➜➜ Finding suitable candidates to fill the 
roles of CEO and CFO – filled on 
1 September 2014 and 13 October 
2014 respectively 
➜➜ Approval of an 18-month turnaround 
plan against key measurements: 
 • Reducing overheads 
 • R5 billion turnover
 • 3% profit after tax

➜➜ General performance and risks – key 
business risks including non-performing 
contracts 
➜➜ Strengthening the independent 
non-executive membership of the board 
by identifying individuals with the right 
experience and skills while ensuring a 
majority of independent directors as 
members of the audit committee
➜➜ Bolstering an internal audit function by 
working towards an in-house model and 
appointing a chief audit executive – 
appointed on 1 February 2015.

Board composition
Basil Read has a unitary board, comprising 
a majority of non-executive directors with 
a strong element of independence. Board 
members have diverse experience, skills 
and qualifications that include engineering, 
finance, auditing, enterprise risk 
management, business and accounting. 

Currently the board has 10 directors: two 
executive and eight non-executive 
directors, four of whom are independent.

Changes to the board during the year
The chief executive, Marius Heyns, resigned 
from the board on 30 May 2014 and 
Desmond Hughes was appointed interim 
chief executive and managing director from 
1 June 2014 until the appointment of 
Neville Nicolau as the permanent chief 
executive from 1 September 2014. The 
board appointed Amanda Wightman as 

interim CFO on 23 November 2013 and 
confirmed her appointment as CFO and 
finance director on 13 October 2014.

Both Charles Davies and Nopasika Lila 
retired by rotation on 26 June 2014.

Doris Dondur was appointed to the board 
and as chairman of the audit committee on 
24 June 2014. 

The chairman, Lester Peteni, retired from 
the board and was replaced by Paul Baloyi 
from 31 December 2014.

The board appointed Desmond Hughes 
as a non-executive director from 
1 January 2015.

On 15 April 2015, Mahomed Gani was 
appointed to the board and the 
audit committee.

Independence
The nominations committee assessed the 
independence of non-executive directors 
against the criteria set out in King III, the 
listings requirements and the Act. The 
assessment confirmed that four non-
executive directors were independent. 
There are no independent non-executive 
directors who have served on the board 
for more than nine years. The names of 
directors at the date of this report, year of 
appointment and independence status for 
the review period are set out below:

Members Independent Date of appointment

Executive directors
NF Nicolau Executive 1 September 2014

AC Wightman Executive 13 October 2014

Non-executive directors
PC Baloyi (chairman) Yes 19 October 2012

DLT Dondur Yes 24 June 2014

MSI Gani Yes 15 April 2015

CE Manning Yes 23 August 2012

TD Hughes No 1 January 2015

ACG Molusi No 14 March 2013

SS Ntsaluba No 5 July 2006

TA Tlelai No 5 June 2006
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Corporate governance continued

Conflict of interest
Basil Read has a conflict of interest policy 
designed to assist directors in identifying 
situations that could present conflicts of 
interest. A comprehensive register of 
directors’ interests is regularly updated 
and signed by each director.

Director induction and ongoing training
On appointment, directors participate in an 
induction programme. The ongoing training 
and development of directors is a standard 
board agenda item, including updates on 
various training and development initiatives. 
The company secretary liaises with 
directors to source relevant seminars and 
conferences for directors to attend, funded 
by Basil Read.

Election and rotation of directors
In terms of the non-executive directors’ 
policy, directors may not serve for more 
than three terms (nine years). Directors 
are subject to rotation in line with the 
company’s memorandum of incorporation 
and the Act. At least one-third of directors 
in office retire and can offer themselves for 
re-election at every annual general meeting 
(AGM). Executive directors are not 
required to retire by rotation.

The nominations committee assists the 
board in recommending re-election of 
retiring directors at the following AGM, 
based on the required balance of skills, 
knowledge and experience for the board’s 
effectiveness and regulatory demands. 

Mr PC Baloyi and Dr CE Manning will retire 
by rotation at the AGM on 23 June 2015 
but offer themselves for re-election. Their 
abridged résumés are on page 8. 

Directors appointed by the board after 
an AGM are elected at the next 
AGM following their appointment. 
Ms DLT Dondur, Mr NF Nicolau, 
Ms AC Wightman, Mr TD Hughes and 
Mr MSI Gani, are subject to election at 
the AGM in terms of clause 28.2 of the 
company’s memorandum of incorporation. 
The board is satisfied that these directors 
are eligible for re-election.

Board charter
The Basil Read board charter, which sets 
out the responsibilities of the board, is 
closely aligned with the recommendations 
of King III and forms the basis of the 
board’s responsibilities and duties by:
➜➜ Regulating the parameters within which 
the board operates

➜➜ Setting out specific responsibilities to be 
discharged by board members.

The charter specifically reserves the 
following matters for the board:
➜➜ Determining and reviewing the 
company’s strategic direction, and 
exercising prudent control over the 
company and its affairs
➜➜ Approving financial objectives, including 
budgets, and non-financial objectives and 
policies proposed by management
➜➜ Overseeing the company’s performance 
against agreed objectives
➜➜ Ensuring there is an effective risk-based 
internal audit function
➜➜ Delegating appropriate authority to the 
chief executive officer
➜➜ Appointing the chief executive officer, 
executive and non-executive directors 
on recommendation from the 
nominations committee
➜➜ Approving succession planning for 
the board
➜➜ Ensuring the integrity of financial 
reporting and the full and timely 
disclosure of material matters.

Board meetings and attendance
During the year under review, the board met six times and the attendance of members is outlined below:

Members
4 Mar 
2014 

26 Mar 
2014 

24 Jun 
2014 

27 Aug 
2014 

9 Sept 
2014 

25 Nov 
2014 

SLL Peteni ü ü ü ü ü ü

PC Baloyi ü ü ü ü ü ü

ML Heyns Î ü n/a n/a n/a n/a

TD Hughes (appointed  
1 June to 31 August 2014, 
reappointed 1 January 2015 as 
a non-executive director)

n/a n/a ü ü n/a n/a

NF Nicolau (appointed 
1 September 2014)

n/a n/a n/a n/a ü ü

AC Wightman (appointed 
13 October 2014)

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a ü

CP Davies ü ü ü n/a n/a n/a
DLT Dondur n/a n/a n/a ü ü ü

MSI Gani (appointed  
15 April 2015)

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

NV Lila ü ü ü n/a n/a n/a
CE Manning ü ü ü ü ü ü

ACG Molusi ü Î ü ü ü Î

SS Ntsaluba ü ü ü ü ü ü

TA Tlelai ü ü ü Î ü ü

ü	Attended
Î	 Absent with apology
n/a Individual was not a director at the date of meeting

56 Basil Read  
integrated report 2014

  



Members

30 Jan 
2014

special 
meeting

25 Mar 
2014

28 May 
2014

5 Jun 
2014

special 
meeting

20 Aug 
2014

special 
meeting

26 Aug
 2014

30 Sept 
2014

special 
meeting

24 Nov
 2014

PC Baloyi
(resigned on  
31 December 2014)

Î ü Î ü ü ü ü ü

CP Davies 
(resigned on  
26 June 2014)

ü ü ü ü n/a n/a n/a n/a

DLT Dondur 
(appointed  
26 June 2014)

n/a n/a n/a n/a ü ü ü ü

MSI Gani (appointed 
15 April 2015)

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

NV Lila (resigned on  
26 June 2014)

ü ü ü ü n/a n/a n/a n/a

CE Manning 
(appointed  
10 March 2015)

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

SS Ntsaluba ü Î ü ü ü ü ü ü

ü	Attended
Î	 Absent with apology
n/a Individual was not a director at the date of meeting

Board committees
The board has five formally appointed 
committees to which it delegates some 
of its duties. Committee members are 
appointed by the board, except for the 
audit committee. 

Each committee works against board-
approved terms of reference that details 
duties, responsibilities, powers, reporting 
requirements, meeting procedures and 
composition. All terms of reference and 
committee membership are reviewed 
annually by the board. 

The board recognises that it is ultimately 
responsible for the performance and affairs 
of the company and that delegating duties 
to committees and management in no way 
mitigates the discharge of its own duties 
and responsibilities. The board and its 
committees work transparently, with full 
disclosure of committee discussions to the 
board. Committee meeting minutes are 
provided to the board and committee 
chairmen provide verbal reports to the 
board after every committee meeting. 

Audit committee 
The audit committee operates in terms of 
section 94 of the Companies Act and its 
members are appointed annually by 
shareholders. The majority of members are 
independent non-executive directors who 
are all financially literate. 

Composition 
➜➜ DLT Dondur (chairman) – independent 
non-executive director
➜➜ PC Baloyi (until 31 December 2014) – 
independent non-executive director
➜➜ SS Ntsaluba – non-executive director
➜➜ CE Manning – independent non-
executive director
➜➜ MSI Gani – independent non- 
executive director.

Following Paul Baloyi’s appointment as 
board chairman, he resigned as a member 
of the audit committee. 

Internal and external auditors have 
unrestricted access to the audit committee, 
which ensures that the two functions 
remain independent of management in 

discharging their duties. The committee’s 
key duties include ensuring the 
effectiveness of internal financial controls, 
the risk management process for internal 
audit, safeguarding the company’s assets, 
reviewing the group financial position, 
IT governance, compliance with all legal 
requirements and accounting standards, 
and the preparation of timely and accurate 
financial reports and statements. 

Frequency and attendance of audit 
committee meetings
In addition to committee members, the 
chief executive, chief financial officer, chief 
risk officer, internal auditors and external 
auditors attend meetings of the committee 
by invitation.

The committee meets separately with 
management, internal audit and external 
audit at least once a year. During the 
review period, the committee met eight 
times, including four special meetings, with 
attendance shown below:
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Corporate governance continued

Composition 
The committee comprises one 
independent non-executive director and 
two non-executive directors:
➜➜ CE Manning – independent non-
executive director (chairman)
➜➜ TA Tlelai – non-executive director
➜➜ ACG Molusi – non-executive director.

Frequency and attendance of meetings 
In addition to committee members, the 
head of human resources and CEO attend 
meetings by invitation. 

Risk committee
The risk committee was established to 
assist the board with its responsibilities for 
governance of risk and its terms of 
reference include:
➜➜ Reviewing total risk management and 
procedures of risk management, 
including the effectiveness of systems 
and processes

➜➜ Reviewing processes for risk 
identification, analysis and quantification, 
including the systematic, documented, 
formal risk assessment to be undertaken
➜➜ Advising the board on the company’s 
overall risk appetite, tolerance 
and strategy
➜➜ Monitoring that risks taken are within 
tolerance and appetite levels
➜➜ Reviewing the adequacy of the 
company’s insurance programme.

Composition 
➜➜ SS Ntsaluba – non-executive director 
(chairman) 
➜➜ ACG Molusi – non-executive director
➜➜ DLT Dondur – independent non-
executive director
➜➜ NF Nicolau – chief executive officer
➜➜ AC Wightman – chief financial officer.

The risk committee report on page 78 
provides further details on the governance 
of risk in the company.

Remuneration committee 
The remuneration committee (Remco) 
is constituted as a board committee 
approved by the board. Its terms of 
reference and mandate include:
➜➜ Assisting the board by ensuring that the 
company’s remuneration strategies and 
policies are designed to attract, motivate 
and retain quality employees, directors 
and senior management committed 
to achieving the overall goals of 
the company 

➜➜ Making recommendations to the board 
and shareholders for their consideration 
and final approval of remuneration 
strategy and policy
➜➜ Assisting the board by ensuring that 
directors and executives are 
remunerated fairly and responsibly and 
that their remuneration is aligned with 
shareholders’ interests
➜➜ Ensuring disclosure on the remuneration 
of directors and prescribed officers is 
accurate, complete and transparent. 

Frequency and attendance of committee meetings
Attendance of meetings in the review period is presented below:

Members
25 Mar 

2014 
10 Jun 

2014 
26 Aug 

2014 
24 Nov 

2014 

PC Baloyi (resigned on 31 December 2014) ü ü ü ü

DLT Dondur (appointed on 25 November 2014) n/a n/a n/a n/a

ACG Molusi Î ü ü Î

SS Ntsaluba (appointed on 27 August 2014) n/a n/a n/a ü

ML Heyns (resigned on 30 May 2014) ü n/a n/a n/a

TD Hughes (from 1 June to 31 August 2014) n/a ü ü n/a

NF Nicolau (appointed on 1 September 2014) n/a n/a n/a ü

AC Wightman (appointed 13 October 2014) n/a n/a n/a ü

ü	Attended
Î	 Absent with apology
n/a Individual was not a director at the date of meeting
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Social, ethics and transformation 
committee
Constituted as a statutory committee in 
terms of the Act, as well as a board 
committee, this committee is responsible 
for developing policies and guidelines to 
manage social, economic and sustainability 
development, safety, ethics, health and 
environmental matters. The committee has 
terms of reference and its mandate covers 
both statutory and board-delegated duties 
that include monitoring the company’s 
activities in light of relevant legislation, 

During the year under review, the committee met four times, with attendance shown below:

Members
4 Mar 
2014

27 May
2014 

26 Jun
2014 

6 Nov 
2014

CP Davies (resigned on 24 June 2014) ü ü n/a n/a

CE Manning ü ü ü ü	

ACG Molusi (appointed on 24 June 2014) n/a n/a ü ü

TA Tlelai Î ü ü ü	

ü	Attended
Î	 Absent with apology
n/a Individual was not a director/member at the date of meeting

regulatory requirements, best practice 
and codes on:
➜➜ Marketplace

 • Preventing corruption 
 • Broad-based black economic 
empowerment 

➜➜ Social development 
 • Community development 
 • Donations and sponsorship 
 • Public health and safety 
 • Consumer protection 
 • Consumer relations 

➜➜ Workplace 
 • Employment equity 
 • Employee safety and health 
 • Education of employees 

➜➜ Natural environment 
 • Environmental impact 

➜➜ Ethics.

Composition
➜➜ ACG Molusi – non-executive director 
(chairman)
➜➜ CE Manning – independent non-
executive director
➜➜ TA Tlelai – non-executive director.

Frequency and attendance of committee meetings
In addition to committee members, the chief risk officer, legal adviser, SHE manager and head of human resources attend meetings by 
invitation. During the review period, the committee met four times, with attendance presented below:

Members
26 Mar 

2014
27 May 

2014
14 Aug 

2014
6 Nov
2014 

CE Manning ü ü ü ü	

ACG Molusi Î ü ü ü	

TA Tlelai ü ü Î ü

G Hellhoff (resigned on 30 June 2014) ü ü n/a n/a

ML Heyns (resigned on 30 May 2014) ü Î n/a n/a

ü	Attended
Î	 Absent with apology
n/a Individual was not a director/member at the date of meeting

The sustainability report contains further information on the activities of the company overseen by the committee.
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Corporate governance continued

Nominations and investment 
committee
In line with its terms of reference, the 
committee makes recommendations to the 
board on the composition of the board 
and board committees and ensures that 
the board comprises suitably qualified 

individuals. In consultation with other 
directors, the committee evaluates the 
chairman of the board and individual 
directors. It also serves as the investment 
committee responsible for considering 
acquisitions, mergers and disposals.

Composition 
➜➜ PC Baloyi – independent non-executive 
director (chairman)
➜➜ CE Manning – independent non-
executive director 
➜➜ SS Ntsaluba – non-executive director.

Attendance during the year is shown below:

Members
24 Apr

2014
5 Jun 
2014

17 Jul 
2014

19 Aug
2014

25 Sept
2014

30 Oct
2014

20 Nov
2014

SLL Peteni ü ü ü ü ü ü ü

PC Baloyi n/a n/a ü ü ü ü ü

CP Davies ü ü n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

SS Ntsaluba ü ü ü ü Î ü ü

ML Heyns ü n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

CE Manning (appointed on 
25 November 2014)

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

ü	Attended
Î	 Absent with apology
n/a Individual was not a director/member at the date of meeting

Non-executive director representation on board committees at the date of this report

Members Independent Audit Risk Remco

Social,
ethics and

trans -
formation

Nomina -
tions

PC Baloyi (chairman) Yes 	 	 Chair

CE Manning Yes ü Chair ü ü

SS Ntsaluba No ü Chair 	 	 ü

TA Tlelai No  ü ü

ACG Molusi No ü ü Chair ü

DLT Dondur Yes Chair ü   

TD Hughes No

MSI Gani Yes ü
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Dealing in securities
Basil Read has a policy in place for dealing in 
the company’s securities. During a closed 
period, as defined in the listings requirements, 
directors, their associates and designated 
employees are prohibited from dealing in the 
company’s securities. Prior to the start of 
each closed period, a formal notification is 
circulated to all directors and employees 
advising them of the closed period.

Company secretary
Andiswa Ndoni is the company secretary 
of Basil Read. All directors have direct 
access to the company secretary who 
provides guidance and assistance in line 
with the requirements outlined in King III 
and the listings requirements. The company 
secretary is not a director and therefore 
maintains an arm’s length relationship 
with the board. The company secretary is 
responsible for the flow of information 
to the board and its committees, and 
for ensuring compliance with board 
procedures. The company secretary’s 
appointment and removal is a 
board matter.

In compliance with the JSE listings 
requirements, the board has considered 
and is satisfied that the company secretary 
is competent and has the relevant 
qualifications and experience.

Construction sector B-BBEE 
scorecard 
As a sector, we believe the codes of good 
practice on broad-based black economic 
empowerment (B-BBEE) for the 
construction sector (referred to as the 
construction charter) implemented in 2009 
are addressing inequalities in the sector. In 
time, this will unlock potential and enhance 
growth – for the ultimate benefit of the 
entire South African nation.

The charter is a framework for the sector 
to address broad-based transformation, 
enhance capacity and increase productivity 
to meet global best practice standards. Its 
implementation will be monitored by the 
construction charter council, which will 
have executive capacity and will provide 
the necessary links to government 
institutions.

Basil Read is committed to the 
transformation of the South African 
construction industry to be more 
representative of the demographics 
of the country. We acknowledge that 
transformation is a journey and will not be 
achieved overnight. The critical areas are 
skills development, employment equity and 
management control and we are pleased 
with the improvement shown in these 
areas. The building blocks we put down 
today will form the path to a transformed 
company in future.

Information technology governance 
A steering committee effectively manages 
all information technology (IT) 
infrastructure and information system 
functions. Related management committees 
manage the day-to-day maintenance and 
enhancement of IT infrastructure and 
systems. These committees report to the 
IT steering committee which in turn 
reports to the audit and risk committees.

Two years ago, information systems were 
assessed against the emerging requirements 
of different business units and an 
appropriate strategy developed. This 
highlighted three primary areas of activity:
➜➜ Short-term risk mitigation to further 
enhance the core business system
➜➜ Medium-term exercises to develop 
or enhance system capabilities in 
priority areas
➜➜ A longer-term project to define and 
procure an integrated enterprise 
resource planning (ERP) system to more 
optimally support the wider needs of 
the company.

Other areas of focus in 2014 included:
➜➜ IT integration across the company
➜➜ Improved software asset management 
to ensure licencing compliance
➜➜ IT business continuity planning
➜➜ Review of procurement channels 
and strategies
➜➜ Improvements to Basil Read’s wide area 
network (WAN) 
➜➜ Enhanced system functionality in various 
key areas to support the business.
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Audit committee report

The committee’s operation is guided by a formal 

detailed charter that is in line with King III and the 

Act, and is approved by the board. A work plan is 

drawn up annually, outlining its statutory obligations 

and progress is monitored to ensure these are 

fulfilled. The committee has discharged all its 

responsibilities as set out in that charter.

Membership
Up to the date of this report, membership of the 

audit committee comprised the following 

non-executive directors:

➜➜ Ms Nopasika Lila – independent non-executive 

director, chairman (resigned 26 June 2014)

➜➜ Ms Doris Dondur – independent non-executive 

director, chairman (appointed 24 June 2014)

➜➜ Mr Charles Davies – independent non-executive 

director (resigned 26 June 2014)

➜➜ Dr Claudia Manning – independent non-

executive director (appointed 10 March 2015)

➜➜ Mr Sango Ntsaluba – non-executive director

➜➜ Mr Mahomed Gani – independent non-

executive director.

All members have the necessary financial skills and 

experience to fulfil their responsibilities on this 

committee. Details of attendance at meetings are 

on page 57.

In addition, the chief executive officer, chief financial 

officer, chief internal audit officer, chief risk officer, 

heads of finance, internal auditors and the external 

auditors are permanent invitees to the meeting.

Mr Sango Ntsaluba continued to serve on the 

committee in the review period, despite not being 

an independent non-executive director. Sango is 

a chartered accountant with over 20 years’ 

experience, bringing a wealth of knowledge to 

the committee.

The appointment of Mr Mahomed Gani as an 

independent non-executive director to the board 

and member of the audit committee on 

15 April 2015 further enhances the experience 

and financial skills of the committee.

The committee is pleased to present its report for the financial year ended 
31 December 2014 as required by the South African Companies Act 71 of 2008 
(the Act) and recommended by the King III Report on Governance Principles for 
South Africa 2009 (King III).
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Responsibilities
The responsibilities of this committee include 

monitoring and reviewing:

➜➜ The annual financial statements, ensuring fair 

presentation and compliance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the 

Act, and recommending these to the board 

for approval

➜➜ Compilation of the integrated report, ensuring 

that the content is accurate and reliable, and 

includes all relevant material operational, 

financial and non-financial information 

➜➜ The accounting policies of Basil Read, ensuring 

they are consistently applied

➜➜ Critical accounting estimates and judgements

➜➜ The effectiveness of the internal control 

environment

➜➜ The effectiveness of the internal audit function, 

including approval of the two-year internal audit 

plan and monitoring adherence of internal audit 

to this plan

➜➜ The independence and objectivity of the 

external auditors, ensuring that the scope 

of additional services does not impair 

their independence

➜➜ Reports of the internal and external auditors

➜➜ Evaluation of the performance of the chief 

financial officer

➜➜ The governance of information technology and 

effectiveness of the company’s information 

systems

➜➜ The solvency and liquidity position of Basil Read 

to ensure that the going concern basis of 

reporting is appropriate

➜➜ Policies and procedures for preventing fraud.

External audit
The committee has satisfied itself that the external  

auditors of Basil Read Holdings Limited is 

independent as defined by the Act. The committee, 

in consultation with executive management, agreed 

to an audit fee for the 2014 financial year. The fee 

is considered appropriate for the work that could 

reasonably have been expected at that time. Audit 

fees are disclosed in note 9 to the financial 

statements, which are available on the company’s 

website (www.basilread.co.za) or on request from 

the company secretary.

A formal procedure governs the process by which 

the external auditors are considered for providing 

non-audit services. Each engagement letter for 
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Audit committee report continued

non-audit work above R250 000 is reviewed by 

the committee in advance. Routine work 

assignments, including auditor letters required for 

tendering purposes, below the value of R250 000, 

do not need to be approved by the committee.

Meetings were held with the external auditors 

without management present, and no matters 

of concern were raised.

The committee has reviewed the performance 

of the external auditors and has nominated, for 

approval at the annual general meeting, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as the external 

auditors for the 2015 financial year. Mr F Lombard 

was designated auditor for the review period and 

will continue for the 2015 financial year. The 

committee confirms that the auditor and 

designated auditors are accredited by the JSE.

Internal audit
The internal audit function is a key element of 

the integrated assurance structure. Basil Read 

continued to outsource this function in 2014 to 

Grant Thornton, whose work is guided by the 

company’s risk register, and previous internal and 

external audit reports, including management and 

audit committee inputs.

Basil Read appointed a chief internal audit officer in 

February 2015 with direct reporting responsibility 

to the committee. An in-house internal audit 

structure and co-sourcing internal audit model 

approach was approved to ensure the efficiency 

of the internal audit function.

The committee determines the purpose, authority 

and responsibility of the internal audit function in 

a charter that is reviewed periodically.

The internal control systems of the company are 

designed to provide reasonable assurance on the 

maintenance of proper accounting records and 

reliability of financial information. These systems 

are monitored by internal audit which reports its 

findings and recommendations to the committee 

and to senior management. Where weaknesses 

in specific controls are identified, management 

undertakes to implement appropriate 

corrective actions.
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Both internal and external audit have unrestricted 

access to the committee, its chairman and the 

chairman of the board, ensuring that auditors are 

able to maintain their independence. Both internal 

and external auditors report at audit committee 

meetings. The committee also meets with both 

internal and external auditors separately, at least 

annually, and as required without other invitees 

being present.

Financial director review
The audit committee has confirmed, in terms of 

section 3.84(h) of the JSE listings requirements, that 

the chief financial officer, Amanda Wightman, has 

the appropriate expertise, experience, competence 

and skills to fulfil that role for the company. 

Annual financial statements
The annual financial statements were prepared 

using appropriate accounting policies that conform 

to IFRS. The committee therefore recommended 

the approval of the annual financial statements to 

the board and the board approved these on 

8 May 2015.

Integrated report
The committee has evaluated the integrated 

report for its consistency with operational and 

other information known to the committee. It 

has recommended the approval of the integrated 

report by the board, which was formally given.

Doris Dondur
Chairman of the audit committee

8 May 2015

65 Basil Read  
integrated report 2014

Overview 2 – 19
Company performance 22 – 39

Divisional review 42 – 51
Governance 54 – 81
Sustainability 84 – 103

Summarised financial and shareholders’ information 104 – 148

 



Social, ethics and transformation committee report

The social, ethics and transformation committee is constituted in terms of section 
72(4) and regulation 43 of the Companies Act. It operates under formal board-
approved terms of reference, which are reviewed annually, and regularly reports 
progress on business discussed at its meetings to the board. 

The committee comprises: 
➜➜ ACG Molusi – non-executive director 
(chairman)
➜➜ TA Tlelai – non-executive director 
➜➜ Dr CE Manning – independent non-executive 
director

In addition to statutory duties and responsibilities, 
the board assigns additional responsibilities that are 
best dealt with by this committee. It works 
according to a structured annual plan that is 
reviewed each year. To ensure effective discussion, 
focus areas were reviewed during the year and 
grouped as set out below: 

Marketplace 
Basil Read is a major participant in the heavy 
construction sector and committed to sustainable 
and safe economic development of the country. In 
all its projects, it aims to leave a lasting legacy and 
safe infrastructural solutions to the challenges 
of communities. 

The company fights any forms of internal 
corruption in various ways. Over 220 employees 
completed anti-bribery training during the year. An 
anonymous tip-off line is available to employees for 
reporting suspected corrupt activities involving the 

company or employees. The gifts policy was 
reviewed in 2014 to further restrict unethical 
receiving and giving of gifts. The committee reviews 
the gift register each quarter. 

The company is committed to complying with 
competition laws and various measures are in place 
to raise awareness of the laws including provision 
of a competition law manual to every employee, 
coupled with competition law e-learning which is 
conducted annually.

The committee is responsible for promoting black 
economic empowerment in Basil Read. Its main 
focus is to ensure compliance with the Broad-
based Black Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) 
Act. The company is focused on putting measures 
in place to ensure compliance with the revised 
B-BBEE codes. 

Ethical conduct and values are vital to Basil Read’s 
business. These are promoted in various ways 
including enforcing policies and engaging employees 
in activities that raise awareness. Surveys on values, 
diversity and culture were conducted throughout 
the company in early 2015. Results will be used to 
review Basil Read’s code of conduct, code of ethics 
and organisational values. 
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Workplace 
The committee regularly reviews compliance 
with the Employment Equity Act. A dedicated 
management committee was established to assist 
with employment equity and equality matters 
that include identifying factors that hamper 
employment equity. 

Basil Read’s vision includes the aspiration to become 
an employer of choice. To achieve this, the company 
promotes a decent workplace at all sites. Basil Read 
employees have freedom of association and are 
currently affiliated to two registered trade unions. 

Education is key in improving productivity and 
growth of the company and individual employees. 
A report on the budget and expenditure on 
employee education in the form of bursaries, 
student loans and training is regularly presented 
to the committee. 

Employee safety and health is critically important 
and Basil Read has zero tolerance for occupational 
fatalities. Occupational deaths and injuries are 
thoroughly investigated to determine the cause 
and measures are taken to prevent recurrence. 
Necessary support is given to the families of the 
deceased and senior management, including the 
CEO, are involved in each investigation. Employee 
wellness is equally important and a testing facility 
for substance abuse is in place. This will be 
expanded to include more substances tested 
as well as HIV/Aids testing and counselling. 

Policies that promote equality and prevent unfair 
discrimination are in place. The committee reviews 
compliance with these policies regularly. 

Social environment 
Basil Read’s corporate social investment (CSI) 
strategy aims to uplift communities through various 
development projects. The committee regularly 
discusses both the strategy and budgets on 
sponsorships, donations and charitable giving. 
During the year, the committee reviewed the CSI 
strategy to make it more focused and effective. 

Natural environment 
Basil Read promotes greater environmental 
responsibility and follows the precautionary 
approach to environmental challenges. 
Environmental spills are prevented, closely 
monitored and regularly reported to 
the committee. 

A number of key projects under the committee’s 
supervision were initiated in 2014 but will be 
completed in 2015.

Connie Molusi 
Chairman of the social, ethics and transformation 
committee

8 May 2015
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Remuneration committee report

The 2014 financial year was a challenging year for 
the company. Given Basil Read’s performance, 
Remco has not awarded any short-term incentive 
(STI) cash bonuses to management and staff. In 
addition, no long-term incentives (LTIs) have vested 
or been awarded. 

An incentive payment was made to the former 
CEO, Marius Heyns, under the deferred bonus 
arrangement in place in the 2013 financial year, 
subject to certain company performance measures. 
The full details of the payment, and the extent to 
which performance measures were met, are 
disclosed in part II of this report.

This year, Remco has focused on realising the 
company’s strategic vision of becoming the 
preferred contractor, employer and investment in 
the South African construction sector. As such, we 
are considering new incentive schemes for 
implementation in 2015, aligned to both this vision 
and the strategic targets set out on page 13. These 
will be disclosed in the 2015 remuneration report, 
once approved by the board. Remco will present 

proposed changes to shareholders for approval. 
We have also made progress in meeting remaining 
disclosure requirements in King III, and all applicable 
legislative requirements. 

In line with emerging best practice in South Africa, 
we have segmented this report: part I details the 
company’s remuneration policy, and part II its 
implementation in the 2014 financial year. As in 
prior years, our remuneration policy will be put to 
shareholders for a non-binding advisory vote at 
the AGM and proposed fees for non-executive 
directors will be put to a vote by special resolution 
at the AGM. 

Dr Claudia Manning
Chairman of the remuneration committee

8 May 2015

The remuneration committee (Remco) has pleasure in submitting the remuneration 
report for the financial year ended 31 December 2014. This report sets out 
the company’s remuneration policy for executive directors, prescribed officers 
and non-executive directors. 
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PART I: REMUNERATION POLICY
The board is responsible for ensuring Basil Read’s 
remuneration structures are equitable and aligned 
with the long-term interests of the company and 
its stakeholders. To ensure compliance, the board 
has tasked Remco to assist it in making decisions 
affecting employee remuneration. The committee 
was established to ensure that remuneration 
arrangements support the strategic aims of the 
business and enable the recruitment, motivation 
and retention of executives and employees at all 
levels, while complying with all requirements of 
law and regulation.

As recommended by King III, the majority of 
committee members are independent non-
executive directors. Members and meeting 
attendance are disclosed in the corporate 
governance section of the integrated report.

Role of Remco
The composition and scope of Remco are set 
out in written terms of reference which have been 
approved by the board. Salient features include:
➜➜ Remco comprises at least three non-executive 
directors, nominated by the board, with sufficient 
qualifications and experience to fulfil their duties
➜➜ The committee has an independent oversight 
role, and makes recommendations to the board 
for its consideration and final approval. It does 
not assume the functions of management, which 
remain the responsibility of the executive 
directors, officers and other members of 
senior management

➜➜ Its key role is to assist the board by fulfilling the 
following roles: 
 • Ensuring the company remunerates directors, 
executives and employees fairly and 
responsibly 

 • Considering and recommending the approval 
of employees’ salaries, annual increases 
and bonuses

 • Reviewing the remuneration strategy and 
policy including salaries, benefits, termination 
benefits, contractual engagement and 
consultancy packages

 • Ensuring the remuneration policy is put to 
a non-binding advisory vote at the annual 
general meeting of shareholders every year

 • Considering the performance evaluation 
results of the CEO and other executive 
directors, both as directors and as executives, 
in determining remuneration

 • Selecting an appropriate comparator group 
when setting remuneration levels and 
considering annual salary benchmarking to 
ensure the organisation remains competitive 
on remuneration

 • Regularly reviewing incentive schemes to 
ensure continued contribution to shareholder 
value and that these are administered in 
terms of the rules

 • Advise and make recommendations on the 
remuneration of non-executive directors

 • Oversee the preparation and 
recommendation of the remuneration report 
to the board, to be included in the 
integrated report.

MOCKUP 

PICTURE
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Remuneration committee report continued

Activities for the year
For the year under review, the committee:
➜➜ Reviewed and recommended executive 
remuneration for board approval
➜➜ Reviewed and recommended non-executive 
directors’ fees for board and final shareholder 
approval at the AGM
➜➜ Considered and recommended an annual 
increase in the company’s salary bill for approval 
by the board
➜➜ Received feedback on the analysis of the annual 
salary review process for monitoring purposes
➜➜ Monitored the organisation’s transformation 
and employment equity targets
➜➜ Reviewed employee retirement funding and 
healthcare benefits
➜➜ Received feedback on executive succession 
planning
➜➜ Monitored and commented on the internal 
talent audit process.

Remuneration philosophy and policy 
Basil Read’s philosophy is to encourage sustainable 
long-term performance across all operations. 
Remco reviews the remuneration policy each year 
to ensure the framework remains effective to 
support the company’s business objectives, aligned 
with best practice, and fairly rewards employees 
for their contribution to the business, considering 
the size and complexity of our operations. The 
purpose of our total rewards package is to attract, 
retain, motivate and reward staff, in a competitive 
environment, to achieve our objectives. We are 
acutely aware of our dependence on appropriately 

qualified, trained and experienced specialists 
to achieve our goals, particularly in an 
environment where demand for scarce skills is 
continually increasing.

Basil Read’s remuneration policy strives to reward 
corporate and individual performance through an 
appropriate balance of fixed pay and short and 
long-term variable components. A significant portion 
of total remuneration is performance-related, based 
on a mixture of internal and external targets linked 
to key corporate performance indicators. 

As a result, the group’s remuneration philosophy 
needs to ensure that it:
➜➜ Retains, develops and continues to attract people 
with the required skills to enable the business to 
meets its current and future demands
➜➜ Develops a collaborative and single-focused spirit 
among different operations that is directed to 
attaining the company’s objectives and strategy 
➜➜ Clearly differentiates and rewards performance 
excellence while discouraging and dealing 
with mediocrity
➜➜ Achieves the appropriate balance between 
short and long-term rewards
➜➜ Enables the payment of rewards and incentives 
out of a portion of the value created in any 
financial year
➜➜ Creates a sustainable leadership structure with 
the required succession pool for continuity, 
growth and one that in future becomes more 
representative of the demographics of 
South Africa.
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Our remuneration philosophy, policies and structures have been developed around these core principles 
and conform to best practice guidelines in King III.

Link between remuneration component and strategic objectives
The key components and drivers of Basil Read’s remuneration structure (which apply to all members of 
senior management) are set out below:

Remuneration component Strategic intent and drivers

Base salary ➜➜ Attract and retain key employees
➜➜ Internal and external equity
➜➜ Reward individual performance.

Benefits ➜➜ External market competitiveness
➜➜ Integrated approach to wellness driving employee effectiveness 
and engagement.

Allowances ➜➜ Comply with legislative, negotiated and contractual commitments.

Short-term incentive (STI)  
(less than 12 months)

➜➜ Align with company performance against financial targets
➜➜ Safety performance (against internal and external targets)
➜➜ Reward performance against company targets. 

Long-term incentive (LTI) ➜➜ Attract and retain senior employees, with the majority of awards 
linked to company performance targets
➜➜ Direct alignment with shareholders’ interests by linking the level 
of rewards to the achievement of performance targets. 

Current components of remuneration
Remco ensures that the components of 
remuneration, including annual guaranteed 
remuneration, STIs and LTIs, are appropriately 
linked to achieve the company’s strategic 
objectives.

Guaranteed remuneration
Basil Read uses a total guaranteed package (TGP) 
approach that encompasses a cash component, 
fixed car allowance, retirement funding and 
employer contributions to employee benefits. 

Benchmarking
The company uses the Paterson job grading 
system. It participates in, and subscribes to, external 
online benchmarking remuneration surveys that 
facilitate reliable comparisons of remuneration for 
executive job descriptions and across the company. 

Our aim is to remunerate all competent 
performing employees between the 50th and 75th 
percentiles of the national all-industries market, 
ensuring they are properly benchmarked in their 
respective disciplines. Our policy also makes 
provision to reward above the 75th percentile for 
exceptional performance and to retain scarce skills. 
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Remuneration committee report continued

Pay scales
Basil Read’s pay scales are guided by a number of key 
best practice principles, aiming to balance affordability 
and competitiveness. Movement within pay scales is 
based on the performance of the individual in the 
job. The following features are incorporated in the 
design of Basil Read’s pay scales:

Salary increases
Salary increases for executives and staff consider 
the individual performance score after the annual 
performance assessment, and the current position 
of the employees’ guaranteed pay in the pay scale. 
No employees’ percentage allocation may be more 
than double the recommended increase for that 
year, or the maximum of the pay scale. Ad hoc 
market adjustments are only made in exceptional 
circumstances and must be motivated by divisional 
executive management.

Key personal performance indicators are set during 
the performance management process, and include 
personal and financial performance indicators. 

Employee benefits
Basil Read makes provision for employee 
retirement funding by means of a defined 
contribution fund, which is compulsory for all 
salaried employees. It is also compulsory for 
all new salaried employees to belong to the 
company’s medical aid scheme. Where applicable, 
employees can remain on their spouse’s medical 
aid and provide proof of membership. Basil Read 
makes a 16% employee contribution to the 
retirement fund, and employer contribution to 
group life (1,85%) as well as to employee disability 
cover (0,96%). 

The pay scale supports the remuneration philosophy, and is pitched at the  
market median.

The principles of internal and external equity are upheld, while being flexible  
enough to respond to internal and external pressures.

It allows for superior performance to be rewarded.

It helps ensure consistent decision-making and application of the remuneration 
philosophy, and is legally defensible.

Implementation of the scale is not disruptive or unnecessarily costly, and is 
reviewed annually.

It has appropriate stakeholder buy-in, and is affordable but competitive.
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Variable remuneration
STIs
The table below illustrates the STI scheme in force in the 2014 and 2013 financial years:

STI scheme for executive directors, executive management and divisional executive management

Purpose and 
objective

➜➜ Ensures shareholders receive their targeted return on investment
➜➜ Appropriately balanced between company performance, divisional 
performance and individual performance.

Eligibility The scheme is designed for executive directors, company executive 
management and divisional executive management 

Maximum earning 
potential

Expressed as a percentage of TGP as set out below 

Position Earning potential (% of TGP)

Executive director and executive 
management 

200

Divisional executive management 100

Performance 
measures

The performance measures are as follows:
Company return on equity (RoE), with a linear vesting profile

<15% company RoE No executive bonus will be paid

15% to 17,5% of company RoE Executive bonus pool of 3,5% of 
company net profit after tax (NPAT)

17,6% to 20% of company RoE Executive bonus pool of 4,25% of 
company NPAT

>20% of company RoE Executive bonus pool of 5% of 
company NPAT

73 Basil Read  
integrated report 2014

Overview 2 – 19
Company performance 22 – 39

Divisional review 42 – 51
Governance 54 – 81
Sustainability 84 – 103

Summarised financial and shareholders’ information 104 – 148

 



Remuneration committee report continued

Divisional RoE, with a linear vesting profile to be applied to all staff 

<15% divisional RoE No executive bonus will be paid

15% to 17,5% divisional RoE Executive bonus pool of 3,5% of company net profit after 
tax (NPAT)

17,6% to 20% divisional RoE Executive bonus pool of 4,25% of company NPAT

>20% company RoE Executive bonus pool of 5% of company NPAT

The divisional/company bonus pool determined by the formula above will be further adjusted based on 
company performance (which acts as a modifier) as follows:

Divisional RoE adjusted by company RoE

<15% company RoE Divisional/company bonus pool to be reduced by 30%

15% to 20% company RoE Divisional/company bonus pool to be reduced by 15%

>20% company RoE No reduction of divisional/company bonus pool
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STI scheme for executive directors, executive management and divisional executive management

Performance 
conditions 
for financial 
year

FY2014 
In all cases, payment of STIs will be made after Remco considers the solvency and 
liquidity of the division and the company. If there is insufficient cash to meet the 
performance bonus payment, no payment will be made. RoE measures will be based 
on the company’s audited financial results. The method of calculation is set out below:

Measure Company 
RoE

Divisional 
RoE

Company 
RoE modifier

Total 
STI

Executive 
directors, 
executive 
management 
and divisional 
executives

=([Company 
RoE %]/[vesting 
target])*100

=([Divisional 
RoE %]/[vesting 
target])*100

=([Divisional 
RoE]*[% of 
modifier])*100

=[Company  
RoE x 0,50]+ 
[modified  
divisional  
RoE x 50%]

General 
provisions

➜➜ In exceptional circumstances, Remco, on recommendation from the CEO, may 
consider external and internal factors that could have contributed to thresholds 
not being met and may award purely discretionary STIs on an individual and 
divisional basis. This is in line with the King III recommendation that external 
factors beyond the control of executives be considered to a limited extent
➜➜ The company may pay STIs to all employees in support structures, considering 
the performance of individuals in achieving their objectives for the year through 
the company’s performance management system
➜➜ Site-based employees will be paid site bonuses according to site profitability and 
predetermined targets
➜➜ Bonuses for all employees based at the corporate office must be referred to the 
executive committee for approval.

Good leaver 
and bad 
leaver 
provisions

Provision will be made for good leavers.

Proposed 
changes in 
2015

The STI scheme will be revised in 2015.
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Remuneration committee report continued

LTIs
The share option scheme is a legacy scheme, and 
its outstanding options vested at the end of the 
2013 financial year. No further awards will be 
made in terms of this scheme.

The LTI arrangements for executives and senior 
managers are under review – see the forward-
looking component below. New LTIs will be 
implemented to achieve the following objectives:
➜➜ To drive longer-term sustainable performance 
in the company
➜➜ To align management and shareholder interests 
over the long term
➜➜ Manage retention of executives and key 
positions in the company.

Forward-looking component
Remco is considering changes to STI and LTI policies 
to maximise shareholder value. Once approved by 
the board, proposed changes to these schemes will 
be tabled at the 2015 AGM for shareholder approval. 
The mechanics of the proposed schemes will be 
disclosed in the 2015 remuneration report.

Dilution limits
Dilution limits for the proposed LTI scheme will be 
disclosed to shareholders for approval ahead of 
the 2015 AGM.

Executive and prescribed officer contracts 
of service
Executive directors and prescribed officers have 
contracts of employment with notice periods of up 
to three months. The normal retirement age for 
executive directors is 65. The company is not 
bound by any employment contracts to make 
balloon payments or severance payments in 
terminating employment. In the event of early 
termination, the company does not automatically 
award incentives to executives or prescribed 
officers, and any incentives awarded on early 
termination are at Remco’s discretion. The 
executives and prescribed officers are not subject 
to restraint of trade agreements. 

Non-executive directors
The board applies principles of good corporate 
governance with regards to directors’ 
remuneration and stays abreast of trends. 
Non-executive directors’ fees are recommended 
to the board by Remco, and then proposed to 
shareholders for approval at the AGM.

When determining the proposed level of non-
executive directors’ fees, Remco considers market 
practices and norms as well as additional 
responsibilities placed on board members by new 
legislation and corporate governance principles. 
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The company’s policy is that fees for non-executive 
directors are market-related but not linked to 
share performance. No bonuses or share incentives 
are awarded as these can create a potential conflict 
of interest.

Non-executive directors are reimbursed for 
expenses incurred in performing their duties on 
behalf of the company. 

PART II: IMPLEMENTATION
Guaranteed pay adjustments for 2014
In the 2014 financial year, base salaries were 
benchmarked against market data using the 
methodology described in part I and we confirmed 
that our guaranteed pay package is competitive. 
Average salary increases for executives and general 
staff in March 2014, for that financial year, were 
linked to inflation. Executives received an increase 
of 5,2%. 

2014 STI payments
Due to the company’s performance in 2014, none 
of the STI measures were met and no bonuses 
were paid to any executives. 

LTI awards made in 2014
No LTI awards were made in the review period. 
The deferred bonus payment made to the 
former CEO, Marius Heyns, in 2014 is detailed later. 

LTI awards vesting in 2014
No LTI awards vested in the review period.

Former CEO’s deferred bonus 
arrangement in 2014 
In terms of Mr Heyns’ five-year performance 
agreement, entered into in 2009 with the 
company, an additional deferred bonus would 
accrue to him if he met certain criteria for each 
year of that period: 
➜➜ Headline earnings per share increasing by at 
least a percentage equal to the spot rate as at 
30 September of each year of the RSA five-year 
retail bond rate plus 50%. 
➜➜ Cash flow from operating activities to be cash 
generative in each year. 

Accordingly, R10 million plus interest of 
R2,3 million was paid in full and final payment for 
this incentive which only accrued for the 2009 
financial year.

Executive directors’ and prescribed 
officers’ emoluments 
The tables reflecting the breakdown of annual 
remuneration for executive directors and 
prescribed officers for the years ended 
December 2014 and December 2013 are on 
pages 109 and 111. 

Non-executive directors
Current and proposed fees for non-executive 
directors are set out on page 110. The fees 
proposed for the 2015 financial year are 
unchanged from the 2014 financial year. This is the 
third consecutive year that these fees have 
remained unchanged.
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Risk committee report

Basil Read’s risk management philosophy commits to developing, embedding, cost 
effectively implementing and continually reviewing systems of internal control and 
enterprise-wide risk management (ERM) at all levels. 

BOARD

RISK COMMITTEE

BUSINESS UNITS

Top down strategic  
risk management➤

➤

Bottom up operational  
risk management

➤

➜ Review operational environment
➜ Set risk appetite and parameters
➜ Determine strategic action points

➜ Direct delivery of strategic actions
➜ Monitor key risk indicators

➜ Executive strategic actions
➜ Report on key risk indicators

➜ Report priority and emerging risks 
➜  Identify, evaluate, prioritise, mitigate and monitor 

operational risks recorded in risk register

➜  Consider completeness of identified risks and  
adequacy of mitigating actions

➜  Consider aggregation of risk exposures across business

➜  Assess effectiveness of risk management systems
➜ Report principal risks
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Overview
Basil Read’s risk management philosophy commits 
to developing, embedding, cost effectively 
implementing and continually reviewing systems 
of internal control and enterprise-wide risk 
management (ERM) at all levels. In line with its 
integrated risk management methodology, inherent 
risks are continuously reviewed with a particular 
focus on the effectiveness of mitigating controls. 

Risk and control considerations are being applied 
as an integral part of business decision-making and 
project execution. A key element of setting clear 
management objectives is the ERM framework 
that sets out activities, tools, techniques and 
organisational arrangements. The framework 
provides guidelines on how material risks facing the 
company can be better identified and understood, 
and that appropriate responses are in place to 
protect Basil Read and its customers, employees 
and community. This will help the company meet its 
goals, and enhance its ability to respond to 
new opportunities. 

Risk governance 
The board of directors is ultimately responsible for 
all risks in the company. The board has delegated 
responsibility for reviewing and monitoring risks 
across the company to the risk committee. The 
board is also responsible for approving risk 
appetite, which is the level of risk Basil Read 
chooses to take in pursuit of its business objectives. 
The chief risk officer presents a quarterly report to 

the board summarising developments in the risk 
environment and performance trends in the key 
portfolios. The board oversees management of the 
most significant risks by regularly reviewing risk 
exposures and related key controls. 

Executive management is responsible for assessing, 
controlling and mitigating all categories of risk, 
and fostering a company culture that will adhere 
to the philosophy and principles set out in the 
ERM framework. 

The members and meetings register of the risk 
committee are detailed in the governance report 
on page 58.

All employees participate in the company’s risk 
management, regardless of position, function or 
location. Basil Read employees are required to be 
familiar with risk management policies relevant to 
their activities, know how to escalate actual or 
potential risk issues, and have a role appropriate 
level of awareness of the ERM framework, risk 
management process and governance structures.

Material existing and emerging risks
The following information describes material risks 
on which senior management will focus and which 
could result in strategic objectives not being 
achieved. In addition, risks that are currently 
unknown, or deemed immaterial, may have a 
material adverse effect on the company’s future 
results and financial condition. 
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Risk committee report continued

Material risks

Regulatory
The regulatory landscape is becoming increasingly challenging, with a perceived lack of alignment between 
various regulatory bodies. Basil Read must comply with new regulatory requirements, as well as stakeholder 
expectations, in a way that supports performance objectives, sustains value and protects the brand.

Following the Competition Commission investigations, there is the risk of potential sanctions by the 
Construction Industry Development Board, which could include penalties and/or loss of accreditations 
required to procure work. 

In addition, amendments to the B-BBEE scorecard may affect the company’s sustainability if its 
rating deteriorates relative to its competitors.  

Liquidity 
Funding liquidity risk is the risk that the organisation will not be able to efficiently meet both expected 
and unexpected current and future cash flow and collateral needs without affecting daily operations or 
its financial condition. Working capital deterioration affects our ability to deliver on current projects 
or fund new projects. 

Tendering
The risk of inadequately evaluating and pricing a tender enquiry and subsequently being awarded a 
flawed contract remains a key risk category for the company.

Projects 
Failure to implement projects within time, budget and appropriate standards. In 2015, the focus will be on 
effective project management where the cost and extension of time consequences on large industrial 
projects due to various factors, results in protracted claims resolution processes. Potential control 
mechanisms are being investigated to mitigate this inherent risk to the business.

Reputational
The risk to earnings of negative public opinion affecting our existing and future business relationships.

Risk strategy 2015
The 2015 risk strategy contains elements that will assist in developing the maturity levels of our risk culture. 
These relate to organisational values, continuous learning and change management, strategic direction and 
results, and performance orientation to the discipline.
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Governance 
and strategic 
direction
➜➜ ➜There is senior 

management 
direction on the 
vision for 
integrated risk 
management

➜➜ ➜There is ongoing 
senior level 
oversight of the 
management of  
risk at all levels, 
effectiveness  
of risk 
management 
arrangements and 
adherence to risk 
management 
policies and 
framework.

Organisation values
➜➜ Functional (departmental) values recognise the presence of risk in all activities 
and the need to explicitly manage risk through mitigation, avoidance, transfer 
or share
➜➜ Functional (departmental) culture values good risk management as a key 
component of managerial excellence.

Results and 
performance
➜➜ ➜Relevant 

information on 
risk is gathered 
and used to make 
decisions

➜➜ ➜Performance of 
the risk 
management 
arrangements 
towards risk 
maturity is 
reported and 
measured.

Policy and programmes
➜➜ Defining and 
implementing risk 
management 
frameworks, policies, 
principles, processes 
and roles and 
responsibilities.

People
➜➜ Risk management 
competency and 
resources to be 
continuously reviewed 
and developed 
covering risk 
assessment, risk 
management and risk 
communication. These 
resources must be 
performance managed 
on risk.

Stakeholder engagement
➜➜ Stakeholder 
engagement is carried 
out on an ongoing 
basis to ensure needs, 
issues and concerns, 
risk perceptions and 
misperceptions are 
included in risk 
analysis and 
decision-making.

Risk management
➜➜ An effective balance 
is established 
between informal 
(intuitive) and formal 
(structured, 
systematic) risk 
management
➜➜ Risk is mitigated to 
acceptable levels.

Stewardship
➜➜ Indicators for results, 
risk and accountability 
are managed in an 
integrated manner.

Accountability
➜➜ Risk management 
roles and 
responsibilities 
are integrated into 
the departmental/
functional 
accountability 
mechanisms  
(job profiles, 
performance reviews, 
corporate scorecards, 
terms of reference).

Learning and change management
➜➜ Ongoing risk management learning is developed and implemented
➜➜ Change management principles and practices are applied.

The 2015 risk strategy will be implemented by embedding the following objectives:
➜➜ Embedding all risk policies and frameworks and driving their implementation 
➜➜ Enhancing risk management capabilities and reporting 
➜➜ Providing risk advisory services and support to all divisions on risk tools and procedures 
➜➜ Oversight of all risks in the organisation by staying informed and managing all risks
➜➜ Cultivating a risk culture by improving risk awareness and communication in the company
➜➜ Ensuring risk response strategies are in line with the set risk appetite and tolerance levels 
➜➜ Use secure insurance and reinsurance markets to insure against catastrophic incidents and losses beyond 
our risk-bearing capacity.

Sango Ntsaluba 
Chairman of the risk committee

8 May 2015
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Sustainability review

While Basil Read is a for-profit company, we understand that we interact with many 
different stakeholders. Mutually beneficial relationships ensure our corporate 
sustainability and a lasting positive impact for all our stakeholders.

Safety and health
Understanding that our business depends as much 
on the skill of our people as it does on our 
equipment, we focus on maintaining a safe and 
healthy workplace, supported by ongoing training.

As part of the strategic drive to take our safety, 
health and environmental (SHE) performance to 
the next level, we have split the safety, health, 
environment and quality (SHEQ) function into 
separate divisions, namely SHE and quality 
assurance, both reporting directly to the 
executive committee.

At Basil Read, our intent and commitment is 
defined in our revised SHE policies. This is 
practically implemented via a SHE management 
system that integrates hazard identification, risk 
analysis and risk management into all our activities, 
while our annual SHE plan is aligned with our 
business strategy and ensures the continuous 
improvement of the system. 

Our board, executive committee and managers 
at all levels keep the company focused on the 
ultimate goal of zero harm by monitoring progress 
against annual SHE targets at monthly and 
quarterly meetings.

Following surveillance audits in 2014, Basil Read 
retained both the OHSAS 18001 (occupational 
health and safety) and ISO 14001 (environment) 
certifications.

Safety
In addition to complying with safety regulations 
and putting necessary systems, policies and 
corporate standards in place, we also promote 
individual responsibility for safety throughout 
the organisation.

We continue to aim at proactively reducing the 
frequency and severity of injuries by reviewing 
our strategic safety objectives every year.

As a result, the company disabling injury frequency 
rate (DIFR) has been reduced from 0,79 in 2009 
to 0,17 in 2014. Although this is a lagging 
performance indicator, it is a tangible 
demonstration of management commitment 
in the journey towards zero harm.
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Regrettably, we recorded two fatal accidents during 
the year, both in the roads business unit in the 
construction division:
➜➜ On 21 March, Mfundo Manganye, a 
subcontractor employee, fell out of the bucket 
of a front-end loader while tensioning a 
conveyor belt and was fatally injured
➜➜ On 18 November, Patrick Mlangeni, employed 
by a subcontractor, was fatally injured by a 
tipper truck delivering asphalt to a road 
resurfacing project.

We again extend our sincere condolences to their 
families, friends and colleagues. Both incidents, and 
all others during the year where no lives were lost, 
were exhaustively investigated and lessons learned 
communicated to all sites across the company to 
prevent similar incidents.

Safety highlights for 2014 
Basil Read mining division 
The mining division finished the year with a 
DIFR of 0,05 which is below the set threshold of 
0,10. The following sites recorded notable safety 
performances in 2014:
➜➜ Blasting and Excavating Venetia – 1 367 798 
hours without a lost-time injury 
➜➜ Jwaneng – 1 953 844 hours without a lost-time 
injury.

The following sites achieved 500 000 LTI-free 
hours:
➜➜ Beeshoek 
➜➜ B&E workshop 
➜➜ Mapochs
➜➜ Maun BRM Venetia. 
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Sustainability review continued

Basil Read construction division 
The buildings business unit won the 2014 national 
Master Builders SA health and safety competition 
through its joint venture with Stefanutti Stocks, 
while the Kusile project was awarded first place in 
the Kusile Power Station 2014 regional health 
and safety competition, for achieving over 
500 000 LTI-free hours.

The following sites and divisions also recorded 
excellent safety performances in 2014 (over 
500 000 LTI-free hours):
➜➜ Medupi building project 
➜➜ Medupi ash dump 
➜➜ Medupi miscellaneous projects 
➜➜ Mediclinic Centurion 
➜➜ St Helena project 
➜➜ Redhouse Chelsea interchange 
➜➜ N5 Winburg. 

Focus for 2015 
➜➜ Further reduction in incidents 
➜➜ SHE risk management coaching 
➜➜ Aggressive implementation of visibly felt 
leadership across the company 
➜➜ Vehicle safety.

Occupational health
At Basil Read, we believe that protecting our 
employees is not just about keeping them safe 
at work, it is about helping them remain healthy 
by understanding the health risks as well as 
understand the safety and environmental risks.

In its first year of operation, the Basil Read 
in-house clinic conducted 3 953 medical 
examinations to determine fitness for work, and 
a medical surveillance programme comprising:
➜➜ Pre-employment 
➜➜ Periodic/annual 
➜➜ Exit medicals.  

These examinations are conducted at the head 
office-based clinic or on site using a mobile clinic, 
which had a steady flow of work throughout its 
first year in operation.

Due to the significantly high prevalence rate of 
employees with hypertension, we have introduced 
an additional service in the form of primary 
healthcare in the head office clinic. This will ensure 
Basil Read has a holistic, integrated and sustainable 
occupational healthcare system geared towards 
total wellness of its workforce. The primary 
healthcare service includes treatment of minor 
illnesses, management of chronic illnesses, a 
work-related injury management programme, 
as well as HIV awareness and testing.
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Total number of medicals year to date
3 130
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Optometric condition 4%

THC positive cannabis 67% 

Medical condition 29%

Un�t causes year to date 2014 Our people
Our success as a leading company in the 
construction and mining sectors is driven by each 
individual we employ locally and internationally. 
We believe that better business decisions – and 
stronger business performance – are driven by 
groups of competent, high-calibre individuals 
operating in a diverse environment.

In the review period, the company faced 
increasingly fierce competition, demanding clients, 
and economic pressures as well as financial and 
cash flow constraints that affected all employees. 

With the appointment of a new CEO in the latter 
part of 2014 and through the formation of a new 
executive committee and operational management 
team, we were able to stabilise any uncertainties 
among employees and realign our focus to 
streamline delivery in terms of operations and 
support services. 
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Sustainability review continued

Workforce data
Due to organisational and management changes, as 
well as the process of streamlining our operations 
and support services, total staff turnover in the 
review period was 13%.

Deceased 2

Contract expired 108

Retrenchments 131

Retired 18

Resignation 202

Dismissed 23

2014 staff turnover 

Employee engagement 
A fundamental principle in any successful 
organisation is that positive results are achieved 
only when all employees are engaged, feel valued 
and accept accountability for their actions. 
Communication across all levels is the starting 
point for achieving positive work relations and we 
have focused on ensuring regular communication 
goes out directly from the CEO’s office. This 
is gradually instilling a sense of security and 
appreciation among all employees after a 
very uncertain start to the year. 

To support the communications and employee 
participation strategy, the organisational 
development team will focus on organisational 
diagnostic assessments in 2015. As part of the 
change process of new management, these 
assessments will provide valuable information to 
establish an effective climate, culture and values 
in the business. The first assessment will evaluate 
the climate, culture and levels of work-related 
employee wellbeing. It will indicate human capital 
risks and strengths that management can use to 
establish a sustainable organisational climate and 
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culture. The second assessment will focus on 
identifying the diversity culture in the business to 
understand related limitations and strengths. This 
will assist management to improve diversity in the 
business. The third assessment will evaluate the 
current values of the business and identify any gaps 
between these and the core values of the business. 
This will enable management to cultivate united 
values and govern value-driven behaviour. 

Organisational transformation
Transforming Basil Read into a sustainable and 
reputable high-performing organisation for the 
next generation requires a process of business 
reformation through leadership with three 
specific milestones: 
➜➜ Firstly, leadership must set a clear purpose 
(vision), strategic intent (mission), and values for 
the business focused on the triple bottom line, 
ie to be the provider of choice, employer of 
choice, and investment of choice
➜➜ Next, leadership must design the business 
model and infrastructure (systems, processes 
and procedures) to support the organisational 
purpose and strategic intent
➜➜ Finally, leadership must establish a capability and 
capacity framework to empower employees to 
execute the strategic intent. 

Leaders then become ambassadors, rolemodels 
and coaches to continuously empower and 
support employees to execute the strategic intent 
and ensure the triple bottom line is achieved. 

The role of the human resources (HR) team in this 
process is to: 
➜➜ Facilitate the change (reformation) process 
➜➜ Set an HR vision (purpose of existence) aligned 
with the organisational vision 
➜➜ Translate the strategic intent into key 
performance areas for HR 
➜➜ Design and implement an HR model and 
infrastructure (systems, processes, toolkits and 
procedures) that support the business strategy 
➜➜ Develop and implement a capacity and 
capability framework to mobilise the strategic 
intent. These frameworks will be aligned with 
the general organisational infrastructure set by 
the leadership team 
➜➜ Empower leaders to transform the business by 
providing mechanisms to:
 • Sustain an effective climate and culture 
(employee engagement)

 • Align individual talent, values and intent to a 
specific goal or the tasks of a job (recruitment 
and selection)

 • Ensure continuous employee development 
 • Grow diverse talent in the business 
 • Monitor performance 
 • Communicate best HR practices
 • Offer coaching and individual support 
where needed. 
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Sustainability review continued

Organisational development
In 2014, the aim of the organisational development 
function was to instil new human capital systems 
and processes to improve quality, sustainability and 
governance in terms of human capital optimisation. 
New job profiles were developed for salaried 
employees after a comprehensive job analysis 
process. A new performance management system 
and procedure was also developed and 
implemented. In addition, a new talent 

management strategy, procedure and policy 
was developed. 

Training and development
In 2014, Basil Read invested over R10 million in 
the growth and development of its employees: 
1 064 employees (17%) were trained, with an 
average spend of over R9 000 per employee. The 
training type and approximate spend distribution 
are shown below:

Training type and spend distribution summary

Training cluster
Amount
R million 

Competency training (training needs analysis) 2,0

Special needs training (learnerships) 1,4

Operator training 1,4

Study assistance (bursaries and professional registrations) 3,3

Operational costs 2,0

Total 10,1
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Bursary scheme
Six bursars completed their studies in 2014 and were employed by the company. Seven new bursars (three 
black males, one black female, two Indian males, one coloured male) were selected. Through our holistic 
approach to financial support, Basil Read sponsors tuition fees, accommodation, meals and stationery costs. 

Breakdown of current bursars 

Study field
Gender Race Total

Male Female Black White Coloured Indian learners

Civil engineering 6 3 3 3 1 2 9

Quantity surveying 2 0 2 0 0 0 2

Construction management 3 1 3 1 0 0 4

Building science 2 0 2 0 0 0 2

Architecture 0 1 0 1 0 0 1

Industrial engineering 1 0 0 1 0 0 1

Law 0 1 0 0 0 1 1

Total 14 6 10 6 1 3 20

Learnerships and skills programmes
In the review period, 66 employees completed technical learnerships or skills programmes as shown below. 
In addition, eight learners will complete their diesel mechanic qualification in 2015 and six will complete 
their blasting certificate in the next year. 

Breakdown of programmes completed in 2014

Training 
programme

Gender Race Total
learnersMale Female Black White Coloured Indian

Foreman 
development 33 7 38 2 0 0 40

Carpenter apprentice 4 0 4 0 0 0 4

Construction 
management 6 0 1 5 0 0 6

Health and safety 6 1 7 0 0 0 7

Diesel mechanic 2 0 0 2 0 0 2

Learner blaster 7 0 1 6 0 0 7

Total 58 8 51 15 0 0 66
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Sustainability review continued

Continuous improvements implemented 
The training and development department 
continuously strives to improve its service to 
internal or external customers and constantly 
applies best practices. One of the continuous 
improvement initiatives in 2014 was to align 
standardised training courses with the 
competencies of new job profiles. This ensures 
an accurate training needs analysis via the 
performance management system and effective 
closing of competency gaps using standardised 
courses. From a quality perspective, the training 
and development department received a clean 
audit from an external assurer, and was 
complimented on its annual performance 
and improvements applied. 

Management development programme
One of the key focus areas in 2015 will be 
management development. Based on a managerial 
competency framework, an internal programme 
will be implemented to develop an estimated 
80 senior and middle managers on key skills. 

Supervisory development programme
A supervisory development programme will 
be implemented to equip foremen with the 
fundamental supervisory skills of planning, 
organising, leading and control. The aim is to 
train around 200 supervisors in 2015. 

Industrial and employee relations
In restructuring Basil Read, a voluntary separation 
process was initiated in October and concluded in 
December 2014. Through this process, we were 
able to restructure resources to better position the 
business in terms of operational delivery versus 
overhead cost. 

Basil Read aims to foster good working 
relationships with organised labour structures and 
monitor and resolve employee issues before they 
lead to industrial action.

Although the company enjoyed a relatively 
peaceful year from an industrial relations 
perspective, we are mindful that this stability was 
due to two main factors: there were no wage 
negotiations in 2014 for the construction or 
mining industries; and there was limited mass 
action on any of the mega projects (ie Medupi 
or Kusile). Industrial relations were mostly limited 
to internal matters. 

The only major related matter involved Matomo 
in terms of mass action at the Boshoff renewable 
energy site in Kimberley. This was mainly due to 
non-compliance with industry agreements by 
subcontractors working on this project, and 
exacerbated by subcontractors from various 
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bargaining sectors paying different wage rates on 
the same project. With the assistance and 
intervention of the Basil Read employee relations 
team, these issues were resolved and disruptions 
minimised on the affected projects.

We respect our employees’ right to union 
affiliation. Accordingly, management strives to 
develop productive partnerships with trade unions 
on collective bargaining and other issues. Notable 
developments during the year included:
➜➜ Bargaining council
 The civils sector bargaining council was enacted 

in December 2013. Basil Read plays an active 
role in the council and its committees.

➜➜ South African Federation of Civil Engineering 
Contractors (SAFCEC)

 Basil Read is actively involved in industry 
initiatives, with the group employee relations 
manager on the negotiations team representing 
employers at SAFCEC national wage 
negotiations.

➜➜ Labour law amendments
 Basil Read is preparing to comply with labour 

law amendments that came into effect on 
1 January 2015. This will affect workers sourced 
from labour brokers on some projects.

Training staff on related matters and managing 
disciplinary processes to ensure procedurally and 
substantively fair outcomes have remained a focal 
area. This contributed to a stable environment over 
the past year, minimising the number of matters 

referred to arbitration. The employee relations 
team has a very high success rate at the Council 
for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration 
(CCMA), reflecting that these matters are dealt 
with in a fair and correct manner within the 
parameters of labour law in South Africa. 

Employee wellness 
In January 2014, we established an in-house 
occupational health clinic that, in addition to related 
services, also provides basic medical evaluations for 
all employees. This allows individuals to monitor 
their health indicators regularly and seek medical 
assistance where necessary. 

We take a holistic approach to employee wellness 
and, through our healthcare brokers and medical 
aid administrators, we provide various services 
from employee wellness days, HIV/Aids testing and 
support to trauma and other counselling.

The gym facilities and restaurant in the corporate 
office also give employees the opportunity to 
follow a balanced lifestyle while at work.

International management strategy
Given that Basil Read has expanded its footprint 
into Africa, we have learned that intensive due 
diligence is essential in managing our people 
effectively. When seconding expatriates, we have 
secured the services of a psychologist who 
specialises in evaluating expatriates for their 
suitability to work on projects in foreign countries. 
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Sustainability review continued

We also take care to evaluate managers on their 
ability to provide the required support to 
employees working in high-risk areas. This reduces 
the risk of exposure to global threats and protects 
our employees, assets and reputation.

Partnering with specialist service providers on 
expatriation and cross-border remuneration, over 
the past three years we have developed and 
implemented a solid cross-border policy and 
framework for expatriation procedures, 
remuneration and benefits. Our employees are 
remunerated generously and fairly for their sacrifice 
and commitment when working in foreign countries. 

The international St Helena airport project is 
a good example of the internal expertise and 
excellence within the business, from project 
and logistics management to human capital 
management.

Transformation and employment equity 
Employment equity profiles
We continue to support South Africa’s broad-
based black economic empowerment (B-BBEE) 
initiatives aimed at growing the economy by 
empowering previously disadvantaged citizens. 

Our support is centred on three focus 
areas: B-BBEE, employment equity and 
enterprise development.

Basil Read is actively addressing the targets of 
employment equity through developmental change, 
transitional change and transformation change. 
Significant progress has been made across all 
occupational levels in meeting legislative stipulations.
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Employment equity profile for Basil Read Limited, which incorporates key construction operations only

Occupational Male Female
Foreign 

nationals
levels B C I W B C I W Male Female Total

Top management 1 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 1 0 6

Senior 
management 3 0 2 26 0 0 0 1 1 0 33

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-management 26 5 14 100 6 1 4 10 5 0 171

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers, 
junior management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents 706 23 5 149 43 8 2 61 15 1 1 013

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making 567 12 2 3 38 2 2 5 3 0 634

Unskilled and 
defined decision-
making 978 44 0 7 176 8 0 2 0 0 1 215

Total permanent 2 281 84 23 287 264 19 8 80 25 1 3 072

Temporary 
employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand total 2 281 84 23 287 264 19 8 80 25 1 3 072
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Sustainability review continued

Broad-based black economic empowerment
Construction sector and dti generic scorecard
During the year, Basil Read maintained its level 2 
contributor rating based on the construction 
sector scorecard. 

The dti issued revised codes of good practice in 
October 2013 which will come into effect on 
1 May 2015. The seven elements we were 
previously measured on have been reduced to five 
(with three designated as priority elements*):
➜➜ Ownership*
➜➜ Management control
➜➜ Skills development*
➜➜ Enterprise and supplier development* 
➜➜ Socio-economic development (SED).

The process to align the construction sector 
scorecard with the revised dti codes is under way 
with the assistance of the construction sector 

charter council. The impact of the revised codes on 
our current status will only become apparent once 
the alignment process is complete. 

Enterprise development
Basil Read’s enterprise development is an essential 
tool to address economic growth, unemployment, 
gender equality, health and other poverty-related 
issues. With proper financial and infrastructure 
support in the form of mentorship programmes, 
skills transfer, loans, integrated support systems, 
increased accessibility to finance or job creation, 
poverty reduction strategies will be achieved. 

Given that enterprise development is the key 
to economic growth, our related initiatives 
concentrate on investing time and capital in 
assisting people to establish, expand or improve 
businesses or income-generating activities that 
contribute to the local economy.

Basil Read enterprise development beneficiaries 2014

Beneficiary

Black 
ownership

%

Black 
women

 ownership
%

B-BBEE 
recognition

 level

BR-Tsima Construction 90,6 20,86 Level 3

Medja Construction 100 0 Level 3

Makali Plant and Construction 65 15 Level 2

Triple E Construction 100 50 Level 3

Makgetsi Construction Enterprise 100 60 Level 2

Anquet Construction Solution 100 10 Level 2
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Quality 
Basil Read is committed to continuous 
improvement of both our internal corporate 
management structures and the physical works we 
complete daily for our many clients. We strive to 
complete projects to world-class delivery and 
construction standards.

Basil Read maintained its ISO 9001 certification 
in 2014. For 2015, we will align the mining and 
construction divisions under one, new certification 
body (BSI or British Standards Institution). By the 
end of 2015, BSI will have completed all required 
recertification audits, taking over where the last 
certification body (NQA) left off.

Safety, health, environment and quality are essential 
to our business, and are inter-related. Achieving the 
required standards in each field is the responsibility 
of line management.

Splitting the previously integrated SHEQ system 
into separate safety, health, environment and quality 
systems will allow for more focused management 
structures, and better control of these functions. As 
part of this process, Basil Read is reviewing and 
updating related company management systems, 
with a dedicated team mandated to set up and 
roll out the new quality systems.

Under the new company management system, 
standards are drafted at corporate level, approved 
and set for the company. At business unit level, 
these group standards are applied, and if required, 

revised in line with the exact requirements of that 
business unit. Finally, individual projects in 
each business unit can amend the standard to 
be project-specific, in line with client and 
project requirements. 

Using this approach, we ensure we are always 
operating in line with international and national 
guidelines, and that guidelines are specific to the 
requirements of each project. This will ensure 
that the team on the ground will manage the 
works accordingly.

In the review period, Basil Read completed a 
number of detailed investigations into troubled 
projects to identify key drivers that contributed to 
poor project performance. Two main issues were 
identified. Firstly, due to the size, diversity and 
location of the numerous Basil Read operations, 
many key “lessons learned” were not being 
successfully fed back into the system to be used 
as corporate standards, or best practice guidelines. 
Accordingly, we are developing a centralised 
IT-based information repository, which will house 
all company documents, and be accessed by 
nominated personnel when new projects are being 
set up. Secondly, while we have good control over 
our own internal contributions to projects, in many 
cases this has been affected by the poor quality 
and business management systems of our 
subcontractors. To manage this better, we are 
developing a company-wide site management 
manual that emphasises subcontractor tracking, 
control and management.
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Sustainability review continued

The quality assurance department will continue to 
ensure that all Basil Read works are completed in 
line with the appropriate, approved standards, 
while updating existing approved standards to 
ensure they are fit for purpose in today’s 
construction market. 

Environment
Overview of the environmental policy
Respect for the environment is important for our 
business. We strive to minimise harm by conducting 
our activities in an environmentally responsible 
manner. Our goal is to go beyond compliance to 
conserve and protect our natural resources. 

The company’s SHE system is a tool to measure 
our environmental performance against our key 
performance indicators (KPIs).

Key activities during the year
Our 2014 response to the global carbon disclosure 
project (CDP) was scored at 86 D, which the 
adjudicators considered a notable achievement for 
a company being scored for the first time. 
Our disclosure compared favourably with JSE top 
100 average scores on governance and strategy, 
and risks and opportunity management. 

Performance
Carbon emissions
Our carbon emission report was compiled according 
to ISO 14064:1, ENCORD, as well as the greenhouse 
gas (GHG) protocol guidelines, and covered only 
activities over which we have control. By applying 
these principles, the GHG inventory is a fair 
representation of the company’s GHG emissions.

In line with international best practice, data was 
collected on direct emissions (scope 1), indirect 
emissions (scope 2) and other indirect emissions 
(scope 3). Direct emissions are those from sources 
owned or controlled by the company. An indirect 
emission is the consequence of the company’s 
activities, but occurs at sources owned or 
controlled by another company. While the 
boundaries of scope 1 and 2 emissions are clearly 
defined, scope 3 presents more of a challenge. This 
additional voluntary disclosure requires surveying 
an organisation’s entire supply chain, as well as 
those of its suppliers. Basil Read elected to include 
scope 3 emissions in its carbon footprint in the 
interest of transparent reporting. 

Our carbon footprint quantifies and reports 
emissions associated with the following activities:
➜➜ Scope 1: fossil fuel consumption – diesel 
and petrol
➜➜ Scope 2: use of national electricity grid
➜➜ Scope 3: business travel (road and air).
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Operations – scope 1 and 2
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Basil Read’s 2014 carbon emissions 
(scope 1 and 2)

Scope 3 11%

Scope 25%

Scope 1 84%

All emissions – scope 1, 2 and 3

The 2014 carbon footprint has increased to 
75 209 tonnes CO2e from 72 928 tonnes in 2013.

2014 2013

Emission intensity

Employee intensity 13,84 11,54
Financial intensity 0,012 0,012

Water 
Water affects the triple bottom line of many 
businesses. Its availability has an impact on 
economic development, social upliftment and the 
wellbeing of the environment. As a business, our 
risk lies in stricter controls on water access for use. 

Basil Read monitors water consumption at its 
operations. The company used 255 203 kℓ of 
water in its activities for 2014 (2013: 263 196 kℓ). 
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Sustainability review continued

To save water, rain water from building roofs and 
ground water from the subsoil drainage system is 
collected in storage tanks and used for irrigation, 
alleviating pressure on the municipal water supply. 

Waste 
Basil Read’s waste management plan ensures that 
waste management is properly implemented. We 
continue to separate our waste to comply with 
legislation, and to reduce our impact on the 
environment. In managing our waste, we follow 
the waste hierarchy, namely:
➜➜ Prevention (most favoured option)
➜➜ Minimisation
➜➜ Reuse
➜➜ Reduce
➜➜ Recycle
➜➜ Energy recovery
➜➜ Disposal (least favoured option).

Key challenges
Climate change 
Global climate change (caused by GHG) has been 
identified as a risk, where detrimental weather events 
and temperature extremes will have a direct effect 
on our construction operations, rendering sites 
unworkable (flood events) and affecting the health 
and safety of our workforce. The company has 

identified its risks (below), and we continue to 
monitor our carbon emissions to assist us in reaching 
our carbon emission reduction target.

Our risks include:
➜➜ Carbon tax – driven by changes in regulation
➜➜ Delays in projects, damage to sites, concrete 
pouring hampered by extreme temperatures 
– driven by physical climate parameters
➜➜ Irreversible damage to projects, lack of 
availability of water – driven by changes in 
precipitation (flash flooding, drought).

Environmental incidents
Basil Read has implemented an INX system where 
environmental incidents are reported in order to 
better manage incidents, and to prevent the 
reoccurrence of such. It is a system requirement 
that an investigation be conducted for every 
incident reported. Significant environmental 
incidents were reported at the company’s pipeline 
project in Steelpoort, which is an environmentally 
sensitive project. The most common environmental 
incidents reported relate to minor spillages. We 
are aiming for continuous improvement in our 
management of environmental incidents, in line 
with our objective of preventing pollution.
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Environmental awareness
Our developments business unit believes that 
planting trees is one of the most practical ways to 
preserve South Africa’s natural heritage. In our 
integrated mixed-use developments, such as 
Cosmo City and now Savanna City, it was critical 
to optimise environmental awareness among 
community residents. In partnership with Food and 
Trees for Africa, a non-governmental organisation, 
and Johannesburg City Parks, we have planted and 
distributed hundreds of trees in these communities.

We also started an earthworm farm to produce 
our own environmentally friendly organic fertiliser. 
We established nurseries at Cosmo City and 
Savanna City to propagate trees and we are 
planting these trees in other projects, eg Rolling 
Hills and Malibongwe Ridge.

Looking ahead
Across the company, we continue to improve on 
the following SHE management practices:
➜➜ Energy and carbon footprint
➜➜ Water
➜➜ Waste
➜➜ Incident reporting. 

At all times and on every site, we strive to use 
natural resources conservatively and protect the 
environment to the best of our ability.

Corporate social investment (CSI) 
In 2014, the social, ethics and transformation 
committee mandated management to review its 
current CSI policy, strategy and initiatives. Working 
with an external expert, the executive committee 
and operational management are assessing CSI 
initiatives across the company.

CSI highlights for 2014
➜➜ Alldays landfill site – upgrading and legalising a 
refuse disposal facility
➜➜ Recreational facilities upgrade – Venetia 
building a municipal swimming pool and 
revamping existing facilities 
➜➜ Medupi leadership programme – detailed below.

As a key member in the Medupi leadership 
initiative, we invested in the Drylands and life skills 
projects. These are run by independent third 
parties and we are updated on progress 
and implementation:
➜➜ The life skills project focuses on picture-based 
learning through two modules (financial literacy and 
drive your life). All our wages employees on the 
Medupi site had completed both training modules 
by the end of 2014. This has proven to be of great 
value for the company and the workers
➜➜ The Drylands project (in cooperation with 
the Department of Environmental Affairs) 
aims to offer demobilised Medupi workers 
opportunities to acquire skills in related fields.
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Sustainability review continued

Participating in this initiative has given us the 
opportunity to seek alternative employment for 
our demobilised workers while offering them 
empowering life skills. 

Community engagement
Establishing and maintaining meaningful, lasting 
relationships based on honesty and trust with our 
host communities is key to successfully executing 
our projects. With single projects hosted by 
multiple communities, good communication, 
negotiation and conflict handling skills are essential. 
The ability of our social facilitation team to 
consider the needs, interests and wishes of 
each group while balancing their diverse powers 
in the engagement process makes our 
projects sustainable.

Setting clear objectives to avert ambiguities in 
future and manage expectations are critical at 
project implementation stage. Fostering 

partnerships with host communities, lobbying their 
support, participation, advice (as knowledge bases) 
and making them part of generating solutions 
reinforces the relationship. 

Throughout the lifecycle of our projects, there is 
ongoing consultation, communication and regular 
progress feedback. Our ability to respond to 
community requests on time prevents conflict, 
minimising the risk of work disruptions and making 
our projects economically viable. Production teams 
have been inducted on access protocols to ensure 
established relationships are not compromised. 

For each project in communities where we have a 
direct impact, we make a difference through job 
creation opportunities and portable skills training 
to enhance self-reliance and self-sufficiency. This 
aligns with our pledge of building legacies, which 
underpins our business.
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Case study: 
Alldays Combined 
School – teaching 
programme

Basil Read Mining has provided the Alldays 
Combined School with four qualified 
teachers to alleviate the shortage of tutors.

The aim is to promote accounting, 
mathematics and science in disadvantaged 
schools. Textbooks, calculators and writing 
equipment were distributed to the higher 
grades and winter schools initiated to 
prepare grade 12 learners for their final 
exams (some 2 000 learners attended). 

One of new teachers, Mubeni Jerrifanos, 
encouraged his students to write an essay 
for a chance to represent the school at the 
summer school run by Waterloo University 
in Canada. Student Tshepo Sementa was 
invited to attend this event with his teacher. 
This was a singular highlight for all 
concerned, including Basil Read.
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Summarised financial information
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Directors’ responsibility statement

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, Basil Read 
Holdings Limited has, in respect of the financial year reported upon, lodged with the Registrar of Companies all returns required of a public 
company in terms of the above mentioned Act and that all such returns are true and up to date.

A Ndoni
Company secretary

8 May 2015

Certificate by company secretary

The directors have pleasure in presenting the summarised consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 and 
the complete consolidated and company annual financial statements for the same period (included in the 2014 financial report) (collectively 
the financial statements). The consolidated and company annual financial statements were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc, who 
expressed an unmodified opinion thereon. The audited consolidated and company annual financial statements and the auditors’ report 
thereon are available on the company’s website, (www.basilread.co.za), or are available for inspection at the company’s registered office. 
The summarised consolidated financial statements are extracted from audited information, but are not themselves audited.

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements of Basil Read Holdings Limited 
and its subsidiaries. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and 
include amounts based upon judgements and estimates made by management.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, consistently 
applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS that they consider to be applicable have been 
followed. The directors are satisfied that the information contained in the financial statements fairly presents the results of operations for the 
year and the financial position of the group at year-end. The directors also prepared the other information included in the annual report and 
are responsible for both its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept. The accounting records should disclose with reasonable 
accuracy the financial position of the group companies to enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
relevant legislation.

Basil Read Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries operate in a well-established control environment, which is well documented and regularly 
reviewed. This incorporates risk management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing the business are being controlled.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, since the directors have no reason to believe that the group will 
not be a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources. These financial statements support the 
viability of the company and the group.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 8 May 2015 and are signed on their behalf by:

 
PC Baloyi  NF Nicolau
Chairman Chief executive officer

8 May 2015 8 May 2015
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Summarised consolidated annual financial statements

These consolidated annual financial statements comprise a summary of the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the group 
for the year ended 31 December 2014 that were approved by the board on 8 May 2015.

The summarised consolidated annual financial statements are not the group’s statutory accounts and do not contain all the disclosures 
required by IFRS. Reading the summarised consolidated annual financial statements, therefore, is not a substitute for reading the audited 
consolidated annual financial statements of the group, as they do not contain sufficient information to allow for a complete understanding of 
the results and state of affairs of the group. The audited consolidated annual financial statements are available online at www.basilread.co.za, 
or are available for inspection at the company’s registered office. The annual financial statements have been audited by the group’s auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. The summarised consolidated financial statements are extracted from audited information, but are not 
themselves audited.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The summarised consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the JSE Limited’s (JSE) requirements  
for summarised financial statements, and the requirements of the Companies Act applicable to summarised financial statements.  
The JSE requires summarised financial statements to be prepared in accordance with the framework concepts and the measurement and 
recognition requirements of IFRS, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, and to also, as a minimum, contain the information required by 
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, from which 
the summarised consolidated financial statements were derived, are in terms of IFRS and are consistent with the accounting policies applied 
in the preparation of the previous consolidated annual financial statements.

The summarised consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain items, including 
derivatives and investment property that are stated at fair value, and are presented in South African rand, which is the parent company’s 
presentation currency.

The significant accounting policies and methods of computation are consistent in all material respects with those applied in the previous 
period. The summarised consolidated annual financial statements should be read with the full set of annual financial statements as available 
on the company’s website.

The financial statements were prepared by the chief financial officer, Amanda Wightman CA(SA), and approved by the board of directors 
on 8 May 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

 
PC Baloyi  NF Nicolau
Chairman Chief executive officer

8 May 2015 8 May 2015
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

The directors present their 30th integrated report, which forms part of the audited financial statements of the company and of the group 
for the year ended 31 December 2014.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
Basil Read is one of the top construction companies in South Africa. The company is listed on the JSE Limited and its subsidiary companies 
are active in the areas of civil engineering, road construction, building, mixed integrated housing developments, property development, 
bitumen distribution, opencast mining, blasting and excavating. These subsidiaries operate throughout sub-Saharan Africa.

DIVIDENDS
No dividend was declared in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014.

A special dividend of 175 cents per share was declared on 14 March 2013 following the completion of the disposal of  TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd. 
The dividend was paid to shareholders on 24 June 2013.

SHARE CAPITAL
There was no change to the issued share capital of the company in the 2014 and 2013 financial years.

OPERATING RESULTS
The summarised financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the group for the year ended 31 December 2014 are set out 
on pages 116 to 136.

The group made a loss after taxation from continuing operations of R742 million (2013: profit of R91 million) during the year under review.

The group made a loss after taxation from discontinued operations of R79 million (2013: profit of R190 million) during the year 
under review.

GOING CONCERN
At the statement of financial position date, the current liabilities of the group exceed the current assets by R417 million. The group has 
R0,9 billion in undrawn facilities with various financial institutions as at 31 December 2014.

The order book for the 2015 financial year is largely secure and the group is forecasting a return to profitability. Operating cash flows in 
the 2015 year are expected to be cash generative and provide a positive indicator of the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

To further support liquidity, the following actions are being taken:
➜➜ Refinancing of the R125 million bond maturing in June 2015 – negotiations are ongoing with the current bondholder.  Alternative 
investors are also being sought. Refer to note 6 for further information regarding the maturing bond.
➜➜ Disposal of non-core assets – plans to dispose certain non-core assets are under way, with the disposal of LYT having been completed 
in February 2015. Further disposals are expected to yield between R200 million and R300 million in cash.
➜➜ Resolution of outstanding claims – management is advancing the claims resolution process where applicable in order to resolve claims as 
speedily as possible while ensuring that the company is fairly rewarded for actual work done.

The directors, therefore, have no reason to believe that the group will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future and for this reason 
have prepared the financial statements on a going-concern basis.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
The group acquired property, plant and equipment to the amount of R339 million (2013: R255 million) during the year.

INVESTMENTS
Subsidiaries
On 1 April 2014, the group acquired the entire issued share capital of Hytronix (Pty) Ltd for a cash consideration of R4,2 million. The core 
business of Hytronix is the construction of mining equipment.

On 1 December 2014, the group disposed of its 51% stake in AngloAfrican Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd for no consideration, resulting in the 
recognition of a loss on disposal of R1,8 million.
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Directors’ report continued

Associates
On 1 November 2014, the company disposed of its 20% stake in BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd for no consideration. The transaction 
resulted in the company recognising a profit on disposal of R0,7 million.

During the year, the company disposed of its 23% stake in Metrowind (Pty) Ltd, resulting in the recognition of a loss on disposal of 
R10,5 million. The company subsequently acquired a 23% stake in Rubicept (Pty) Ltd, owner of the Metrowind Van Stadens wind farm in 
Port Elizabeth.

BORROWINGS 
Interest-bearing borrowings comprise instalment sale agreements and a domestic medium-term note programme. During the year, 
borrowings increased due to an increase in the domestic medium-term note programme, which was partly offset by the repayment of 
instalment sale agreements.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
Basil Read concluded the disposal of LYT Architecture on 1 February 2015 for a purchase consideration of R42 million.

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
Details of shareholder categories are set out on page 137 of this report.

DIRECTORATE
The following were directors of the company during the year under review:

Paul Cambo Baloyi* Independent non-executive director, chairman

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni# Independent non-executive director, chairman

Neville Francis Nicolau^ Chief executive officer, managing director

Terence Desmond Hughes~ Interim chief executive officer, interim managing director, non-executive director

Marius Lodewucus Heyns• Chief executive officer, managing director

Amanda Claire Wightman+ Chief financial officer, financial director

Andrew Conway Gaorekwe Molusi Non-executive director 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba Non-executive director 

Thabiso Alexander Tlelai Non-executive director 

Charles Peter Davies∆ Independent non-executive director 

Doris Liana Theresia Dondur◊ Independent non-executive director 

Mahomed Salim Ismail Gani■ Independent non-executive director 

Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila∆ Independent non-executive director 

Claudia Estelle Manning Independent non-executive director 

* Appointed as chairman 1 January 2015
# Retired 31 December 2014
^ Appointed 1 September 2014
~  Appointed as interim chief executive officer 1 June 2014; resigned as interim chief executive officer 31 August 2014; appointed as non-executive director  

1 January 2015
• Retired 30 May 2014
+ Appointed 13 October 2014
∆ Retired by rotation 26 June 2014
◊ Appointed 24 June 2014
■ Appointed 15 April 2015
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DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS

Executive directors

Cash portion 
of package

 R 
Benefits*

 R 

Incentive 
bonus

 R 

Gain 
on share 
options

 exercised
 R 

Total
 R 

2014
Paid by Basil Read Limited
Marius Lodewucus Heyns#  1 253 327  208 797 12 324 775  – 13 786 899
Terence Desmond Hughes^  701 471  13 498  –  –  714 969 
Neville Francis Nicolau~  1 459 513  224 552  –  –  1 684 065 
Amanda Claire Wightman•  482 435  74 141  –  –  556 576 

 3 896 746  520 988 12 324 775  – 16 742 509

2013
Paid by Basil Read Limited
Marius Lodewucus Heyns  3 099 397  470 925  10 921 036  –  14 491 358 
Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia+  1 206 521  216 450  2 000 000  –  3 422 971 
Pieter Jacob Marais∆  1 196 214  189 926  –  –  1 386 140 

 5 502 132  877 301  12 921 036  –  19 300 469 
Paid by TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd
Nigel John Townshend◊  548 716  86 106  –  –  634 822 

 6 050 848  963 407  12 921 036  –  19 935 291 

* Benefits include the company’s contribution towards medical aid and provident fund
#  Retired 30 May 2014. The incentive bonus for Mr Heyns refers to the long-term incentive bonus which accrued to him and was paid in March 2014, calculated in 

terms of the long-term incentive policy as disclosed in the 2013 annual financial statements. Refer to page 77 for further information
^ Appointed 1 June 2014; resigned 31 August 2014
~ Appointed 1 September 2014
• Appointed 13 October 2014
+ Resigned 30 May 2013
∆ Appointed 30 May 2013; resigned 22 November 2013
◊ Resigned 12 March 2013

Non-executive directors

Services 
as director

 R 
Total

 R 

2014
Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni*  1 198 000  1 198 000 
Andrew Conway Gaorekwe Molusi  470 000  470 000 
Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#  490 000  490 000 
Thabiso Alexander Tlelai#  444 000  444 000 
Paul Cambo Baloyi  620 000  620 000 
Charles Peter Davies^  383 500  383 500 
Doris Liana Theresia Dondur~  262 500  262 500 
Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila^  266 000  266 000 
Claudia Estelle Manning  530 500  530 500 

 4 664 500  4 664 500 

* Retired 31 December 2014
# Paid to the companies that these directors represent
^ Retired by rotation 26 June 2014
~ Appointed 24 June 2014
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Directors’ report continued

Non-executive directors

Services 
as director

 R 
Total

 R 

2013
Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni  956 000  956 000 
Andrew Conway Gaorekwe Molusi∆  424 667  424 667 
Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#  381 500  381 500 
Thabiso Alexander Tlelai#  599 000  599 000 
Paul Cambo Baloyi  540 833  540 833 
Charles Peter Davies  768 500  768 500 
Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila  570 500  570 500 
Claudia Estelle Manning  493 500  493 500 

 4 734 500  4 734 500 
∆ Appointed 14 March 2013
# Paid to the companies that these directors represent

Directors’ fees for the 2014 financial year were paid according to the following table:

With effect from 1 January 2014
 Member

R 
 Chairman

R 

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 
Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 
Audit committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 
Audit committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Risk committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Social, ethics and transformation committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Social, ethics and transformation committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Nominations and investment committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Ad hoc meetings – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Directors’ fees are reviewed annually. It is proposed that directors’ fees remain unchanged as follows:

With effect from 1 January 2015
 Member

R 
 Chairman

R 

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 
Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 
Audit committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 
Audit committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Risk committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Social, ethics and transformation committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Social, ethics and transformation committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Nominations and investment committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Ad hoc meetings – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

These fees have been waived by the executive directors. Fees are paid quarterly in arrears.
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Cash portion 
of package

 R 
Benefits*

 R 

Incentive 
bonus

 R 

Gain 
on share 
options

 exercised
 R 

Total
 R 

Prescribed officers
2014
Christopher John Erasmus#■  1 417 181  249 465  –  –  1 666 646 
Antonie Fourie# 2 119 823 267 861  –  – 2 387 684
Olivier Jean-Paul Giot  2 706 213  –  –  –  2 706 213 
Guenther Hellhoff•  977 409  133 793  –  –  1 111 202 
Terence Desmond Hughes+  935 295  17 997  –  –  953 292 
James Stephen Johnston  2 133 424  336 653  –  –  2 470 077 
Khathutshelo Mapasa∆  1 219 939  180 147  –  –  1 400 086 
Avinash Naidoo◊  1 116 954  155 862  –  –  1 272 816 
Andiswa Ndoni  1 489 095  252 297  –  –  1 741 392 
Amanda Claire Wightman#>  1 447 303  222 421  –  –  1 669 724 

15 562 636 1 816 496  –  – 17 379 132

2013
Christopher John Erasmus#  2 077 619  352 593  –  –  2 430 212 
Antonie Fourie#  1 938 497  235 959  2 000 000  –  4 174 456 
Digby John Glover#~  466 630  67 972  –  –  534 602 
Guenther Hellhoff  1 631 851  223 446  500 000  –  2 355 297 
Avinash Naidoo  1 059 034  138 482  –  –  1 197 516 
Amanda Claire Wightman#^  353 769  43 866  83 333  –  480 968 

7 527 400 1 062 318 2 583 333  – 11 173 051

Three next highest earners
2014
Employee A  1 858 217  273 062  –    –    2 131 279 
Employee B  1 688 870  254 028  –    –    1 942 898 
Employee C  1 681 734  217 655  –    –    1 899 389 

 5 228 821  744 745  –    –    5 973 566 

2013
Employee A  1 788 807  295 848  1 500 000  –    3 584 655 
Employee B  2 357 224  78 763  –    –    2 435 987 
Employee C  1 863 807  236 761 – –  2 100 568 

 6 009 838  611 372  1 500 000  –    8 121 210 

* Benefits include the company’s contribution towards medical aid, provident fund and expatriate costs
# Paid by group subsidiary companies
■ Until 30 September 2014
• Until 30 June 2014
+ From 1 September 2014
∆ From 1 May 2014
◊ Until 14 November 2014
> Until 12 October 2014
~ Until 12 March 2013
^ From 22 November 2013

The following prescribed officers received once-off payments in the 2014 financial year :
R 

Christopher John Erasmus 5 330 000
Guenther Hellhoff 1 620 000
Terence Desmond Hughes 1 600 000
Avinash Naidoo 770 000

9 320 000
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Directors’ report continued

DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EQUITY-SETTLED INSTRUMENTS
Executive directors
The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014:

 Number 

 Average 
strike price 

R

 Average
 exercise price

R 

Marius Lodewucus Heyns
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  380 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments lapsed during the year due to resignation  (380 000)  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  –  13,95 

Amanda Claire Wightman
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  32 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  32 000  13,95 

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2014.

The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013:

 Number 

 Average 
strike price 

R

 Average
 exercise price

R

Marius Lodewucus Heyns
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  380 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  380 000  13,95 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  105 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments lapsed during the year due to resignation  (105 000)  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  –  13,95 

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2013.
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Prescribed officers
The following prescribed officers held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014:

 Number 

 Average 
strike price 

R

 Average
 exercise price

R 

Christopher John Erasmus
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  145 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments lapsed during the year due to resignation  (145 000)  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  –  13,95 

Antonie Fourie
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  90 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  90 000  13,95 

Olivier Jean-Paul Giot
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  105 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  105 000  13,95 

James Stephen Johnston
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  90 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  90 000  13,95 

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2014.
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

The following prescribed officers held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013:

 Number 

 Average 
strike price 

R

 Average
 exercise price

R 

Christopher John Erasmus
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  145 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  145 000  13,95 

Antonie Fourie
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  90 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  90 000  13,95 

Amanda Claire Wightman
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  32 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  32 000  13,95 

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2013.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN SHARE CAPITAL
The interests, direct and indirect, of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows:

Direct Indirect

2014
Number

2013
Number

2014
Number

2013
Number

Beneficial
Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba  6 986  6 986  2 776 939  2 776 939 
Thabiso Alexander Tlelai  –  –  2 774 953  2 774 953 
Neville Francis Nicolau  –  – 100 000 –
Christopher John Erasmus  –  147 628  –  – 

6 986  154 614  5 651 892  5 551 892 

Shares held by associates  –  –  –  – 

6 986  154 614  5 651 892  5 551 892 

The company’s directors did not trade in shares between year-end and the date the financial statements were authorised for issue.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
The direct interests of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows:

 Number 
of unissued

 shares 

% of 
unissued 

shares

% held 
once shares 

issued

2014
Direct
Antonie Fourie  90 000 7,35  0,07 
Olivier Jean-Paul Giot  105 000 8,58  0,08 
James Stephen Johnston  90 000 7,35  0,07 
Amanda Claire Wightman  32 000 2,61  0,02 

2013
Direct
Marius Lodewucus Heyns  380 000  20,52  0,29 
Christopher John Erasmus  145 000  7,83  0,11 
Antonie Fourie  90 000  4,86  0,07 
Amanda Claire Wightman  32 000  1,73  0,02 

The right to the unissued shares are in terms of the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme. 

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS PASSED BY SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
The following special resolutions were passed by subsidiary companies during the year ended 31 December 2014:
➜➜ Special resolution by Basil Read Holdings Limited, in its capacity as shareholder of Basil Read Limited, authorising Basil Read Limited to 
provide financial assistance to its subsidiaries and other group companies in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008, as amended
➜➜ Special resolution by Basil Read Holdings Limited, in its capacity as shareholder of Basil Read Limited, authorising Basil Read Limited to 
convert from a private to public company and adopt a new memorandum of incorporation. 

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc will continue in office in accordance with section 90(6) of the Companies Act. At the annual general meeting, 
shareholders will be requested to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as the group’s auditors for the 2015 financial year.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary is Ms Andiswa Ndoni.

REGISTERED OFFICE 
The Basil Read Campus 
7 Romeo Street 
Hughes extension 
Boksburg 
1459

POSTAL ADDRESS 
Private Bag X170 
Bedfordview 
2008 
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated income statement

Notes
 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue  6 502 407  6 218 152 
Contracting revenue  6 173 315  6 000 301 
Other revenue – development fees  193 699  40 086 
Other revenue – construction materials and services  135 393  177 765 
Contracting and other costs  (6 247 101)  (5 346 990)
Other administrative and operating overheads  (585 524)  (500 053)
Depreciation, impairment and amortisation of fixed assets  (562 967)  (323 088)
Other income  4  506 
Other (losses)/gains – net  (13 056)  6 701 

Operating (loss)/profit  (906 237)  55 228 
Interest received  29 605  45 035 
Foreign exchange  (688)  33 031 
Interest paid  (55 119)  (65 396)

(Loss)/profit before share of profit from investments accounted for using the 
equity method  (932 439)  67 898 
Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method  39 539  45 166 

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (892 900)  113 064 
Taxation  150 682  (21 691)

Net (loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations  (742 218)  91 373 

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Net loss for the year from discontinued operations 1  (78 661)  (3 079)
Profit on disposal of discontinued operations  –  257 332 
Tax on disposal  –  (64 156)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (820 879)  281 470 

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the company  (789 938)  310 742 
Non-controlling interests  (30 941)  (29 272)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (820 879)  281 470 

(Loss)/earnings per share (cents) 2  (599,87)  235,97 
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents) 2  (599,87)  235,97 
(Loss)/earnings per share from continuing operations (cents) 2  (540,14)  98,54 
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share from continuing operations (cents) 2  (540,14)  98,54 
(Loss)/earnings per share from discontinued operations (cents) 2  (59,73) 137,43
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share from discontinued operations (cents) 2  (59,73) 137,43
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (820 879)  281 470 
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss  12 860  7 900
Movement in foreign currency translation reserve  12 936 12 003
Movement in fair value adjustment reserve  (76)  (5 043)
Fair value adjustment  (95)  (5 043)
Foreign exchange difference  19  – 
Deferred tax effect on other comprehensive income  – 940

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  (808 019) 289 370

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year attributable to 
the following:
Equity shareholders of the company  (775 921) 314 158
Non-controlling interests  (32 098) (24 788)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  (808 019) 289 370
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as at 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

Notes
 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000 

ASSETS
Non-current assets  1 669 708  1 914 321 
Property, plant and equipment 3  1 080 248  1 138 147 
Investment property  5 826  5 730 
Intangible assets 4  99 938  411 829 
Investments accounted for using the equity method  24 532  125 566 
Loans to investments accounted for using the equity method  107 268  61 029 
Deferred income tax assets  300 607  120 636 
Available-for-sale financial assets  477  572 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  50 812  50 812 
Current assets  2 552 957  2 804 193 
Inventories  33 067  41 958 
Development land  268 022  363 120 
Contract and trade debtors 5  1 169 111  974 237 
Receivables and prepayments  114 849  97 408 
Derivative financial instruments  –  2 577 
Current income tax assets  57 093  66 768 
Cash and cash equivalents  910 815  1 258 125 
Non-current assets held for sale  53 112  – 

Total assets  4 275 777  4 718 514 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves  1 133 544  1 909 465 
Stated capital  1 048 025  1 048 025 
Retained earnings  61 513  851 451 
Other reserves 24 006 9 989
Non-controlling interests  (97 992)  (38 207)

Total capital and reserves  1 035 552  1 871 258 

Non-current liabilities  259 965  309 768 
Interest-bearing borrowings 6  215 898  263 086 
Deferred income tax liabilities  44 067  46 682 
Current liabilities  2 970 241  2 537 488 
Trade and other payables  2 282 411  2 138 276 
Current income tax liabilities  5 011  38 273 
Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 6  273 594  163 314 
Loans from investments accounted for using the equity method  –  5 938 
Derivative financial instruments  223  1 395 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges  318 766  134 651 
Bank overdraft  90 236  55 641 
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale  10 019  – 

Total equity and liabilities  4 275 777  4 718 514 
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated statement of changes in equity

 Share 
capital 
 R’000 

Treasury
shares
R’000

 Foreign
 currency

 translation
 reserve* 

 R’000 

 Fair 
value

 adjustment
 reserve 

 R’000 

 Retained
 earnings 

 R’000 

 Total 
attributable 
to owners 

of the
 parent 
 R’000 

 Non-
controlling

 interests 
 R’000 

 Total 
equity 
 R’000 

Balance at 1 January 2013  1 048 037 (12)  1 252  (377)  750 654  1 799 554  24 768  1 824 322 
Disposal of subsidiary  –  –  4 989  709  –  5 698  (15 272)  (9 574)
Transactions with minorities  –  –  –  –  20 518  20 518  (20 518)  – 
Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  7 519  (4 103)  310 742  314 158  (24 788)  289 370 
Dividends paid  –  –  –  –  (230 463)  (230 463)  (2 397)  (232 860)

Balance at 31 December 2013  1 048 037 (12)  13 760  (3 771)  851 451  1 909 465  (38 207)  1 871 258 
Disposal of subsidiary  –  –  –  –  –  –  1 777  1 777
Capital distribution to non-controlling interests  –  –  –  –  –  –  (29 464)  (29 464)
Net loss for the year  –  –  –  –   (789 938)  (789 938)  (30 941)  (820 879)
Other comprehensive income for the year  –  –  14 093  (76) – 14 017  (1 157)  12 860

Balance at 31 December 2014  1 048 037 (12)  27 853  (3 847)  61 513  1 133 544  (97 992)  1 035 552 

*  The foreign currency translation reserve is the result of exchange differences arising from the translation of the group’s foreign operations to the group’s presentation currency, the rand.
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes
 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (201 655)  (2 715)
Cash generated by operating activities 7  (118 330)  284 427 
Net finance (costs)/income  (25 310)  13 670 
Dividends paid  (4)  (232 640)
Taxation paid  (58 011)  (68 172)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (45 593)  689 926 
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 3  (188 939)  (212 283)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  62 908  93 101 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  (3 847)  – 
Disposal of subsidiaries  (37)  839 214 
Acquisition of jointly controlled entity  –  (1)
Advances made to jointly controlled entities  (16 118)  (15 354)
Advances recovered from jointly controlled entities  5 234  – 
Disposal of associate  86  – 
Advances made to associates  (161)  (20 468)
Advances recovered from associates 8 499  5 711 
Dividends received from associates 86 782  – 
Disposal of available-for-sale financial asset  –  6 
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (116 838)  (506 682)
Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings 6 100 000  125 000 
Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings 6  (187 374)  (618 432)
Repayments of other borrowings  –  (13 250)
Capital distribution to non-controlling interest parties  (29 464)  – 
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  (2 734)  (23 767)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  (366 820)  156 762 
Cash and cash equivalents – at the beginning of the year  1 202 484  1 045 722 

Cash and cash equivalents – at the end of the year  835 664  1 202 484 

Included in cash and cash equivalents as per the statement of financial position  820 579  1 202 484 
Included in the assets of the disposal group  15 085  – 

 835 664  1 202 484 
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements

 2014 
R’000

 2013 
R’000

1. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
The assets and liabilities relating to LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd (part of the engineering 
segment) were presented as held for sale in the current year following the approval of 
the board of directors to sell the company. The sale was concluded on 1 February 2015.

ASSET AND LIABILITIES
Assets of company classified as held for sale
Property, plant and equipment  3 700  – 
Intangible asset  8 352  – 
Deferred income tax assets  205  – 
Contract and trade debtors  21 310  – 
Current income tax asset  860  – 
Receivables and prepayments  3 514  – 
Cash and cash equivalents  15 171  – 

 53 112  – 

Liabilities of company classified as held for sale
Trade and other payables  9 933  – 
Bank overdraft  86  – 

 10 019  – 

INCOME STATEMENT OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Revenue  82 403 276 554
Expenses  (160 857) (279 361)
Net finance income  892 846

Profit before taxation of discontinued operations  (77 562) (1 961)
Taxation  (1 099) (1 118)

Profit after taxation of discontinued operations  (78 661) (3 079)
Movement in fair value adjustment reserve  –  – 

Profit for the year from discontinued operations  (78 661) (3 079)

CASH FLOWS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Operating cash flows  (7 857) 15 414
Investing cash flows  (1 425) (3 259) 
Financing cash flows  –  – 

Total cash flows  (9 282) 12 155
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000 

2. EARNINGS PER SHARE
(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (599,87)  235,97 
The calculation of (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss after 
taxation of R789 937 994 (2013: profit of R310 741 569) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (362,08)  86,99 
The calculation of headline (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated 
headline loss after taxation of R476 809 019 (2013: profit of R114 558 128) and 
the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904  
(2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (599,87)  235,97 
The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss  
after taxation of R789 937 994 (2013: profit of R310 741 569) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (362,08)  86,99 
The calculation of diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share is based on the  
consolidated headline loss after taxation of R476 809 019 (2013: profit of  
R114 558 128) and the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of  
131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (540,14)  98,54 
The calculation of (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss after 
taxation of R711 276 794 (2013: profit of R129 762 586) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (540,14)  98,54 
The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss 
after taxation of R711 276 794 (2013: profit of R129 762 586) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (59,73)  137,43 
The calculation of (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated (loss)/profit 
after taxation of R78 661 000 (2013: profit of R180 979 183) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (59,73)  137,43 
The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated  
(loss)/profit after taxation of R78 661 000 (2013: profit of R180 979 183) and the 
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904  
(2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Reconciliation between basic (loss)/earnings, diluted (loss)/earnings and headline 
(loss)/earnings is as follows:
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings  (789 938)  310 742 
Adjusted by the after tax effect of the following:

Loss/(profit) on sale of subsidiary  1 479  (193 176)
Loss on sale of associate  8 010  – 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (730)  (1 470)
Impairment of goodwill  304 370  – 
Fair value gains on revaluation of investment property  –  (1 538)

Headline (loss)/earnings  (476 809)  114 558 
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2. EARNINGS PER SHARE continued

 Number 
‘000 

 Number
 ‘000 

Reconciliation between weighted average number of shares and diluted weighted 
average number of shares:
Weighted average number of shares  131 686  131 686 
Adjusted by: “A” ordinary shares  –  – 
Adjusted by: Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme  –  – 

Diluted weighted average number of shares  131 686  131 686 

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 Land and 
buildings 

R’000

 Plant and 
equipment 

R’000

 Furniture 
and fittings

R’000 
 Total 
R’000

At 1 January 2013
Cost  26 599  2 276 385  39 912  2 342 896 
Accumulated depreciation  (2 320)  (1 046 111)  (22 338)  (1 070 769)

Net book amount  24 279  1 230 274  17 574  1 272 127 

Year ended 31 December 2013
Opening net book amount  24 279  1 230 274  17 574  1 272 127 
Additions  11 841  230 355  12 752  254 948 
Disposals  (571)  (91 543)  820  (91 294)
Depreciation  (5)  (315 626)  (8 661)  (324 292)
Exchange differences  14  29 178  –  29 192 
Transferred to investment property  (2 534)  –  –  (2 534)

Closing net book amount  33 024  1 082 638  22 485  1 138 147 

At 31 December 2013
Cost  33 499  2 392 322  51 015  2 476 836 
Accumulated depreciation  (475)  (1 309 684)  (28 530)  (1 338 689)

Net book amount  33 024  1 082 638  22 485  1 138 147 

Year ended 31 December 2014
Opening net book amount  33 024  1 082 638  22 485  1 138 147 
Additions  –  336 145  2 929  339 074 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  – 1 004 5 1 009
Disposals  –  (61 964)  (47)  (62 011)
Depreciation   –   (334 422)  (7 982)  (342 404)
Exchange differences  21  10 107  5  10 133 
Transferred to assets held for sale  –  (349)  (3 351)  (3 700)

Closing net book amount  33 045  1 033 159  14 044  1 080 248 

At 31 December 2014
Cost  33 386  2 609 671  44 810  2 687 867 
Accumulated depreciation  (341)  (1 576 512)  (30 766)  (1 607 619)

Net book amount  33 045  1 033 159  14 044  1 080 248 
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Book value of plant and equipment subject to instalment sale agreements is as follows:

 Land and 
buildings 

R’000

 Plant and 
equipment 

R’000

 Furniture 
and fittings

R’000 
 Total 
R’000

At 31 December 2014
Instalment sale agreements
Cost  –  692 922  –  692 922 
Accumulated depreciation  –  (314 746)  –  (314 746)

 –  378 176  –  378 176 

At 31 December 2013
Instalment sale agreements
Cost  –  670 073  –  670 073 
Accumulated depreciation  –  (283 371)  –  (283 371)

 –  386 702  –  386 702 

A full register of the group’s land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered office.

Assets under construction, included in plant and equipment, amount to R30,8 million (2013: R13,3 million).

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Goodwill 
R’000

 Contract-based
 intangibles 

R’000
 Total 
R’000

At 1 January 2013
Cost  439 789  80 177  519 966 
Accumulated amortisation  –  (74 874)  (74 874)
Accumulated impairment  (32 403)  –  (32 403)

Net book amount  407 386  5 303  412 689 

Year ended 31 December 2013
Opening net book amount  407 386  5 303  412 689 
Amortisation charge  –  (860)  (860)

Closing net book amount  407 386  4 443  411 829 

At 31 December 2013
Cost  439 789  80 177  519 966 
Accumulated amortisation  –  (75 734)  (75 734)
Accumulated impairment  (32 403)  –  (32 403)

Net book amount  407 386  4 443  411 829 
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued

 Goodwill 
R’000

 Contract-based
 intangibles 

R’000
 Total 
R’000

Year ended 31 December 2014
Opening net book amount  407 386  4 443  411 829 
Acquisition of subsidiary  1 691  –  1 691 
Amortisation charge  –  (860)  (860)
Impairment – continuing operations  (222 212)  –  (222 212)
Impairment – discontinued operations  (82 158)  –  (82 158)
Transferred to assets held for sale  (8 352)  –  (8 352)

Closing net book amount  96 355  3 583  99 938 

At 31 December 2014
Cost 433 128  80 177 513 305
Accumulated amortisation  –  (76 594)  (76 594)
Accumulated impairment  (336 773)  –  (336 773)

Net book amount  96 355  3 583  99 938 

Goodwill is allocated to the company’s cash-generating units identified according to the business segments that fall within the larger 
operating segment that are expected to benefit from the business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated 
to the following business segments:

 2014 
R’000 

 2013 
R’000 

Construction  96 355  282 097 
Mining  –  34 779 
Developments  –  – 
Engineering  –  90 510 

 96 355  407 386 

The group tests goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if there are indicators that goodwill might be impaired. The 
recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit (CGU) is determined based on value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell calculations. 
The value-in-use calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a 
one-year period. Cash flows beyond the one-year period are extrapolated to perpetuity using an estimated growth rate as stated 
below. Inputs to the calculations are based on past experience.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2014 are as follows:
 Construction  Mining  Developments  Engineering 

Growth rate ranges (nominal) 0% – 7% 0% – 5% n/a 0% – 7%
Discount rate (nominal) 15,1% 14,1% n/a 14,3% 

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2013 are as follows:

 Construction  Mining  Developments  Engineering 

Growth rate ranges (nominal) 3,5% – 5,0% 3,5% – 5,0% n/a 5% – 10,0%
Discount rate (nominal) 15,2% 15,2% n/a 15,2%
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued
The goodwill is considered to have an indefinite life. Goodwill is tested for impairment and any subsequent losses are taken to the 
income statement.

The impairment charge in the current year is due to the expected financial performances of the Gerolemou/Mvela group, the Blasting & 
Excavating group, the Valente group, LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd and Hytronix (Pty) Ltd. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been 
determined based on value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell calculations. The value-in-use calculations are pre-tax cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a one-year period. For each of the CGUs with a significant 
amount of goodwill the key assumptions, long-term growth rate and discount rate used in the value-in-use calculations are as per the 
table below. In addition, where there has been an impairment loss in a CGU, the recoverable amount is also disclosed below:

Gerolemou/
Mvela group

Blasting &
 Excavating 

group
Valente 

group

LYT 
Architecture 

(Pty) Ltd
Hytronix 
(Pty) Ltd

2014
Revenue (R’000) 1 125 220 571 536 30 112 82 403  11 541 
Operating (loss)/profit (%) (6,2) 0,9 (8,5) 2,7 0,3
Pre-tax discount rate (%) 15,1 14,1 15,1 14,3 14,1
Recoverable amount of the CGU (R’000)  141 580  204 657  22 690  78 754  2 566 
1% change in growth rate* 13 654 37 255 1 318 12 059 977
1% change in discount rate* (11 612) (24 960) (261) (7 998) (656)
1% change in growth and discount rate* (699) 2 931 793 1 361 76

2013
Revenue (R’000) 921 795 415 879 170 229 86 428  n/a 
Operating (loss)/profit (%) 0,7 6,8 (10,1) 15,8  n/a 
Pre-tax discount rate (%) 15,2 15,2 15,2 15,2  n/a 
Recoverable amount of the CGU (R’000)  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a

Value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell calculations determined according to the method detailed above resulted in the group 
recognising an impairment charge as follows:

 R’000 

Gerolemou/Mvela group  170 240 
Blasting & Excavating group  34 779 
Valente group 15 502
LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd  82 158 
Hytronix (Pty) Ltd  1 691 

 304 370 

No class of asset other than goodwill was impaired.

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd has been determined to have 
a finite life based on the expected duration of the property development. It is being amortised over a maximum period of 
120 months, of which 50 months are remaining.

The amortisation charge has been included in “Depreciation, impairment and amortisation” in the income statement.

* Increase/(decrease) in the recoverable amount if the growth rate and the discount rate had been higher or lower by 100 basis points, with all other 
variables held constant.
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 2014 
R’000

 2013 
R’000

5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS
Contract debtors  626 181  762 562 

Contract debtors  634 911  771 446 
Provision for impairment of contract debtors  (8 730)  (8 884)

Trade receivables  116 795  27 939 
Trade receivables  117 774  29 278 
Provision for impairment of trade receivables  (979)  (1 339)

Retention debtors  47 669  54 045 
Retention debtors  52 303  58 410 
Provision for impairment of retention debtors  (4 634)  (4 365)

Work in progress  378 466  129 691 
Costs incurred to date  5 011 498  8 667 324 
Profit recognised to date  234 434  389 159 
Progress payments received and receivable  (4 867 466)  (8 926 792)

 1 169 111  974 237 

Contract debtors to the value of R12 million (2013: R12 million) of Blasting & Excavating (Pty) Ltd are ceded as security for the 
bank overdraft facilities in place. At year-end, the total utilised overdraft facility amounted to Rnil (2013: Rnil).

The age analysis of contract debtors, trade receivables and retention debtors is as follows:

31 December 2014

Contract debtors

Fully 
performing

R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  252 761  31 970  –  284 731 
Multinational mining companies  14 538  44  –  14 582 
Listed companies  95 198  646  1 716  97 560 
Unlisted companies  183 957  47 059  7 014  238 030 
Individuals  8  –  –  8 

 546 462  79 719  8 730  634 911 

The age analysis for contract debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  31 392  19 612  28 715  79 719 

No security is held against these balances.
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued

Trade receivables

Fully 
performing

R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  96 056  –  –  96 056 
Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 
Listed companies  146  –  –  146 
Unlisted companies  10 442  10 131  979  21 552 
Individuals  20  –  –  20 

 106 664  10 131  979  117 774 

The age analysis for trade receivables balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  4 352  5 394  385  10 131 

No security is held against these balances.

Retention debtors

Fully 
performing

R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  26 370  7 494  2 274  36 138 
Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 
Listed companies  9 233  –  1 888  11 121 
Unlisted companies  4 572  –  472  5 044 
Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 40 175  7 494  4 634  52 303 

The age analysis for retention debtors that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  –  –  7 494  7 494 

No security is held against these balances.
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5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued
31 December 2013
Contract debtors

Fully
 performing

R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  439 326  1 734  –  441 060 
Multinational mining companies  73 972  2 176  –  76 148 
Listed companies  101 115  21 371  4 118  126 604 
Unlisted companies  106 739  10 592  4 003  121 334 
Individuals  5 407  130  763  6 300 

 726 559  36 003  8 884  771 446 

The age analysis for contract debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  13 560  14 932  7 511  36 003 

No security was held against these balances.

Trade receivables
Fully 

performing
R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  1 034  –  –  1 034 
Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 
Listed companies  –  –  –  – 
Unlisted companies  18 991  7 914  1 339  28 244 
Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 20 025  7 914  1 339  29 278 

The age analysis for trade receivables balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  –  4 569  3 345  7 914 

No security was held against these balances.
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued
Retention debtors

Fully performing
R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  36 706  1 500  2 236  40 442 
Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 
Listed companies  15 472  –  2 129  17 601 
Unlisted companies  367  –  –  367 
Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 52 545  1 500  4 365  58 410 

The age analysis for retention debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  –  –  1 500  1 500 

No security was held against these balances.

The fair values of the group’s contract debtors, trade receivables, retention debtors and work in progress approximate their carrying 
values due to their short-term nature and are denominated in the following currencies:

 2014 
R’000

 2013
R’000 

South African rand  961 594  738 669 
United States dollar  707  25 720 
Botswana pula  136 574  172 710 
Euro  –  1 541 
British pound  4 297  16 188 
Mozambican meticais  4 677  19 409 
Sierra Leonean leone  8  – 
Zambian kwacha  61 254  – 

 1 169 111  974 237 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of contract debtors are as follows:

 2014 
R’000

 2013
R’000 

At the beginning of the year  8 884  7 625 
Provision for impairment  1 428  2 756 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  –  (48)
Unused amounts reversed  (1 636)  (1 724)
Foreign exchange differences  54  275 

 8 730  8 884 
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5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued

Movements on the group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

 2014 
R’000

 2013
R’000 

At the beginning of the year  1 339  739 
Provision for impairment  –  600 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  –  – 
Unused amounts reversed  (360)  – 

 979  1 339 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of retention debtors are as follows:

 2014 
R’000

 2013
R’000 

At the beginning of the year  4 365  968 
Provision for impairment  269  4 365 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  –  – 
Unused amounts reversed  –  (968)

 4 634  4 365 

The creation and release of provision for impaired contract debtors, trade receivables and retention debtors have been included in 
“Contracting and other costs” in the income statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when 
there is no expectation of recovering amounts due.

The other classes within contract and trade debtors do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The group 
may hold payment guarantees from contract and trade debtors as security.

The group has the following amounts due from top five debtors:

Number of 
customers

Value
R’000

 % of contract 
and trade 

debtors 
 % of total 

revenue 

31 December 2014 5 503 731 43,1% 7,7%

31 December 2013 5 497 860 51,1% 7,9%

The group has the following credit risk per geographical segment:

Region
 2014 
R’000

 2013 
R’000

South Africa  882 302  585 702 
Rest of Africa  246 078  226 151 
Rest of world  40 731  162 384 

 1 169 111  974 237 
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued
The group has classified its contract and trade debtors into the following categories:
➜➜ Government
➜➜ Multinational mining companies
➜➜ Listed companies
➜➜ Unlisted companies
➜➜ Individuals.

Government debtors encompass all debtors to central governments, government institutions and parastatals across all geographies. 
Typically, government debt tends to have little or no risk as default on this type of debt indicates a failed state situation. Different 
countries’ governments will have different levels of risk associated with them, however, depending on the credit rating of the country 
concerned. Examples of government debtors include the government of St Helena, Eskom and SANRAL.

Multinational mining companies refers to large mining corporations that operate across a variety of geographies and tend to be 
blue-chip organisations. Given their relative financial strength, they are generally considered to have a reasonably good credit rating. 
Examples include the De Beers group and Assmang Limited.

Listed companies encompass all companies that are listed on a registered stock exchange in any country. Typically, a listed company 
should have relatively good governance structures and be administered in terms of strict laws and regulations. While it is not 
impossible for a listed entity to fail, given the relative transparency required, it is likely that there would be indicators of distress that 
would allow the group to take corrective action in the event that it would be required. 

Unlisted companies are typically smaller entities that are not listed on a registered stock exchange in any country, and are generally 
considered to be associated with higher levels of credit risk. Indicators of distress may be difficult to identify given the lack of public 
information available for these entities.

Individuals generally carry the highest level of credit risk. Certain of the group’s smaller entities may perform work for individuals but 
this is typically not the group’s core customer group, given the relatively high credit risk.
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 2014 
R’000

 2013 
R’000

6. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
Instalment sale agreements
Total amount outstanding  262 484  301 099 
The instalment sale agreements for plant and equipment bear interest between the prime 
overdraft rate plus 3% and prime less 2% per annum and are repayable in monthly instalments 
of between R2 857 and R1 588 183 over a period of between one and five years.

The agreements are secured by plant and equipment with a book value of  
R378 175 627 (2013: R386 702 181). Refer to note 3 for further details.

Domestic medium-term note programme

Total amount outstanding  227 008  125 301 
On 17 December 2013, the group raised R125 million under this programme. The unlisted 
note, BSR11U, was settled on 20 December 2013 and bears interest at the three-month 
ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 2,10%. Interest is payable quarterly and the capital sum is payable 
on 20 June 2015. The interest rate applicable at year-end was 8,183%.

On 23 July 2015, the group raised R60 million under this programme. The listed note, BSR12, 
was settled on 25 July 2014 and bears interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate 
plus 2,65%. Interest is payable quarterly and the capital sum is payable on 25 January 2016.  
The interest rate applicable at year-end was 8,725%.

On 23 July 2015, the group raised R40 million under this programme. The listed note, BSR13, 
was settled on 25 July 2014 and bears interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate 
plus 2,90%. Interest is payable quarterly and the capital sum is payable on 25 July 2016. The 
interest rate applicable at year-end was 8,975%.   

 489 492  426 400
Less: Current portion transferred to current liabilities  (273 594)  (163 314)
Instalment sale agreements  (146 586)  (163 013)
Domestic medium-term note programme  (127 008)  (301)

Total non-current interest-bearing borrowings  215 898  263 086 

The present value of future minimum payments on instalment sale agreements is as follows:
Due within the next 12 months  146 586  163 013 
Due between one and five years  115 898  138 086 
Thereafter  –  – 

 262 484  301 099 

The present value of future minimum payments on the domestic medium-term note 
programme is as follows:
Due within the next 12 months  127 008  301 
Due between one and two years  100 000  125 000 
Thereafter  –  – 

 227 008  125 301 

The fair value of interest-bearing borrowings is as follows:
Instalment sale agreements  262 484  301 099 
Domestic medium-term note programme  227 008  125 301 

 489 492  426 400 

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in  
the following currencies:
South African rand  454 394 349 909
Botswana pula  35 098 76 491

 489 492 426 400

The company has R0,9 billion (2013: R1,1 billion) undrawn facilities at the end of the year. These facilities are annual facilities and are 
subject to review at various dates during 2015.
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

 2014
R’000 

 2013 
R’000

7. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating (loss)/profit  (984 691)  324 886 
Adjustment for non-cash items:  740 358  81 884 
Depreciation  342 404  324 292 
Impairment loss  304 370  – 
Write down of development land  80 565  22 572 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (897)  (1 807)
Loss/(profit) on sale of subsidiary  1 818  (288 514)
Loss on sale of jointly controlled entity  –  31 182 
Loss on sale of associate  9 846  – 
Fair value adjustment  1 392  (6 701)
Amortisation of intangible assets  860  860 

Operating cash flow  (244 333)  406 770 
Movements in working capital:  126 003  (122 343)
Inventories  8 891  39 278 
Development land  14 533  16 683 
Contract and trade debtors  (213 866)  (90 620)
Receivables and prepayments  (21 027)  1 790 
Trade and other payables  153 357  (61 210)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges  184 115  (28 264)

Cash generated by operating activities  (118 330)  284 427 

Excluded from the cash flow statement are additions to fixed assets amounting to 
R150,1 million (2013: R42,7 million) which were funded by instalment sale agreements.
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8. SEGMENT REPORT
The company mainly operates in South Africa and sub-Saharan Africa. The company’s client base consists mainly of government and 
mining institutions.

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the strategic executive committee that 
are used to make strategic decisions.

The committee manages the business in terms of four segments: construction, developments, engineering and mining. Assets and 
liabilities are allocated to each of these segments and are managed accordingly.

In terms of revenue and profitability, the construction segment has been further broken down into buildings, civil engineering and 
roads to be consistent with the internal reporting reviewed by the committee.

Although the developments segment does not meet the qualitative thresholds required by IFRS 8, management has concluded that this 
segment should be reported, as it is closely monitored by the strategic executive committee as a growth area with a unique risk profile.

Intersegment revenue is charged at market rates prevailing at the time of the transaction. The revenue from external customers 
reported to the strategic executive committee is measured in a manner consistent with that in the income statement.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive committee with respect to assets are measured in a manner consistent with that 
of the financial statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the asset.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive committee with respect to liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that 
of the financial statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment.

The segment information provided to the strategic executive committee for the reportable segments for the year ended 
31 December 2014 is as follows:

Operating
 profit 

%
Construction

R’000

Develop-
ments
R’000

Engineering
R’000

Mining
R’000

Intersegment 
elimination

R’000
 Total 
R’000

Revenue 4 984 123  223 810 168 178 1 261 574  (135 278)  6 502 407 
Buildings  1 125 220  –  –  –  –  1 125 220 
Civil engineering  1 340 651  –  –  –  (426)  1 340 225 
Roads  2 518 252  –  –  –  (56 519)  2 461 733 
Mining  –  –  –  1 261 574  (60 833)  1 200 741 
Developments  –  223 810  –  –  –  223 810 
Engineering  –  – 168 178  –  (17 500)  150 678 
Operating profit  (13,94)  (732 931)  (64 088)  (103 059)  (6 159)  –  (906 237)
Buildings  (21,37)  (240 404)  –  –  –  –  (240 404)
Civil engineering  (30,19)  (404 603)  –  –  –  –  (404 603)
Roads  (3,57)  (87 924)  –  –  –  –  (87 924)
Mining  (0,51)  –  –  –  (6 159)  –  (6 159)
Developments  (28,64)  –  (64 088)  –  –  –  (64 088)
Engineering  (68,40)  –  –  (103 059)  –  –  (103 059)
Depreciation  (144 141)  (112)  (4 498)  (193 653)  –  (342 404)
Impairment of goodwill  (185 742)  –  (82 158)  (36 470)  –  (304 370)
Net finance income/(costs)  3 842  (12 258)  (523)  (17 263)  –  (26 202)
Property, plant and equipment  563 287  3 073  7 480  506 408  –  1 080 248 
Additions to property, plant and 
equipment  144 466  167  3 107  191 334  –  339 074 
Goodwill  96 355  –  –  –  –  96 355 
Inventories  15 034  –  –  18 033  –  33 067 
Cash and cash equivalents  698 638  9 370  1 380  111 191  –  820 579 
Interest-bearing borrowings  292 569  –  –  196 923  –  489 492 
Order book  6 665 274  100 000  –  3 773 675  –  10 538 949 
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

8. SEGMENT REPORT continued
The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2013 is as follows:

Operating
 profit 

%
Construction

R’000

Develop-
ments
R’000

Engineering
R’000

Mining
R’000

Intersegment 
elimination

R’000
 Total 
R’000

Revenue  4 685 474  69 897 603 726  956 958  (97 903)  6 218 152
Buildings  921 795  –  –  –  –  921 795 
Civil engineering  1 373 307  –  –  –  –  1 373 307 
Roads  2 390 372  –  –  –  (62 528)  2 327 844 
Mining  –  –  –  956 958  (21 597)  935 361 
Developments  –  69 897  –  –  –  69 897 
Engineering  –  – 603 726  –  (13 778) 589 948
Operating profit 0,89  12 057  (16 311) 618  58 864  – 55 228
Buildings  0,68  6 286  –  –  –  –  6 286 
Civil engineering  (2,40)  (32 998)  –  –  –  –  (32 998)
Roads  1,67  38 769  –  –  –  –  38 769 
Mining  6,29  –  –  –  58 864  –  58 864 
Developments  (23,34)  –  (16 311)  –  –  –  (16 311)
Engineering  0,10  –  – 618  –  – 618
Depreciation  (157 441)  (117)  (214)  (166 520)  –  (324 292)
Impairment of goodwill  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Net finance income/(costs)  47 111  (13 585)  3 614  (24 470)  – 12 670
Property, plant and equipment  614 208  3 018  –  520 921  –  1 138 147 
Additions to property, plant and 
equipment  195 080  117  –  59 751  – 254 948
Goodwill  282 097  –  90 510  34 779  –  407 386 
Inventories  19 690  –  –  22 268  –  41 958 
Cash and cash equivalents  1 037 413  2 672  73 813  88 586  –  1 202 484 
Interest-bearing borrowings  204 582  –  –  221 818  –  426 400 
Order book  8 165 000  100 000  280 000  3 919 000  –  12 464 000 

Geographic information

2014
%

2013
%

Revenue 
South Africa 77 74
Rest of Africa 10 11
Rest of world 13 15

100 100
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as at 31 December 2014

Shareholders’ information

SHAREHOLDERS’ ANALYSIS
Analysis of ordinary shareholders as at 31 December 2014

Number of 
shareholders

% of total
shareholdings

Number 
of shares

% of shares 
in issue

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
1 – 1 000 shares 1 167 42,64 498 048 0,38
1 001 – 10 000 shares 1 124 41,07 4 101 231 3,11
10 001 – 100 000 shares 302 11,03 10 033 569 7,62
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 117 4,27 34 910 977 26,51
1 000 001 shares and over 27 0,99 82 150 456 62,38

Total 2 737 100,00 131 694 281 100,00

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Assurance companies 14 0,51 1 599 530 1,21
Close corporations 34 1,24 686 227 0,52
Collective investment schemes 38 1,39 30 421 763 23,10
Custodians 23 0,84 6 948 186 5,28
Foundations and charitable funds 13 0,47 633 569 0,48
Hedge funds 1 0,04 111 000 0,08
Insurance companies 2 0,07 1 325 736 1,01
Investment partnerships 13 0,47 58 301 0,04
Managed funds 7 0,26 239 496 0,18
Medical aid funds 6 0,22 348 671 0,26
Organs of state 3 0,11 11 439 034 8,69
Private companies 55 2,01 24 324 128 18,47
Public companies 2 0,07 1 559 0,00
Public entities 3 0,11 9 202 983 6,99
Retail shareholders 2 255 82,39 10 817 029 8,23
Retirement benefit funds 108 3,95 21 485 687 16,32
Scrip lending 3 0,11 385 033 0,29
Share scheme 1 0,04 1 667 0,00
Stockbrokers and nominees 14 0,51 2 751 299 2,09
Treasury 1 0,04 18 511 0,01
Trusts 139 5,08 8 894 870 6,75
Unclaimed scrip 2 0,07 2 0,00

Total 2 737 100,00 131 694 281 100,00

PUBLIC AND NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS
Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme 1 0,04 20 096 0,02
Major black economic empowerment partners 2 0,07 18 983 056 14,41
Directors (direct and indirect) 2 0,07 106 986 0,08

Non-public shareholders 5 0,18 19 110 138 14,51
Public shareholders 2 732 99,82 112 584 143 85,49

Total 2 737 100,00 131 694 281 100,00
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Number 
of shares

% of shares
in issue

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDINGS (>2%)
Allan Gray 12 227 824 9,29
Government Employees Pension Fund 11 439 034 8,69
Amabubesi Investments 11 099 813 8,43
Industrial Development Corporation 9 090 909 6,90
SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (RF) (Pty) Ltd 7 883 243 5,99
PSG 5 325 782 4,04
Prudential 3 820 349 2,90
Sentinel Mining Industry Retirement Funds 3 488 458 2,65
Pictet et cie Banquiers (custodian) 3 414 592 2,59
Sanlam Group 2 974 565 2,26
Cedar Falls Properties 204 (Pty) Ltd 2 783 211 2,11

Total 73 547 780 55,85

TOP FIVE FUND MANAGERS
Allan Gray 27 406 775 20,81
Prudential Portfolio Management 12 741 134 9,67
Argon Asset Management 8 428 371 6,40
Public Investment Corporation 7 798 500 5,92
PSG Alphen Asset Management 6 303 275 4,79

Total 62 678 055 47,59

Number of 
shareholders

% of total
shareholdings

Number 
of shares

% of shares 
in issue

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS ACCORDING  
TO COUNTRY
South Africa  2 688 98,20 123 618 000 93,87
Switzerland  3 0,11 3 441 492 2,61
United Kingdom  13 0,47 2 579 180 1,96
United States  4 0,15 726 758 0,55
Swaziland  3 0,11 724 745 0,55
Namibia  14 0,51 380 641 0,29
Luxembourg  2 0,07 76 412 0,06
Belgium  1 0,04 56 898 0,04
Netherlands  1 0,04 33 146 0,03
Germany  1 0,04 23 000 0,02
Botswana  4 0,15 15 729 0,01
France  1 0,04 15 000 0,01
Zimbabwe  2 0,07 3 280 0,00

Total 2 737 100,00 131 694 281 100,00

Total number of shareholdings 2 737

Total number of shares in issue 131 694 281

as at 31 December 2014
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JSE SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE
Opening price 2 January 2014 R8,50
Closing price 31 December 2014 R4,20
Closing high for the period (24 April 2014) R9,44
Closing low for the period (15 and 17 December 2014) R3,95
Number of shares in issue 131 694 281
Volume traded during period 50 450 484
Total deals 11 898
Rand value of shares traded R348 957 852
Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 38,31%
PE ratio (4,15)
Earnings yield (%) (24,11)

Analysis of “A” ordinary shareholders as at 31 December 2014

Number of 
shareholders

 of total
shareholdings

Number 
of shares

% of shares 
in issue

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
1 – 1 000 shares 0 0,00 0 0,00
1 001 – 10 000 shares 0 0,00 0 0,00
10 001 – 100 000 shares 0 0,00 0 0,00
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 0 0,00 0 0,00
1 000 001 shares and over 1 100,00 33 607 507 100,00

Total 1 100,00 33 607 507 100,00

Number of 
shareholders

Number 
of shares

% 
held

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDINGS (>2%)
SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (RF) (Pty) Ltd 1 33 607 507 100,00

Total 1 33 607 507 100,00

Total number of shareholdings 1

Total number of shares in issue 33 607 507
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BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
(Registration number: 1984/007758/06)
Share code: BSR ISIN: ZAE000029781
(Basil Read or the company)

Notice is hereby given that the 30th annual general meeting (AGM) of shareholders of Basil Read will be held at 10:00 on Tuesday, 
23 June 2015 at Basil Read Campus, 7 Romeo Street, Hughes Extension, Boksburg, for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, 
with or without modification, the resolutions set out below. 

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the following resolutions, please consult your central securities 
depository participant (CSDP), broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

The board of directors of the company (the board) has determined that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with section 59 of the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (Companies Act), as amended:
(a)  this notice has been sent to shareholders of the company who were recorded as such in the securities register on Monday, 

15 May 2015, being the notice record date for determining which shareholders are entitled to receive notice of the AGM; and
(b)  the record date for the purposes of determining which shareholders of the company are entitled to participate in and vote at the 

AGM is Friday, 12 June 2015. Accordingly, the last day to trade in Basil Read shares to be recorded in the register to be entitled to vote 
will be Friday, 5 June 2015.

PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
To present the audited annual financial statements of the company and the group, for the year ended 31 December 2014, including 
the directors’ report, the audit committee report and the report of the independent auditors, and to confirm all matters and actions 
undertaken and discharged by the directors on behalf of the company. The annual financial statements are available on the company’s 
website: www.basilread.co.za.

ORDINARY BUSINESS 
Percentage of voting rights – ordinary resolutions 
Ordinary resolutions number 1 to 5, contained in the notice of AGM, require the approval of a minimum of 50% plus one vote of votes 
exercisable on resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM for the resolution to be adopted. 

Ordinary resolution number 5 is proposed for a non-binding advisory vote only and any failure to pass this resolution will not have an 
effect on the company’s existing arrangements, but the outcome of the vote will be considered when determining the company’s 
remuneration policy. 

1.  ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
 Reappointment of independent auditors 
  Resolved to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc (PwC) as independent auditors of the company, and to appoint Mr Faan Lombard 

as the individual designated auditor, to hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM in terms of section 90(1) of the Companies 
Act, on recommendation of the audit committee, and to authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

 Motivation 
  PwC has indicated its willingness to continue in office and ordinary resolution 1 proposes reappointing the firm as Basil Read’s auditor 

until the conclusion of the next AGM.

  At the meeting on 22 April 2015, the audit committee considered the independence of the auditor, PwC, in accordance with section 
94(8) of the Companies Act and as prescribed by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors established by the Auditing 
Profession Act and was satisfied that PwC is independent. 

  The audit committee nominates PwC for reappointment as registered auditor of the group.

  Furthermore, the audit committee has, in terms of paragraph 3.86 of the JSE listings requirements, considered and satisfied itself that 
PwC, the reporting accountant and the individual auditor are accredited to appear on the JSE list of auditors and advisers, in 
compliance with section 22 of the JSE listings requirements.

2. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 
  Election of directors 
  To elect, by way of separate resolutions, directors in terms of the provisions of article 28.2 of the memorandum of incorporation 

(MoI) of the company. The following directors, being eligible, offer themselves for election: 
 2.1  Resolved that DLT Dondur, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers herself for election, 

be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect
 2.2  Resolved that NF Nicolau, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers himself for election, 

be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect
 2.3  Resolved that AC Wightman, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers herself for election, 

be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect
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 2.4  Resolved that TD Hughes, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers himself for election, 
be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect

 2.5  Resolved that MSI Gani, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers himself for election, 
be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect.

  Motivation
  In terms of the Companies Act and clause 28.5 of the company’s MoI, directors who are appointed by the board (as opposed to 

being elected by shareholders) serve as directors of the company temporarily until elected by shareholders at the next AGM 
following appointment by the board. Ms Dondur, Mr Nicolau, Ms Wightman, Mr Hughes and Mr Gani were all appointed by the board 
and accordingly retire from the temporary appointment from the date of the AGM on Tuesday, 23 June 2015. All are eligible for 
election to the board and have made themselves available for election by shareholders. The board recommends their election. 
Résumés for each of the directors offering themselves for re-election are set out on page 8 of the integrated report 2014.

3. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 
  Rotation of non-executive directors 
  To elect, by way of separate resolutions, non-executive directors retiring by rotation in terms of the provisions of article 28.8 of the 

MoI of the company. The following non-executive directors retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:
 3.1  Resolved that Dr CE Manning, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers herself for re-election, 

be re-elected as a director of the company with immediate effect.
 3.2  Resolved that PC Baloyi, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be 

re-elected as a director of the company with immediate effect.

  Motivation 
  In terms of the MoI of the company, one-third of non-executive directors are required to retire at each AGM of the company. There 

are currently 10 directors (two of whom are executives and disregarded when determining the number of directors to retire by 
rotation) on the board and accordingly, two directors are required to retire at the AGM.

  The directors to retire are selected from those who have served longest in time since their last election or re-election. Mr Baloyi and 
Dr Manning have served the longest since their election and therefore retire by rotation. They are entitled to and have offered 
themselves for re-election. The board recommends the re-election of these directors and their résumés appear on page 8 of the 
integrated report 2014. 

4. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 
  Election of audit committee members 
  To elect, by way of separate resolutions, non-executive directors as members of the audit committee in terms of section 94 of the 

Companies Act. The board has determined that each of the members standing for appointment has the required qualifications and 
experience as determined by the board. The following non-executive directors, each being eligible, offer themselves for election: 

 4.1  Resolved that DLT Dondur, who offers herself for election to the audit committee, be elected as a member of the audit 
committee of the company with immediate effect

 4.2  Resolved that SS Ntsaluba, who offers himself for election to the audit committee, be re-elected as a member of the audit 
committee of the company with immediate effect

 4.3  Resolved that Dr CE Manning, who offers herself for election to the audit committee, be elected as a member of the audit 
committee of the company with immediate effect

 4.4  Resolved that MSI Gani, who offers himself for election to the audit committee, be elected as a member of the audit committee 
of the company with immediate effect.

 Motivation 
  In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, the audit committee is elected by the shareholders at each AGM. Chapter 3 of the 

King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009 (King III) likewise requires the shareholders of a public company to elect the 
members of an audit committee at each AGM.

  The board recommends to shareholders the re-election of these directors and their résumés are included on page 8 of the integrated 
report 2014. 

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5 
 Approval of remuneration policy 
  Resolved that in accordance with principle 2.27 of King III, shareholders approve the company’s remuneration policy by way of a 

non-binding advisory note. The non-binding vote enables shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policy adopted 
by the company and on its implementation. 

 Motivation 
  In terms of King III recommendations, by tabling the company’s remuneration policy for a non-binding advisory vote at the AGM, 

shareholders are able to express their views on these policies. The detailed remuneration policy, for which approval is sought, is 
included in the remuneration report on pages 68 to 77 of the integrated report 2014 to which this notice is attached. 

 Accordingly, shareholders are requested to endorse the company’s remuneration policy.
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 SPECIAL BUSINESS – SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
 Percentage of voting rights 
  Special resolution number 1 in this notice of AGM requires approval of a minimum of 75% of the votes exercised on the resolution by 

shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM for the resolution to be adopted. 

6. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 
 Remuneration of non-executive directors
  Resolved that, in terms of the provisions of sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act, and on the recommendation of the 

remuneration committee of the company, the annual remuneration payable to non-executive directors of the company for their 
services as directors for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, be and is hereby approved as set out on page 110 of the 
integrated report to which this notice is attached.

 Motivation 
  In terms of section 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act, the company is required to obtain approval of shareholders by way of special 

resolution for the payment of remuneration to its non-executive directors for services rendered as directors. The board carried out an 
independent benchmark exercise during the year and decided to keep the current remuneration levels unchanged for 2015. 

7. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 To transact such other business as may be transacted at the AGM of the company.

 Voting and proxies
  A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and act in his/her stead. 

A proxy need not be a member of the company. For the convenience of registered members of the company, a form of proxy 
is attached.

 The form of proxy is only to be completed by those ordinary shareholders who:
➜➜ Hold ordinary shares in certificated form; or
➜➜ Are recorded on the subregister in “own name” dematerialised form.

  Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a CSDP/broker without “own name” registration and 
who wish to attend the AGM, must instruct their CSDP/broker to provide them with the relevant letter of representation to attend 
the meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend in person or by proxy, they must provide the CSDP/broker 
with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement between them and the CSDP/broker.

  Forms of proxy should be forwarded to reach the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd, at least 48 hours, 
excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, before the time of the meeting. 

  Kindly note that meeting participants, including proxies, are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being 
entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity documents, driver licences 
and passports.

By order of the board

Andiswa Ndoni
Company secretary

8 May 2015
Boksburg
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BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
(Registration number: 1984/007758/06
Share code: BSR ISIN: ZAE000029781
(Basil Read or the company)
For use only by ordinary shareholders who:
➜➜ Hold ordinary shares in certificated form (certificated ordinary shareholders) or
➜➜ Have dematerialised their ordinary shares (dematerialised ordinary shareholders) and are registered with “own name” registration

at the 30th annual general meeting (AGM) of shareholders of the company to be held at Basil Read Campus, 7 Romeo Street, Hughes Extension, Boksburg, at 10:00 on Tuesday,  
23 June 2015 and any adjournment.
Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own name” registration who wish to attend the AGM must inform their central securities depository 
participant (CSDP) or broker of their intention to attend the AGM and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant letter of representation to attend the AGM in 
person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the AGM in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP/broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant 
custody agreement between them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders must not use this form of proxy.

Name of beneficial shareholder

Name of registered shareholder

Address

Telephone work (   ) Telephone home  (   ) Cell

being the holder/custodian of ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint (see note):

1. or failing him/her

2. or failing him/her

3. the chairperson of the meeting,
as my/our proxy to attend and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the AGM of the company convened for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without 
modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to be proposed at that meeting and at each postponement or adjournment, and to vote for/against such resolutions, and/or abstain from 
voting, in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the company registered in my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

Number of ordinary shares

For Against Abstain

1. Ordinary resolution number 1
To reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as auditors of the company together with Mr Faan Lombard as the registered auditor for the ensuing financial year

2. Ordinary resolution number 2

2.1 To confirm the appointment of DLT Dondur as director of the company

2.2 To confirm the appointment of NF Nicolau as director of the company 

2.3 To confirm the appointment of AC Wightman as director of the company

2.4 To confirm the appointment of TD Hughes as director of the company

2.5 To confirm the appointment of MSI Gani as director of the company

3. Ordinary resolution number 3

3.1 To approve the re-election of CE Manning who retires by rotation 

3.2 To approve the re-election of PC Baloyi who retires by rotation 

4. Ordinary resolution number 4 

4.1 To approve the appointment of DLT Dondur as member of the audit committee

4.2 To approve the appointment of SS Ntsaluba as member of the audit committee

4.3 To approve the appointment of CE Manning as member of the audit committee

4.4 To approve the appointment of MSI Gani as member of the audit committee

5. Ordinary resolution number 5 
Approval of remuneration policy

6. Special resolution number 1
Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration for the financial year ending 31 December 2015

7. Any other business
To transact such other business as may be transacted at the AGM of the company

Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by inserting the relevant number of exercisable votes.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint one or more proxies to attend and act in his stead. A proxy so appointed need not be a member of the company.

Signed at on 2015

Signature

Assisted by (if applicable)

Form of proxy
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Notes to form of proxy

 1.  The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders who hold shares in certificated form or who are recorded on the 
subregister in electronic form in “own name”.

 2.  All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker and wish to attend the AGM must provide the 
CSDP/broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement between them and the CSDP/broker.

 3.  A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies (none of whom 
need be a shareholder of the company) of the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the chairperson of the 
meeting”. The person whose name is first on this form of proxy and who is present at the AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion 
of those proxies(ies) whose names follow. Should this space be left blank, the proxy will be exercised by the chairperson of the meeting. 

 4.  A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s instructions to 
the proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the space provided. If an “X” has been 
inserted in one of the blocks to a particular resolution, it will indicate voting of all shares held by that shareholder. Failure to comply with this will 
be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the AGM as he/she deems fit in respect of the shareholder’s entire 
exercisable votes. A shareholder or proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or proxy, but the total of votes cast 
and in respect of which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of votes exercisable by the shareholder or proxy.

 5.  A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy will be valid for the AGM despite the death, insanity or other legal disability of the 
person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares for which the proxy is given, unless notice of 
any of these matters has been received by the transfer secretaries not less than 48 hours before the start of the AGM.

 6.  If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from 
voting, or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may properly be put before 
the AGM be proposed, such proxy will be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

 7.  The chairperson of the AGM may reject or accept any form of proxy that is completed and/or received other than in compliance with 
these notes.

 8.  A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy including the chairperson of the AGM, to vote on such shareholder’s behalf, will be deemed 
to include the authority to vote on procedural matters at the AGM.

 9.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM and speaking 
and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed.

10.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached, 
unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of the AGM.

11.  A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant 
documents establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries of the company.

12.  Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:
➜➜ Any one holder may sign the form of proxy;
➜➜ The vote(s) of the senior ordinary shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which names of 
ordinary shareholders appear in the company’s register of ordinary shareholders) who tender a vote (whether in person or by 
proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholder(s).

13.  Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd:
 Hand deliveries to: Postal deliveries to:
 Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd
 13th floor PO Box 4844
 Rennie House Johannesburg
 19 Ameshoff Street 2000
 Braamfontein 
  to be received by no later than 10:00 on Friday, 19 June 2014 (or 48 hours before any adjournment of the AGM which date, if 

necessary, will be notified on SENS).
14.  A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank space need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or correction 

must be signed and not merely initialled.

Summary of the rights of a shareholder to be represented by proxy, as set out in section 58 of the Companies Act
 A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder appointing a proxy, and, subject to the rights of a shareholder 
to revoke such appointment (as set out below), remains valid only until the end of the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

 A proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restrictions set out in the 
instrument appointing the proxy.

 The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder who appointed such proxy chooses to act 
directly and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.

 The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder in question cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy, 
and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the company. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete 
and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of (a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if 
any; and (b) the date on which the revocation instrument is delivered to the company as required in the first sentence of this paragraph.

If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies has been delivered to the company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, any 
notice that is required by the Companies Act or the company’s memorandum of incorporation to be delivered by the company to the 
shareholder, must be delivered by the company to (a) the shareholder, or (b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has (i) directed the 
company to do so in writing; and (ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by the company for doing so.

Attention is also drawn to the notes to the form of proxy above.

The completion of a form of proxy does not preclude any shareholder from attending the AGM. 
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GRI index

This index includes the 2009 GRI guidelines (G3.1) and 2010 construction and real estate sector supplement

GRI element Topic Page

Strategy and analysis

1.1 Statement from CEO 28

1.2 Key impacts, risks and opportunities 18

Organisational profile

2.1 to 2.10 Name and business 1 to 6

Report parameters

3.1 to 3.3 Reporting period 1

3.4 Contact points administration

3.5 to 3.11 Process for defining report content 1

3.12 GRI index 145

3.13 Policy and practice on external assurance 1

Governance, commitments and engagement

4.1 to 4.10 Governance structure and process 54 to 61

4.11 Precautionary approach 78

4.12 External principles endorsed 93

4.13 Membership of industry associations and advocacy groups 93; 110

4.14 to 4.17 Stakeholder groups 17

Economic

EC1 Economic value generated and distributed 39

EC2 Financial implications, risks and opportunities due to climate change and other 
sustainability issues

100

EC3 Coverage of defined benefit plan obligations 72

EC4 Significant financial assistance from government zero

EC5 Standard entry-level wage compared to local minimum wage nr

EC6 Policy, practices, and spending on local suppliers 96

EC7 Procedures for local hiring, proportion of senior management and all direct 
employees, contractors and subcontractors hired from local community

94

EC8 Development and impact of infrastructure investments and services for public 
benefit

101

EC9 Significant indirect economic impacts 101

nr – not reported
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GRI index continued

GRI element Topic Page

Environment

EN1 to EN2 Materials nr

EN3 to EN7 Energy 98 to 99

EN8 to EN10 Water 99

EN11 to EN15 Biodiversity n/a

EN16 to EN23
CE3 to CRE5

Emissions, effluents, and waste 100

EN26 to EN27 Products and services n/a

Compliance

EN28 Significant fines, sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws and 
regulations zero

Transport

EN29 Significant impacts of transporting products, and members of workforce 99

EN30 Total environmental protection expenditures and investments by type nr

Social performance: labour practices and decent work

LA1 Workforce by employment type, employment contract, gender and region 95

LA2 Number and rate of new employee hires and employee turnover by age 
group, gender, and region nr

LA3 Benefits for full-time employees not provided to temporary/part-time 
employees 93

LA15 Return to work and retention rates after parental leave, by gender nr

Labour/management relations

LA4 Percentage employees covered by collective bargaining agreements nr

LA5 
Minimum notice period on significant changes, including specified in collective 
agreements nr

Occupational health and safety

LA6 
Percentage workforce represented in formal joint H&S committees to monitor 
and advise on programmes 84

LA7 
Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, absenteeism, work-related 
fatalities broken down by employees, supervised employees and independent 
contractors 84 to 87

CRE6
Percentage of organisation operating in verified compliance with internationally 
recognised health and safety management system, eg OHSAS 180001 or 
equivalent 84

LA8 
Education, training, counselling, prevention, and risk control programmes to 
assist workforce members, their families or community members with serious 
diseases 84

LA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements with trade unions 86

nr – not reported
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GRI element Topic Page

Training and education

LA10 
Average hours of training per year per employee, by gender and by employee 
category 90

LA11 
Programmes for skills management and lifelong learning that support 
continued employability 91

LA12 
Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career 
development reviews nr

Diversity and equal opportunity

LA13 
Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of employees per 
category: gender, age group, minority group membership, and other indicators 
of diversity 

95

LA14 Ratio of basic salary of men to women by employee category nr

Social performance: human rights

HR1 to HR3 Investment and procurement practices nr

Non-discrimination

HR4 Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions taken zero

Freedom of association and collective bargaining

HR5 
Operations where right to freedom of association and collective bargaining at 
significant risk, actions to support rights zero

HR6 
Operations with significant risk for incidents of child labour, measures to 
eliminate zero

HR7 
Operations with significant risk of forced or compulsory labour, measures to 
eliminate zero

Security practices

HR8 
Percentage security personnel trained in policies/procedures on human rights 
relevant to operations nr

Indigenous rights

HR9 Number of violations involving rights of indigenous people and actions taken zero

HR10
Percentage and number of operations subject to human rights reviews and/or 
impact assessments n/a

HR11
Number of grievances related to human rights filed, addressed and resolved 
through formal mechanisms zero

nr – not reported
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GRI element Topic Page

Social performance: society

Community

SO1 
Percentage of operations with implemented local community engagement, impact 
assessments, and development programmes 100

SO9
Operations with significant potential or actual negative and positive impacts on 
local communities 101

SO10
Prevention and mitigation measures implemented in operations with significant 
potential or actual negative impacts on local communities

101

CRE7
Number of persons voluntarily and involuntarily displaced and/or resettled by 
development, broken down by project nr

SO2 to CO4 Corruption 66

SO5 to SO6 Public policy nr

Anti-competitive behaviour

SO7 
Legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust and monopoly practices, 
outcomes 18

Compliance

SO8 Significant fines, sanctions for non-compliance with laws and regulations 18

Social performance: product responsibility 

PR1 to PR2 Customer health and safety nr

PR3 to PR5
CRE8

Products and service labelling n/a

Marketing communications

PR6 Programmes for adherence to laws, standards, and voluntary codes 55

PR7 Incidents of non-compliance zero

Customer privacy

PR8 
Substantiated complaints on breaches of customer privacy and losses of 
customer data zero

Compliance

PR9 
Significant fines for non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning 
provision and use of products and services

zero

nr – not reported
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BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED
Registration number: 1984/007758/06
Share code: BSR
ISIN: ZAE000029781

REGISTERED OFFICE
Basil Read Campus
7 Romeo Street
Hughes Extension
Boksburg, 1459

Private Bag X170 Bedfordview, 2008
Tel: +27 11 418 6300
Fax: +27 11 418 6334
Email: communications@basilread.co.za

COMPANY SECRETARY
Andiswa Ndoni

SPONSOR
Grindrod Bank
4th floor, Grindrod Tower
8A Protea Place
Sandton, 2146

BANKERS
Nedbank Corporate Banking – Gauteng
1st floor
Corporate Place Nedbank
135 Rivonia Road
Sandown, 2196

First National Bank of Southern Africa Limited
5th floor
No 3 First Place
Bank City
Harrison Street
Johannesburg, 2001

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Link Market Services
13th floor, Rennie House
19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein

Administration

BASTION GRAPHICS

DISCLAIMER
Opinions expressed in this report are, by nature, subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Changing information or circumstances may cause 
the actual results, plans and objectives of Basil Read to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements. Financial forecasts 
and data in this report are estimates which at times are based on reports prepared by experts who, in turn, may have relied on management estimates. 
Undue reliance should not be placed on such opinions, forecasts or data. No representation is made on the completeness or correctness of opinions, 
forecasts or data in this report. Neither the company nor any of its affiliates, advisers or representatives accept any responsibility for any loss arising from the 
use of any opinion expressed, forecast or data in this report. Forward-looking statements apply only as of the date on which they are made and the company 
does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any of its opinions or forward-looking statements, whether to reflect new data or future events 
or circumstances. The financial information on which the forward-looking statements are based has not been audited nor reported on by the company’s 
independent external auditors.

Financial year-end 31 December

Annual general meeting 23 June 2015

REPORTS

Half-year interim report August 2015

Audited results March 2016

Shareholders’ diary
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